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Part i 
ITEM 1A Risk Factors


as of february 23, 2012, the insurance financial strength ratings were as follows for the Cigna subsidiaries, CgLiC and Life insurance Company 
of north america (“Lina”):


cgLic
insurance ratings (1)


Lina
insurance ratings (1)


a.M. best a
(“excellent,” 3rd of 16)


a
(“excellent,” 3rd of 16)


Moody’s a2
(“good,” 6th of 21)


a2
(“good,” 6th of 21)


S&p a
(“Strong,” 6th of 21) (not rated)


fitch a
(“Strong,” 6th of 24)


a
(“Strong,” 6th of 24)


(1) Includes the rating assigned, the agency’s characterization of the rating and the position of the rating in the agency’s rating scale (e.g., CGLIC’s rating by A.M. Best is the 3rd highest 
rating awarded in its scale of 16).


Global market, economic and geopolitical conditions 
may cause fluctuations in equity market prices, interest 
rates and credit spreads, which could impact the 
Company’s ability to raise or deploy capital as well 
as affect the Company’s overall liquidity.
if the equity markets and credit market experience extreme volatility 
and disruption, there could be downward pressure on stock prices 
and credit capacity for certain issuers without regard to those issuers’ 
underlying financial strength. extreme disruption in the credit markets 
could adversely impact the Company’s availability and cost of credit in 
the future. in addition, unpredictable or unstable market conditions 
or continued pressure in the global or u.S. economy could result in 
reduced opportunities to find suitable opportunities to raise capital.


in november 2011, Cigna issued $2.1 billion in aggregate principal 
amount of senior notes to finance part of the cost for the healthSpring 
acquisition, which increased the Company’s long-term debt to $5.0 billion 
as of December 31, 2011. Cigna’s increased debt obligations could make 
the Company more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry 
conditions and require the Company to dedicate increased cash flow 
from operations to the payment of principal and interest on its debt, 
thereby reducing the funds it has available for other purposes, such as 
investments in ongoing businesses, acquisitions, dividends and stock 
repurchases. in these circumstances, the Company’s ability to execute 
on its strategy may be limited, its flexibility in planning for or reacting 
to changes in its business and market conditions may be reduced, or 
its access to capital markets may be limited such that additional capital 
may not be available or may only be available on unfavorable terms.
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Part ii 
ITEM 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer purchases of Equity Securities


Part ii


ITEM 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, 
Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer purchases 
of Equity Securities


The information under the caption “Quarterly financial Data-Stock and 
Dividend Data” appears on page 124 and the number of shareholders of 
record as of December 31, 2011 appears under the caption “highlights” 


on page 33 of this form 10-K. Cigna’s common stock is listed with, 
and trades on, the new York Stock exchange under the symbol “Ci”.


Issuer purchases of Equity Securities


The following table provides information about Cigna’s share repurchase activity for the quarter ended December 31, 2011:


Period
total # of shares 


purchased (1)
average price paid 


per share
total # of shares purchased as part of 


publicly announced program (2) 


approximate dollar value of shares 
that may yet be purchased as part 


of publicly announced program (3) 
october 1-31, 2011 0  n/a 0 $ 522,328,439
november 1-30, 2011 12,829 $ 42.39 0 $ 522,328,439
December 1-31, 2011 670 $ 43.34 0 $ 522,328,439
totaL 13,499 $ 42.44 0 n/a
(1) Includes shares tendered by employees as payment of taxes withheld on the exercise of stock options and the vesting of restricted stock granted under the Company’s equity compensation 


plans. Employees tendered 12,829 shares in November and 670 shares in December 2011.
(2) Cigna has had a repurchase program for many years, and has had varying levels of repurchase authority and activity under this program. The program has no expiration date. 


Cigna suspends activity under this program from time to time and also removes such suspensions, generally without public announcement. Through February  23,  2012, the 
Company had repurchased approximately 5.3 million shares for approximately $225 million. Remaining authorization under the program was approximately $522 million as of 
December 31, 2011 and February 23, 2012.


(3) Approximate dollar value of shares is as of the last date of the applicable month.
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ITEM 6 Selected Financial Data


Highlights


(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
revenues           
premiums and fees and other revenues $ 19,343 $ 18,653 $ 16,161 $ 17,004 $ 15,376
net investment income  1,146  1,105  1,014  1,063  1,114
Mail order pharmacy revenues  1,447  1,420  1,282  1,204  1,118
realized investment gains (losses)  62  75  (43)  (170)  16
totaL reVenUeS $ 21,998 $ 21,253 $ 18,414 $ 19,101 $ 17,624
results of operations:           
health Care $ 991 $ 861 $ 731 $ 664 $ 679
Disability and Life  287  291  284  273  254
international  286  243  183  182  176
run-off reinsurance  (183)  26  185  (646)  (11)
other operations  89  85  86  87  109
Corporate  (184)  (211)  (142)  (162)  (97)
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes and 
noncontrolling interest  41  50  (26)  (110)  10
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations  1,327  1,345  1,301  288  1,120
income from continuing operations attributable to 
noncontrolling interest  1  4  3  2  3
income from continuing operations  1,328  1,349  1,304  290  1,123
income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes  -  -  1  4  (5)
net income $ 1,328 $ 1,349 $ 1,305 $ 294 $ 1,118
Shareholders’ income per share from continuing 
operations:           


basic $ 4.90 $ 4.93 $ 4.75 $ 1.04 $ 3.91
Diluted $ 4.84 $ 4.89 $ 4.73 $ 1.03 $ 3.86


Shareholders’ net income per share:           
basic $ 4.90 $ 4.93 $ 4.75 $ 1.05 $ 3.89
Diluted $ 4.84 $ 4.89 $ 4.73 $ 1.05 $ 3.84


Common dividends declared per share $ 0.04 $ 0.04 $ 0.04 $ 0.04 $ 0.04
total assets $ 51,047 $ 45,682 $ 43,013 $ 41,406 $ 40,065
Long-term debt $ 4,990 $ 2,288 $ 2,436 $ 2,090 $ 1,790
Shareholders’ equity $ 8,344 $ 6,645 $ 5,417 $ 3,592 $ 4,748


per share $ 29.22 $ 24.44 $ 19.75 $ 13.25 $ 16.98
Common shares outstanding (in thousands)  285,533  271,880  274,257  271,036  279,588
Shareholders of record  8,178  8,568  8,888  9,014  8,696
employees  31,400  30,600  29,300  30,300  26,600
Beginning in 2010, the Company began reporting the expense associated with its frozen pension plans in Corporate. Prior periods were not restated. The effect on prior periods was not 
material.
In 2008, the Company recorded significant charges related to the guaranteed minimum income benefits and guaranteed minimum death benefits businesses as well as an after-tax litigation 
charge of $52 million in Corporate related to the Cigna pension plan.
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ITEM 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Introduction


Cigna Corporation is a holding company and is not an insurance 
company. its subsidiaries conduct various businesses, that are 
described in this annual report on form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2011 (“form 10-K”). as used in this document, 
“Cigna” and the “Company” may refer to Cigna Corporation itself, one 
or more of its subsidiaries, or Cigna Corporation and its consolidated 
subsidiaries.


Cigna is a global health services organization with insurance subsidiaries 
that are major providers of medical, dental, disability, life and accident 
insurance and related products and services. in the u.S., the majority 
of these products and services are offered through employers and other 
groups (e.g. unions and associations) and, in selected international 
markets, Cigna offers supplemental health, life and accident insurance 
products and international health care coverage and services to businesses, 
governmental and non-governmental organizations and individuals. in 
addition to its ongoing operations described above, the Company also 
has certain run-off operations, including a run-off reinsurance segment.


in this filing and in other marketplace communications, the Company 
makes certain forward-looking statements relating to its financial 
condition and results of operations, as well as to trends and assumptions 
that may affect the Company. generally, forward-looking statements 
can be identified through the use of predictive words (e.g. “outlook 
for 2012”). actual results may differ from the Company’s predictions. 


Some factors that could cause results to differ are discussed throughout 
Management’s Discussion and analysis (“MD&a”), including in the 
Cautionary Statement beginning on page 66. The forward-looking 
statements contained in this filing represent management’s current 
estimate as of the date of this filing. Management does not assume 
any obligation to update these estimates.


The following discussion addresses the financial condition of the 
Company as of December 31, 2011, compared with December 31, 2010, 
and a comparison of results of operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.


unless otherwise indicated, financial information in the MD&a is 
presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the united States (“gaap”). Certain reclassifications have been 
made to prior period amounts to conform to the presentation of 2011 
amounts. See note 2 to the Consolidated financial Statements for 
additional information.


Overview of 2011 Results
Summarized below are the key highlights for 2011. for additional 
information, see the remaining sections of this MD&a, which discuss 
both consolidated and segment results in more detail.
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Key Consolidated Financial Data


(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010 2009
revenues $ 21,998 $ 21,253 $ 18,414
Medical membership (in thousands) (1)  12,680  12,473  11,669
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,301
adjusted income from operations (2) $ 1,428 $ 1,277 $ 1,097
Cash flows from operating activities $ 1,491 $ 1,743 $ 745
Shareholders’ equity $ 8,344 $ 6,645 $ 5,417
(1) Includes medical members of the Company’s Health Care segment as well as the International health care business, including global health benefits.
(2) For a definition of adjusted income from operations, see the “Consolidated Results of Operations” section of this MD&A beginning on page 38.


Consolidated Results of Operations
•• Revenues rose 4% in 2011, reflecting solid growth in the Company’s 
strategically targeted domestic and international customer segments of 
its ongoing health care, disability and life, and international businesses. 
in addition, the increase in revenue reflects the effect of the programs 
to hedge equity and growth interest rate exposures in the run-off 
reinsurance operations. See the run-off reinsurance section of this 
MD&a beginning on page 51 for additional information. These 
increases were partially offset by the exit from certain non-strategic 
markets, primarily the Medicare advantage individual private fee 
for Service (“Medicare ipffS”) business.
•• Medical membership increased 2%, reflecting growth in targeted 
markets, primarily the middle and select market segments domestically 
as well as growth in the global health benefits business. These increases 
were partially offset by exits from certain non-strategic markets, 
primarily Medicare ipffS.
•• Shareholders’ income from continuing operations decreased 1% in 
2011, reflecting higher losses in the gMib business substantially offset 
by higher overall earnings from the Company’s ongoing businesses.
•• Adjusted income from operations increased 12% in 2011, continuing 
to demonstrate the value of the Company’s diversified portfolio of 
businesses, resulting in strong earnings contributions from each 
of the Company’s ongoing businesses. These results were achieved 
primarily as a result of continued growth, effective execution of the 
Company’s business strategy and low medical services utilization 
trend in the health care business.
•• Cash flows from operating activities in 2011 reflected the strong 
earnings contributions from the ongoing businesses, partially offset 
by pension plan contributions and claim run-out from the Medicare 
ipffS business.


Liquidity and Financial Condition
During 2011, the Company entered into several transactions to 
strengthen its liquidity and financial condition as well as to strategically 
deploy its capital as follows:


•• entered into an agreement to acquire healthSpring,  inc. 
(“healthSpring”) for approximately $3.8 billion in cash and Cigna 
stock awards. The transaction closed on January 31, 2012;
•• the healthSpring acquisition was financed in part by the issuance 
of $2.1 billion of debt and 15.2 million shares of common stock for 
$650 million ($629 million, net of underwriting discount and fees) in 
the fourth quarter of 2011. as a result of these transactions, cash at the 
parent company was approximately $3.8 billion at December 31, 2011;


•• acquired firstassist for approximately $115 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2011;
•• contributed $250 million to its domestic qualified pension plans;
•• repurchased 5.3 million shares of stock for $225 million; and
•• entered into a new five-year revolving credit and letter of credit 
agreement for $1.5 billion, that permits up to $500 million to be 
used for letters of credit. The credit agreement includes options to 
increase the commitment amount to $2.0 billion and to extend the 
term past June 2016.


Shareholders’ equity increased substantially during 2011, reflecting strong 
shareholders’ net income, increased invested asset values (primarily fixed 
maturities) reflecting lower market yields (largely due to lower interest 
rates), and the impact of the fourth quarter common stock issuance. 
Those favorable items were partially offset by the unfavorable effects 
of the pension plan liability on shareholders’ equity due to a 100 basis 
point decline in the discount rate and lower than expected asset returns.


Business Strategy
Cigna’s mission is to improve the health, well-being and sense of security 
of the individuals it serves around the world. Key to our mission and 
strategy is our customer-centric approach; we seek to engage our 
u.S.-based and global customers in maintaining and improving their 
health, well-being and sense of security by offering effective, easy-to-
understand insurance, health and wellness products and programs 
that meet their unique individual needs. We do this by providing 
access to relevant information to ensure informed buying decisions, 
partnering with physicians and care providers in the u.S. and around 
the world, and delivering a highly personalized customer experience. 
This approach aims to deliver high quality care at lower costs for each 
of our stakeholders: individuals, employers and government payors.


Cigna’s long-term growth strategy is based on: (1) repositioning the 
portfolio for growth in targeted geographies, product lines, buying 
segments and distribution channels; (2) improving its strategic and 
financial flexibility; and (3) pursuing additional opportunities in high-
growth markets with particular focus on individuals.


our mission is carried out through our enterprise growth strategy, 
which has the following three tenets:


•• go deeP: Cigna seeks to drive scale by increasing presence and 
brand strength in key geographic areas, growing in targeted segments 
or capabilities, and deepening its relationships with current customers.
•• go gLoBaL: Cigna delivers a range of differentiated products 
and superior service to meet the distinct needs of a growing global 
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New Accounting pronouncement


Deferred acquisition cost
as discussed in note 2 to the Consolidated financial Statements, the 
Company will implement the new requirements of aSu 2010-26 related 
to deferred acquisition costs on January 1, 2012 through retrospective 
adjustment of prior periods.


The Company’s deferred acquisition costs arise from sales and renewal 
activities primarily in its international segment. because the new 
requirements further restrict the types of costs that are deferrable, 
more of the Company’s acquisition costs will be expensed as incurred. 


The Company expects the cumulative effect of implementing this new 
guidance to decrease shareholders’ equity as of January 1, 2011 by 
approximately $250 million to $300 million. in addition, as a result of 
acquisition costs no longer eligible for deferral under the new guidance, 
the Company expects that full-year 2011 shareholders’ net income on a 
retrospectively adjusted basis will decrease by approximately $70 million. 
The reduction will primarily occur in the Company’s international 
segment. The effect of the new guidance on shareholders’ net income 
in 2012 is expected to be generally comparable to that estimated for 
2011. implementation of this new guidance will have no impact on the 
underlying economic value, revenues or cash flows of the Company’s 
businesses, nor will it impact the Company’s liquidity or the statutory 
surplus of its insurance subsidiaries.


Consolidated Results of Operations


The Company measures the financial results of its segments using 
“segment earnings (loss)”, which is defined as shareholders’ income 
(loss) from continuing operations before after-tax realized investment 
results. adjusted income from operations is defined as consolidated 
segment earnings (loss) excluding special items (defined below) and 
the results of the gMib business. adjusted income from operations is 
another measure of profitability used by the Company’s management 
because it presents the underlying results of operations of the Company’s 


businesses and permits analysis of trends in underlying revenue, expenses 
and shareholders’ net income. This measure is not determined in 
accordance with gaap and should not be viewed as a substitute for 
the most directly comparable gaap measure, which is shareholders’ 
income from continuing operations.


Summarized below is a reconciliation between shareholders’ income 
from continuing operations and adjusted income from operations.


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
premiums and fees $ 19,089 $ 18,393 $ 16,041
net investment income  1,146  1,105  1,014
Mail order pharmacy revenues  1,447  1,420  1,282
other revenues  254  260  120
realized investment gains (losses)  62  75  (43)
total revenues  21,998  21,253  18,414
benefits and expenses  20,030  19,383  16,516
income from continuing operations before taxes  1,968  1,870  1,898
income taxes  640  521  594
income from continuing operations  1,328  1,349  1,304
Less: income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interest  1  4  3
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations  1,327  1,345  1,301
Less: realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes  41  50  (26)
Segment earningS 1,286 1,295 1,327
Less: adjustments to reconcile to adjusted income from operations:       
results of gMib business (after-tax):  (135)  (24)  209
Special items (after-tax):       


Costs associated with acquisitions  (31)  -  -
resolution of a federal tax matter (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  101  -
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (See note 15 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  (39)  -
Loss on reinsurance transaction (See note 3 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  (20)  -
Curtailment gain (See note 9 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  -  30
Cost reduction charges  -  -  (29)
Completion of irS examination (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  24  -  20


adjUSted income From oPerationS $ 1,428 $ 1,277 $ 1,097


  Contents  Q








39CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part ii 
ITEM 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations


Summarized below is adjusted income from operations by segment:


adjusted income (Loss) From operations
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
health Care $ 990 $ 861 $ 729
Disability and Life  282  291  279
international  289  243  182
run-off reinsurance  (48)  (27)  (24)
other operations  85  85  85
Corporate  (170)  (176)  (154)
totaL $ 1,428 $ 1,277 $ 1,097


Overview of 2011 Consolidated Results 
of Operations
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations decreased 1% in 
2011 compared with 2010, due to significantly higher gMib losses 
principally reflecting lower interest rates, substantially offset by higher 
adjusted income from operations as explained further below. See the 
run-off reinsurance section of the MD&a beginning on page 51 for 
additional information on gMib results.


adjusted income from operations increased 12% in 2011 compared 
with 2010 primarily due to higher earnings contributions from the 
Company’s health Care and international segments. These results 
reflect solid business growth in strategically targeted markets and 
continued low medical services utilization trend. See the individual 
segment sections of this MD&a for further discussion.


Overview of 2010 Consolidated Results 
of Operations
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations increased 3% in 
2010 compared with 2009, reflecting strong growth in adjusted 
income from operations as well as significant improvement in realized 
investment results, partially offset by a loss in the gMib business in 
2010 compared with a significant gain in 2009.


adjusted income from operations increased 16% in 2010 compared 
with 2009 primarily due to strong earnings growth in the ongoing 
business segments (health Care, Disability and Life and international), 
reflecting focused execution of the Company’s strategy, which includes 
a growing global customer base as well as higher net investment income 
reflecting improved economic conditions and asset growth.


Special Items and GMIB
Management does not believe that the special items noted in the 
table above are representative of the Company’s underlying results 
of operations. accordingly, the Company excluded these special 
items from adjusted income from operations in order to facilitate an 
understanding and comparison of results of operations and permit 
analysis of trends in underlying revenue, expenses and shareholders’ 
income from continuing operations.


Special items for 2011 included:


•• after-tax costs incurred in the fourth quarter of 2011 associated with 
the January 2012 acquisition of healthSpring and the november 2011 
acquisition of firstassist; and


•• tax benefits associated with the completion of the 2007 and 2008 irS 
examinations (see note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements 
for additional information regarding this special item).


Special items for 2010 included:


•• a gain resulting from the resolution of a federal income tax matter, 
consisting of a $97 million release of a deferred tax valuation allowance 
and $4 million of accrued interest. See note 19 to the Consolidated 
financial Statements for further information;
•• a loss on the extinguishment of debt resulting from the decision of 
certain holders of the Company’s 8.5% notes due 2019 and 6.35% 
notes due 2018 to accept the Company’s tender offer to redeem these 
notes for cash. See note 15 to the Consolidated financial Statements 
for further information; and
•• a loss on reinsurance of the run-off workers’ compensation and 
personal accident reinsurance businesses to enstar. See note 3 to the 
Consolidated financial Statements for further information.


Special items for 2009 included a curtailment gain resulting from the 
decision to freeze the pension plan (see note 9 to the Consolidated 
financial Statements for additional information), cost reduction charges 
related to the 2008 cost reduction program, and benefits resulting from 
the completion of the 2005 and 2006 irS examinations (see note 19 
to the Consolidated financial Statements for additional information).


The Company also excludes the results of the gMib business, including 
the results of the related hedges starting in 2011, from adjusted income 
from operations because the fair value of gMib assets and liabilities 
must be recalculated each quarter using updated capital market 
assumptions. The resulting changes in fair value, which are reported 
in shareholders’ net income, are volatile and unpredictable. See the 
Critical accounting estimates section of the MD&a beginning on 
page 41 of the Company’s 2011 form 10-K for more information on 
the effects of capital market assumption changes on shareholders’ net 
income. because of this volatility, and since the gMib business is in 
run-off, management does not believe that its results are meaningful 
in assessing underlying results of operations.


Outlook for 2012
The Company expects 2012 consolidated adjusted income from 
operations to be higher than 2011 results. This outlook reflects strong 
organic growth, an expected increase in medical services utilization 
and contributions from the healthSpring acquisition. This outlook 
assumes break-even results for gMDb (also known as “VaDbe”) for 
2012, which assumes that actual experience, including capital market 
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Segment Reporting


operating segments generally reflect groups of related products, 
but the international segment is generally based on geography. The 
Company measures the financial results of its segments using “segment 
earnings (loss)”, which is defined as shareholders’ income (loss) from 
continuing operations excluding after-tax realized investment gains 
and losses. “adjusted income from operations” for each segment is 
defined as segment earnings excluding special items and the results of 
the Company’s gMib business. adjusted income from operations is 
another measure of profitability used by the Company’s management 


because it presents the underlying results of operations of the segment 
and permits analysis of trends. This measure is not determined in 
accordance with gaap and should not be viewed as a substitute for the 
most directly comparable gaap measure, which is segment earnings. 
each segment provides a reconciliation between segment earnings and 
adjusted income from operations.


beginning in 2010, the Company began reporting the expense associated 
with its frozen pension plans in Corporate. prior periods were not 
restated; the effect on prior periods is not material.


Health Care Segment


Segment Description
The health Care segment offers insured and self-insured medical, 
dental, behavioral health, vision, and prescription drug benefit plans, 
health advocacy programs and other products and services that may 
be integrated to provide comprehensive health care benefit programs. 
Cigna healthCare companies offer these products and services in 
all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the u.S. Virgin islands. 
These products and services are offered through a variety of funding 
arrangements such as guaranteed cost, retrospectively experience-rated 
and administrative services only (“aSo”) arrangements.


The Company measures the operating effectiveness of the health Care 
segment using the following key factors:


•• segment earnings and adjusted income from operations;
•• membership growth;
•• sales of specialty products to core medical customers;
•• operating expenses as a percentage of segment revenues (operating 
expense ratio);
•• changes in operating expenses per member; and
•• medical expense as a percentage of premiums (medical care ratio) in 
the guaranteed cost business.


Results of Operations


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
premiums and fees $ 13,181 $ 13,319 $ 11,384
net investment income  274  243  181
Mail order pharmacy revenues  1,447  1,420  1,282
other revenues  234  266  262
Segment revenues  15,136  15,248  13,109
Mail order pharmacy cost of goods sold  1,203  1,169  1,036
benefits and other operating expenses  12,386  12,742  10,943
benefits and expenses  13,589  13,911  11,979
income before taxes  1,547  1,337  1,130
income taxes  556  476  399
Segment earningS 991 861 731
Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment earnings:       
Curtailment gain (See note 9 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  -  25
Cost reduction charge  -  -  (24)
Completion of irS examination (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  1  -  1
adjUSted income From oPerationS $ 990 $ 861 $ 729
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes $ 24 $ 26 $ (19)


The health Care segment’s adjusted income from operations increased 
15% in 2011, as compared with 2010 reflecting:


•• growth in premiums and fees of 6% in 2011, excluding the impact of 
exiting the Medicare ipffS business, primarily due to higher average 
membership in the guaranteed cost and aSo businesses, particularly 
in the targeted market segments: Middle, Select and individual, and 
growth in specialty revenues as well as rate increases on most products 
consistent with underlying trend;


•• a lower guaranteed cost medical care ratio and higher experience-rated 
margins driven by low medical services utilization trend, as well as 
favorable prior year development, partially offset by the estimated 
cost of premium rebates calculated under the minimum medical loss 
ratio requirements of health Care reform; and
•• higher net investment income of 13% in 2011, primarily reflecting 
increased average asset levels driven by membership growth, as well 
as higher income from partnership investments.
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The health Care segment’s adjusted income from operations increased 
18% in 2010, as compared with 2009 reflecting:


•• revenue growth in the commercial risk businesses, particularly in 
the targeted market segments, as evidenced by a 15% increase in 
commercial risk membership. in addition, adjusted income from 
operations was favorably impacted by increased penetration of the 
Company’s specialty products;


•• a lower guaranteed cost medical care ratio driven by lower medical 
cost trend, reflecting lower utilization levels, as well as favorable prior 
year development; and
•• higher investment income due to higher security partnership results, 
higher real estate income and increased assets driven by membership 
growth.


Revenues
The table below shows premiums and fees for the health Care segment:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Medical:       


guaranteed cost  (1) (2) $ 4,176 $ 3,929 $ 3,380
experience-rated (2) (3)  1,934  1,823  1,699
Stop loss  1,451  1,287  1,274
Dental  894  804  731
Medicare  489  1,470  595
Medicare part D  624  558  342
other (4)  600  543  515


total medical  10,168  10,414  8,536
Life and other non-medical  77  103  179
total premiums  10,245  10,517  8,715
fees (2) (5)  2,936  2,802  2,669
totaL PremiUmS and FeeS 13,181 13,319 11,384
Less: Medicare ipffS  -  827  -
premiums and fees, excluding Medicare ipffS $ 13,181 $ 12,492 $ 11,384


(1) Includes guaranteed cost premiums primarily associated with open access and commercial HMO, as well as other risk-related products.
(2) Premiums and/or fees associated with certain specialty products are also included.
(3) Includes minimum premium arrangements with a risk profile similar to experience-rated funding arrangements. The risk portion of minimum premium revenue is reported in 


experience-rated medical premium whereas the self funding portion of minimum premium revenue is recorded in fees.
 Also, includes certain non-participating cases for which special customer level reporting of experience is required.
(4) Other medical premiums include risk revenue and specialty products.
(5) Represents administrative service fees for medical members and related specialty product fees for non-medical members as well as fees related to Medicare Part D of $61 million in 


2011, $57 million in 2010 and $41 million in 2009.


Premiums and fees decreased 1% in 2011, compared with 2010. 
excluding the impact of exiting the Medicare ipffS business, premiums 
and fees were up 6% in 2011, compared with 2010, primarily due to 
membership growth in the administrative services business, and higher 
average membership in guaranteed cost, driven by strong retention 
and sales in targeted market segments, as well as rate increases on 
most products consistent with underlying trend. higher penetration 
of specialty products also contributed to the increase in fees.


premiums and fees increased 17% in 2010, compared with 2009. 
excluding the impact of Medicare ipffS business, premiums and 
fees were up 10% in 2010 compared with 2009, primarily reflecting 
membership growth in most risk-based products, including Medicare, 
and to a lesser extent rate increases. The membership growth was driven 
by strong retention and new sales in targeted market segments. The 
increase in fees primarily reflects growth in specialty products.


excluding the impact of the Medicare ipffS business, the increases in 
premiums and fees in 2011 and 2010 reflect the Company’s sustained 


success in delivering differentiated value to its customers with a focus 
on providing cost-effective products and services that expand access 
and provide superior clinical outcomes.


Net investment income increased 13% in 2011 compared with 2010 
benefiting from increased average asset levels driven by membership 
growth and higher income from partnership investments. net investment 
income increased 34% in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily reflecting 
higher security partnership results, higher real estate income and 
increased invested assets driven by business growth.


Other revenues for the health Care segment consist of revenues 
earned on direct channel sales of certain specialty products, including 
behavioral health and disease management. other revenues decreased 
12% in 2011 compared with 2010 mostly due to the sale of the Cigna 
government Services business in the second quarter of 2011, as well 
as declines in certain stand-alone medical cost management business.
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Benefits and Expenses
health Care segment benefits and expenses consist of the following:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Medical claims expense - excluding Medicare ipffS $ 8,201 $ 7,798 $ 6,927
Medical claims expense - Medicare ipffS  (19)  772  -
Medical claims expense  8,182  8,570  6,927
other benefit expenses  83  100  169
Mail order pharmacy cost of goods sold  1,203  1,169  1,036
other operating expenses:       


Medical operating expenses  2,757  2,739  2,723
operating expenses (excluding Medicare ipffS)  1,364  1,251  1,124


other operating expenses (excluding Medicare ipffS)  4,121  3,990  3,847
operating expenses - Medicare ipffS  -  82  -


total other operating expenses  4,121  4,072  3,847
totaL BeneFitS and exPenSeS $ 13,589 $ 13,911 $ 11,979


Medical claims expense decreased 5% in 2011 compared with 2010. 
excluding the impact of exiting the Medicare ipffS business, medical 
claims expense increased 5% in 2011 compared with 2010, largely due 
to medical cost inflation, tempered by low medical services utilization 
trend in commercial risk businesses.


Medical claims expense increased 24% in 2010 compared with 2009. 
excluding the impact of Medicare ipffS business, medical claims 
expenses increased 13% in 2010 compared with 2009 largely due 
to higher medical membership, particularly in the commercial risk 
business. The increase also reflects medical cost inflation.


Other operating expenses. one measure of the segment’s overall operating 
efficiency is the operating expense ratio calculated as total operating 
expenses divided by segment revenues. This measure can be significantly 
influenced by the mix of business between fully-insured and fee-based 
business, since the expense ratio on fee-based business, which comprises 
most of the segment’s business is higher than the corresponding ratio 
for fully-insured business. The ratio is also influenced by the level of 
fixed versus variable expenses. The segment’s variable expenses include 
premium taxes and commissions, while the fixed component consists 
primarily of infrastructure costs and certain strategic investments. 
The variable component fluctuates due to changes in revenue, mix of 
business, and other items.


excluding the impact of the Medicare ipffS business, the operating 
expense ratio improved from 27.7% in 2010 to 27.2% in 2011, 
driven largely by continued focus on expense management. on a 
reported basis, the operating expense ratio increased from 26.7% 
in 2010 to 27.2% in 2011 primarily driven by a change in business 
mix resulting from the Company’s decision to exit the non-strategic 
Medicare ipffS business, that was a fully-insured business. because 
fully-insured businesses collect premium revenue (compared with a 
relatively lower administrative fee for aSo business), they typically 
have a lower expense ratio than the Company’s current business mix 
that is more heavily weighted toward fee-based products.


excluding the impact of the Medicare ipffS business, the operating 
expense ratio improved from 29.3% in 2009 to 27.7% in 2010, driven 
largely by continued focus on cost reduction initiatives including 


staffing, real estate and pension changes, as well as strong revenue 
growth in the commercial risk businesses. These favorable effects were 
partially offset by investment in segment expansion, compliance and 
higher management incentive compensation. on a reported basis, the 
operating expense ratio decreased from 29.3% in 2009 to 26.7% in 
2010 primarily due to the significant revenue growth in the Medicare 
ipffS business in 2010. Since Medicare ipffS was a fully-insured 
business, it had a lower expense ratio than the business mix in 2009 
that was more heavily weighted toward fee-based products.


Other Items Affecting Health Care Results


Health Care Medical Claims Payable
Medical claims payable decreased by 12% in 2011, primarily reflecting 
the run-out of the Medicare ipffS business that the Company exited 
in 2011. Medical claims payable increased 35% for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 largely driven by medical membership growth, 
particularly in the Medicare ipffS and commercial risk businesses. 
See note 5 to the Consolidated financial Statements for additional 
information regarding the health Care Medical Claims payable.


Medical Membership
a medical member reported within the health Care segment (excluding 
members in the international and Disability and Life segments) is 
defined as a person who falls within one of the following categories:


•• is covered under an insurance policy or service agreement issued by 
the Company;
•• has access to the Company’s provider network for covered services 
under their medical plan;
•• has medical claims that are administered by the Company; or
•• is covered under an insurance policy that is (i) marketed by the 
Company and (ii) for which the Company assumes reinsurance of 
at least 50%.
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as of December 31, estimated medical membership was as follows:


(In thousands) 2011 2010 2009
guaranteed cost (1) 1,091 1,177 1,001
experience-rated (2) 798 849 761
total commercial risk 1,889 2,026 1,762
Medicare 44 145 52
total risk 1,933 2,171 1,814
Service 9,550 9,266 9,226
totaL medicaL memBerShiP (3) 11,483 11,437 11,040
(1) Includes members primarily associated with open access, commercial HMO and voluntary/limited benefits as well as other risk-related products.
(2) Includes minimum premium members, who have a risk profile similar to experience-rated members. Also, includes certain non-participating cases for which special customer level 


reporting of experience is required.
(3) Excludes members in the International and Disability and Life Segments.


the health Care segment’s overall medical membership as 
of December 31, 2011 increased 1.2% when compared with 
December 31, 2010, excluding the impact of exiting the Medicare 
ipffS business. This increase primarily reflects new business sales and 
growth in aSo in the targeted Middle and Select market segments, 
as well as growth in the individual market segment, that is sold under 
the guaranteed cost funding arrangement. excluding the impact of 
the Medicare ipffS business, the health Care segment’s medical 
membership increased 2.8% as of December 31, 2010 when compared 
with December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily driven by 
new business sales in targeted market segments: Middle, Select and 
individual, as well as improved persistency in the risk businesses and 
lower disenrollment across all funding arrangements.


Disability and Life Segment


Segment Description
The Disability and Life segment includes group disability, life, accident 
and specialty insurance.


Key factors for this segment are:


•• premium growth, including new business and customer retention;
•• net investment income;
•• benefits expense as a percentage of earned premium (loss ratio); and
•• other operating expense as a percentage of earned premiums and 
fees (expense ratio).


Results of Operations


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
premiums and fees $ 2,780 $ 2,667 $ 2,634
net investment income  267  261  244
other revenues  -  123  113
Segment revenues  3,047  3,051  2,991
benefits and expenses  2,651  2,640  2,598
income before taxes  396  411  393
income taxes  109  120  109
Segment earningS 287 291 284
Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment earnings:       
Curtailment gain (See note 9 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  -  4
Cost reduction charge  -  -  (4)
Completion of irS examination (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  5  -  5
adjUSted income From oPerationS $ 282 $ 291 $ 279
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes $ 6 $ 12 $ (1)


Segment earnings decreased 1% in 2011 compared with 2010 reflecting 
3% lower adjusted income from operations offset by a $5 million 
favorable special item related to the completion of the 2007 and 2008 
irS examinations. adjusted income from operations decreased as a 
result of:


•• the absence of the $11 million after-tax gain on the sale of the workers’ 
compensation and case management business in 2010;


•• higher disability claims incidence rates, mitigated in part by higher 
resolution rates reflecting the sustained strong performance of the 
Company’s disability claims management process;
•• a higher expense ratio, driven by strategic investments; and
•• an after-tax charge of $7 million for litigation matters.


offsetting these factors were more favorable life and accident claims 
experience and higher net investment income.


  Contents  Q








49CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part ii 
ITEM 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations


Segment earnings increased 2% in 2010 compared to 2009 reflecting 
4% higher adjusted income from operations partially offset by the 
absence of a $5 million favorable special item related to the completion 
of the 2005 and 2006 irS examinations. adjusted income from 
operations increased as a result of higher net investment income and 
the $11 million after-tax gain on the sale of the workers’ compensation 
and case management business.


Largely offsetting these factors were:


•• less favorable claims experience in the disability insurance business, 
primarily related to lower short-term disability underwriting margins. 
These results include the favorable after-tax impact of disability reserve 
studies of $29 million in 2010 compared with $20 million in 2009, 
which reflect continued strong disability claims management programs;
•• slightly less favorable accident claims experience including the less 
favorable after-tax impact of reserve studies of $3 million in 2010 
compared with $5 million in 2009; and
•• lower earnings in specialty products largely due to the sale of the 
student and participant accident business.


Revenues
Premiums and fees increased 4% in 2011 compared with 2010 reflecting 
disability and life sales growth and continued solid persistency partially 
offset by the impact of the Company’s exit from a large, low-margin 
assumed government life insurance program. excluding the impact 
of this item, premiums and fees increased 6%. Disability premiums 
and fees grew by 9%.


premiums and fees increased 1% in 2010 compared with 2009 as a 
result of disability and life sales growth combined with solid persistency, 
largely offset by the Company’s exit from two large, non-strategic 
assumed government life insurance programs and the sale of the renewal 
rights for the student and participant accident business. excluding the 
impact of these items, premiums and fees increased 7%.


Net investment income increased 2% in 2011 compared with 2010 
due to higher average assets reflecting business growth and higher 
prepayment fees partially offset by lower yields. net investment income 
increased by 7% in 2010 reflecting higher income from security and 
real estate partnerships and higher assets.


Other revenues. The absence of other revenues in 2011 reflects the 
sale of the workers’ compensation and case management business that 


was completed during the fourth quarter of 2010. other revenues in 
2010 include the $18 million pre-tax gain on the sale of the workers’ 
compensation and case management business in 2010.


Benefits and Expenses
benefits and expenses were essentially flat in 2011 as compared with 
2010 reflecting disability and life business growth, less favorable 
disability claims experience and a higher operating expense ratio, 
largely offset by the absence of operating expenses associated with the 
workers’ compensation and case management business that was sold 
in 2010 and favorable life and accident claims experience. benefits and 
expenses include the favorable before tax impact of reserve studies of 
$59 million in 2011 as compared with $55 million in 2010.


benefits and expenses increased 2% in 2010 compared with 2009, 
primarily reflecting disability and life business growth and less favorable 
short-term disability claims experience. benefits and expenses include the 
favorable before tax impact of disability reserve studies of $43 million 
in 2010 as compared with $29 million in 2009, largely driven by 
continued strong disability claims management programs. These factors 
were partially offset by the Company’s exit from two large, non-strategic 
assumed government life insurance programs and the sale of the renewal 
rights for the student and participant accident business.


International Segment


Segment Description
The international segment includes supplemental health, life and 
accident insurance products and international health care products 
and services, including those offered to individuals and globally mobile 
employees of multinational corporations and organizations.


The key factors for this segment are:


•• premium growth, including new business and customer retention;
•• benefits expense as a percentage of earned premium (loss ratio);
•• operating expense as a percentage of earned premium (expense 
ratio); and
•• impact of foreign currency movements.
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Results of Operations


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
premiums and fees $ 2,990 $ 2,268 $ 1,882
net investment income  96  82  69
other revenues  27  31  22
Segment revenues  3,113  2,381  1,973
benefits and expenses  2,701  2,039  1,717
income before taxes  412  342  256
income taxes  125  95  70
income attributable to noncontrolling interest  1  4  3
Segment earningS 286 243 183
Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment earnings:       
Costs associated with the acquisition of firstassist  (3)  -  -
Cost reduction charge  -  -  (1)
Curtailment gain (See note 9 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  -  1
Completion of irS examination (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  -  1
adjUSted income From oPerationS $ 289 $ 243 $ 182
impact of foreign currency movements using 2010 rates $ 11  -   
impact of foreign currency movements using 2009 rates   $ 13   
realized investment gains, net of taxes $ 1 $ 2 $ 2


international segment earnings increased 18% in 2011 compared 
with 2010. excluding the impact of the tax adjustments discussed 
below, foreign currency movements and the special items (presented 
in the table above), the international segment’s adjusted income from 
operations increased 17% in 2011 compared with 2010. The increases 
in both segment earnings and adjusted income from operations were 
primarily due to revenue growth, including the acquisition of Vanbreda 
international in august 2010, higher persistency in the supplemental 
health, life and accident business, particularly in South Korea, and 
higher net investment income, partially offset by higher loss ratios, 
primarily in the global health benefits business due to less favorable 
claims experience and the addition of a few large accounts with higher 
loss ratios. The increase was also partially offset by a higher effective tax 
rate primarily due to unfavorable changes in foreign tax law.


international segment earnings increased 33% in 2010, compared with 
2009. excluding the impact of the tax adjustments discussed below 
and foreign currency movements (presented in the table above), the 
international segment’s adjusted income from operations increased 
34% for 2010, compared with 2009. The increases in both segment 
earnings and adjusted income from operations were primarily due to 
strong revenue growth and higher persistency in the supplemental 
health, life and accident insurance business, particularly in South Korea, 
as well as favorable loss ratios and membership growth in the global 
health benefits business and higher net investment income, partially 
offset by higher administrative expenses. The increase also reflects a 
lower effective tax rate in 2010 as a result of the capital management 
strategy discussed below.


During the first quarter of 2010, the Company’s international segment 
implemented a capital management strategy to permanently invest 
the prospective earnings of its hong Kong operations overseas, which 
resulted in an increase to segment earnings of $5 million. The Company 
implemented a similar strategy for its South Korean operation in 2009, 
which resulted in an increase to segment earnings of $14 million. These 


permanently invested earnings are generally deployed in these countries, 
and where possible, other foreign jurisdictions, in support of the liquidity 
and capital needs of the Company’s foreign operations. This strategy 
does not materially limit the Company’s ability to meet its liquidity 
and capital needs in the united States. as of December 31, 2011 the 
Company’s cash and cash equivalents in its foreign operations were 
$461 million, and permanently reinvested earnings were approximately 
$375 million. repatriation of foreign cash via a dividend of the 
previously-designated permanently reinvested earnings would result 
in a charge representing the u.S. taxes due on the repatriation.


Throughout this discussion, the impact of foreign currency movements 
was calculated by comparing the reported results to what the results 
would have been had the exchange rates remained constant with the 
prior year’s comparable period exchange rates. The favorable impacts in 
2011 using 2010 rates, as well as 2010 using 2009 rates, primarily reflects 
the movement between the u.S. dollar and the South Korean won.


Revenues
Premiums and fees. excluding the effect of foreign currency movements, 
premiums and fees were $2.9 billion in 2011 compared with reported 
premiums and fees of $2.3 billion in 2010, an increase of 28%. The 
increase is primarily attributable to higher membership from new 
sales, rate increases and the acquisition of Vanbreda international in 
the global health benefits business as well as new sales growth in the 
supplemental health, life and accident business, particularly in South 
Korea and taiwan.


excluding the effect of foreign currency movements, premiums and fees 
were $2.2 billion in 2010 compared with reported premiums and fees 
of $1.9 billion in 2009, an increase of 16%. The increase was primarily 
attributable to new sales growth in the supplemental health, life and 
accident insurance operations, particularly in South Korea, and rate 
increases and membership growth in the global health benefits business.
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Results of Operations


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
premiums and fees $ 24 $ 25 $ 29
net investment income  103  114  113
other revenues  (4)  (158)  (283)
Segment revenues  123  (19)  (141)
benefits and expenses  405  91  (419)
income (loss) before income taxes (benefits)  (282)  (110)  278
income taxes (benefits)  (99)  (136)  93
Segment earningS (LoSS) (183) 26 185
Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment earnings:       
resolution of federal tax matters (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  97  -
Loss on reinsurance transaction (See note 3 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  (20)  -
Less: results of gMib business  (135)  (24)  209
adjUSted LoSS From oPerationS $ (48) $ (27) $ (24)
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes $ 4 $ 5 $ (2)


Segment results in 2011 reflected higher losses for the gMib and 
gMDb businesses compared to 2010 due to the significant declines 
in interest rates, periods of high volatility, and less favorable equity 
market conditions during 2011. in addition, segment results in 2010 
reflect the favorable effect of resolving a federal tax matter.


Segment earnings declined significantly in 2010 compared with 2009, 
primarily due to the reduction in earnings from the gMib business, 
partially offset by the gain resulting from the resolution of a federal 
tax matter and reduced charges in 2010 to strengthen gMDb reserves 
($34 million after-tax for 2010, compared to $47 million after-tax 
for 2009).


for additional discussion of gMib results, see “benefits and expenses” 
below.


Other Revenues
other revenues consisted of gains and losses from futures contracts 
used in the gMDb equity hedge program for all years, and beginning 
in 2011, for the gMib equity hedge program. other revenues in 2011 
also included gains and losses from interest rate futures and Libor 
swap contracts used in the gMDb and gMib hedge programs (see 
note 12 to the Consolidated financial Statements). The components 
were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
gMDb - equity hedge program $ (45) $ (157) $ (282)
gMDb - growth interest rate hedge program  31  -  -
other, including gMib hedge programs  10  (1)  (1)
totaL other reVenUeS $ (4) $ (158) $ (283)


The hedging programs generally produce losses when equity markets 
and interest rates are rising and gains when equity markets and interest 
rates are falling. higher levels of equity market volatility resulted in losses 
in 2011, even though equity market levels were flat to slightly lower. 
amounts reflecting related changes in liabilities for gMDb contracts 


were included in benefits and expenses consistent with gaap when 
a premium deficiency exists, resulting in no effect on shareholders’ 
net income (see below “other benefits and expenses”). Changes in 
liabilities for gMib contracts, including the portion covered by the 
hedges, are recorded in gMib fair value (gain) loss.


Benefits and Expenses
benefits and expenses were comprised of the following:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
gMib fair value (gain) loss $ 234 $ 55 $ (304)
other benefits and expenses  171  36  (115)
BeneFitS and exPenSeS $ 405 $ 91 $ (419)


GMIB fair value (gain) loss. under the gaap guidance for fair value 
measurements, the Company’s results of operations are expected to be 
volatile in future periods because capital market assumptions needed 
to estimate the assets and liabilities for the gMib business are based 
largely on market-observable inputs at the close of each reporting 
period including interest rates (Libor swap curve) and market-implied 
volatilities. See note 10 to the Consolidated financial Statements 


for additional information about assumptions and asset and liability 
balances related to gMib.


gMib fair value losses of $234 million for 2011, were primarily due 
to a decline in both the interest rate used for projecting claim exposure 
(7-year treasury rates) and the rate used for projecting market returns 
and discounting (Libor swap curve).
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gMib fair value losses of $55 million for 2010, were primarily due 
to declining interest rates, partially offset by increases in underlying 
account values resulting from favorable equity and bond fund returns.


gMib fair value gains of $304 million for 2009, were primarily due 
to increases in interest rates and increases in underlying account values 
in the period resulting from favorable equity market and bond fund 
returns. These favorable effects were partially offset by increases to 
the annuitization assumption and updates to the lapse assumptions.


The gMib liabilities and related assets are calculated using an internal 
model and assumptions from the viewpoint of a hypothetical market 
participant. This resulting liability (and related asset) is higher than the 
Company believes will ultimately be required to settle claims primarily 
because the Company does not believe that the market-observable 


interest rates used to project growth in account values of the underlying 
mutual funds reflect actual growth expected over the next 15 to 20 years 
(the time period over which gMib claims are expected to occur).


however, the Company’s expectation that gMib claim payments 
will be lower than the liability recorded at fair value may not be fully 
realized under certain circumstances. for example, significant declines 
in mutual fund values that underlie the contracts together with declines 
in the 7-year treasury rates (used to determine claim payments) 
similar to what occurred periodically during the last few years would 
increase the expected amount of claims that would be paid out for 
contractholders who choose to annuitize. it is also possible that such 
unfavorable market conditions would have an impact on the level of 
contractholder annuitizations, particularly if these unfavorable market 
conditions persisted for an extended period.


Other Benefits and Expenses are comprised of the following:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
results of gMDb equity and growth interest rate hedging programs $ (14) $ (157) $ (282)
gMDb reserve strengthening  70  52  73
other gMDb, primarily accretion of discount  82  85  87
gMDb benefit expense (income)  138  (20)  (122)
Loss on reinsurance of workers’ compensation and personal accident business  -  31  -
other, including operating expenses  33  25  7
other BeneFitS and exPenSeS (income) $ 171 $ 36 $ (115)


Other Benefits and Expenses


Capital market movements
The increase in benefits expense in 2011 reflects significantly more 
unfavorable equity market conditions in 2011 compared to 2010 
and 2009. Due to the additional growth interest rate hedge in 2011, 
the expense included additional amounts due to declines in interest 
rates for the liability that is subject to the growth interest rate hedge. 
as explained in other revenues above, these changes do not affect 
shareholders’ net income because they are offset by gains or losses on 
futures contracts used to hedge equity market performance.


GMDB reserve strengthening
The following highlights the impacts of gMDb reserve strengthening:


The 2011 reserve strengthening was primarily driven by:


•• adverse impacts due to volatile equity market conditions. Volatility 
risk is not covered by the hedging programs. also, the equity market 
volatility reduced the effectiveness of the hedging program for equity 
market exposures, in part because the market does not offer futures 
contracts that exactly match the diverse mix of equity fund investments 
held by contractholders.
•• adverse interest rate impacts reflecting management’s consideration 
of the anticipated impact of continuing low current short-term 
interest rates. This evaluation also led management to lower the 
mean investment performance assumption for equity funds from 
5% to 4.75% for those funds not subject to the growth interest rate 
hedge program.
•• adverse impacts of overall market declines in the third quarter of 2011 
that include an increase in the provision for expected future partial 


surrenders and declines in the value of contractholders’ non-equity 
investments such as bond funds, neither of which are included in 
the hedge programs.


The 2010 reserve strengthening primarily reflects management’s 
consideration of the anticipated impact of the continued low level of 
current short-term interest rates and, to a lesser extent, a reduction 
in assumed lapse rates for policies that have taken or are assumed to 
take significant partial withdrawals. The 2009 reserve strengthening 
was primarily due to an increase in the provision for future partial 
surrenders due to overall market declines in the first quarter, adverse 
volatility-related impacts due to turbulent equity market conditions 
and adverse interest rate impacts.


See note 6 to the Consolidated financial Statements for additional 
information about assumptions and reserve balances related to gMDb.


Other, including operating expenses
The increase in 2011 compared with 2010 was due to the reduced 
favorable impacts of reserve studies, and the increase in 2010 compared 
to 2009 was due to the reduced impact of favorable settlements and 
commutations on business that was ceded to enstar group Limited 
on December 31, 2010.


Segment Summary
The Company’s payment obligations for underlying reinsurance exposures 
assumed by the Company under these contracts are based on ceding 
companies’ claim payments. for gMDb and gMib, claim payments 
vary because of changes in equity markets and interest rates, as well 
as mortality and policyholder behavior. any of these claim payments 
can extend many years into the future, and the amount of the ceding 
companies’ ultimate claims, and therefore the amount of the Company’s 
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ultimate payment obligations and corresponding ultimate collection 
from retrocessionaires may not be known with certainty for some time.


The Company’s reserves for underlying reinsurance exposures assumed by 
the Company, as well as for amounts recoverable from retrocessionaires, 
are considered appropriate as of December 31, 2011, based on current 
information. however, it is possible that future developments, which 


could include but are not limited to worse than expected claim experience 
and higher than expected volatility, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s consolidated results of operations and financial 
condition. The Company bears the risk of loss if its payment obligations 
to cedents increase or if its retrocessionaires are unable to meet, or 
successfully challenge, their reinsurance obligations to the Company.


Other Operations Segment


Segment Description
Cigna’s other operations segment includes the results of the following 
businesses:


•• corporate-owned life insurance (“CoLi”);
•• deferred gains recognized from the 1998 sale of the individual life 
insurance and annuity business and the 2004 sale of the retirement 
benefits business; and


•• run-off settlement annuity business.
CoLi has contributed the majority of earnings in other operations 
for the periods presented. The CoLi regulatory environment continues 
to evolve, with various federal budget related proposals recommending 
changes in policyholder tax treatment. although regulatory and 
legislative activity could adversely impact our business and policyholders, 
management does not expect the impact to materially affect the 
Company’s results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.


Results of Operations


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
premiums and fees $ 114 $ 114 $ 112
net investment income  400  404  407
other revenues  55  60  64
Segment revenues  569  578  583
benefits and expenses  451  454  466
income before taxes  118  124  117
income taxes  29  39  31
Segment earningS 89 85 86
Completion of irS examination (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  4  -  1
adjUSted income From oPerationS $ 85 $ 85 $ 85
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes $ 6 $ 5 $ (6)


Segment earnings increased in 2011 compared with 2010, reflecting a 
$4 million increase to earnings due to the completion of the Company’s 
2007 and 2008 irS examination during the first quarter of 2011.


adjusted income from operations were flat in 2011 compared with 
2010, reflecting higher CoLi earnings due to higher interest margins, 
offset by lower earnings associated with the sold businesses due to the 
continued decline in deferred gain amortization.


Segment earnings and adjusted income from operations were flat in 
2010 compared with 2009, reflecting an increase in CoLi earnings 
driven by higher investment income and favorable mortality, primarily 
offset by the continued decline in deferred gain amortization associated 
with the sold businesses.


Revenues
Premiums and fees reflect fees charged primarily on universal life 
insurance policies in the CoLi business. Such amounts were relatively 
flat reflecting a stable block of business.


Net investment income decreased 1% in 2011 compared with 2010, 
and decreased 1% in 2010 compared with 2009 due to lower portfolio 
yields partially offset by higher average invested assets.


Other revenues decreased 8% in 2011 compared with 2010 and 
decreased 6% in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily due to lower 
deferred gain amortization related to the sold retirement benefits and 
individual life insurance and annuity businesses.


for more information regarding the sale of these businesses see note 7 
of the Consolidated financial Statements beginning on page 84 of 
this form 10-K.


Corporate


Description
Corporate reflects amounts not allocated to other segments, such as net 
interest expense (defined as interest on corporate debt less net investment 
income on investments not supporting segment operations), interest 
on uncertain tax positions, certain litigation matters, intersegment 
eliminations, compensation cost for stock options and certain corporate 
overhead expenses such as directors’ expenses and, beginning in 2010, 
pension expense related to the Company’s frozen pension plans.
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Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Segment LoSS $ (184) $ (211) $ (142)
Less: special items (after-tax) included in segment loss:       
Cost associated with healthSpring acquisition  (28)  -  -
resolution of federal tax Matter (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  4  -
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (See note 15 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  -  (39)  -
Completion of irS examination (See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements)  14  -  12
adjUSted LoSS From oPerationS $ (170) $ (176) $ (154)


Corporate’s segment loss was lower in 2011 compared with 2010 
primarily reflecting a tax benefit from completing the irS examination 
and absence of the 2010 loss on debt extinguishment, partially offset 
by costs associated with the healthSpring acquisition, all of which 
were reported as special items.


Corporate’s adjusted loss from operations was lower in 2011 compared 
with 2010 primarily reflecting decreased pension expense and lower 
tax adjustments related to postretirement benefits and compensation 
resulting from health Care reform. These factors were partially offset 
by increased net interest expense due to higher average borrowings 
outstanding in 2011.


Corporate’s segment loss and adjusted loss from operations were higher 
in 2010 compared with 2009 primarily reflecting:


•• higher net interest expense, primarily driven by a higher long-term 
debt balance;
•• tax adjustments related to postretirement benefits and compensation 
resulting from health care reform;
•• pension expense related to the Company’s frozen pension plans which 
was reported in Corporate beginning in 2010; and
•• for the segment loss, the after-tax loss on early extinguishment of 
debt of $39 million.


These unfavorable effects were partially offset by lower spending on 
strategic initiatives and lower directors’ deferred compensation expense.


Liquidity and Capital Resources


Financial Summary
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Short-term investments $ 225 $ 174 $ 493
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,690 $ 1,605 $ 924
Short-term debt $ 104 $ 552 $ 104
Long-term debt $ 4,990 $ 2,288 $ 2,436
Shareholders’ equity $ 8,344 $ 6,645 $ 5,417


Liquidity
The Company maintains liquidity at two levels: the subsidiary level 
and the parent company level.


Liquidity requirements at the subsidiary level generally consist of:


•• claim and benefit payments to policyholders;
•• operating expense requirements, primarily for employee compensation 
and benefits; and
•• federal tax payments to the parent company under an intercompany 
tax sharing agreement.


The Company’s subsidiaries normally meet their operating requirements by:


•• maintaining appropriate levels of cash, cash equivalents and short-
term investments;
•• using cash flows from operating activities;
•• selling investments;


•• matching investment durations to those estimated for the related 
insurance and contractholder liabilities; and
•• borrowing from its parent company.


Liquidity requirements at the parent level generally consist of:


•• debt service and dividend payments to shareholders;
•• pension plan funding; and
•• federal tax payments.


The parent normally meets its liquidity requirements by:


•• maintaining appropriate levels of cash, cash equivalents and short-
term investments;
•• collecting dividends and federal tax payments from its subsidiaries;
•• using proceeds from issuance of debt and equity securities; and
•• borrowing from its subsidiaries.
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Cash flows for the years ended December 31, were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
operating activities $ 1,491 $ 1,743 $ 745
investing activities $ (1,270) $ (1,342) $ (1,485)
financing activities $ 2,867 $ 274 $ 307


Cash flows from operating activities consist of cash receipts and 
disbursements for premiums and fees, mail order pharmacy and other 
revenues, gains (losses) recognized in connection with the Company’s 
gMDb equity hedge program, investment income, taxes, and benefits 
and expenses.


because certain income and expense transactions do not generate cash, 
and because cash transactions related to revenue and expenses may 
occur in periods different from when those revenues and expenses are 
recognized in shareholders’ net income, cash flows from operating 
activities can be significantly different from shareholders’ net income.


Cash flows from investing activities generally consist of net investment 
purchases or sales and net purchases of property and equipment, which 
includes capitalized software, as well as cash used to acquire businesses.


Cash flows from financing activities are generally comprised of issuances 
and re-payment of debt at the parent level, proceeds on the issuance 
of common stock in the open market and resulting from stock option 
exercises, and stock repurchases. in addition, the subsidiaries report 
net deposits/withdrawals to/from investment contract liabilities (that 
include universal life insurance liabilities) because such liabilities are 
considered financing activities with policyholders.


2011:


Operating activities
for the year ended December 31, 2011, cash flows from operating 
activities were greater than net income by $163 million. net income 
contains certain pre-tax income and expense items that neither provide 
nor use operating cash flow, including:


•• gMib fair value loss of $ 234 million;
•• net charges related to special items of $40 million;
•• tax benefits related to resolution of a federal tax matter of $33 million;
•• depreciation and amortization charges of $ 345 million; and
•• realized investment gains of $ 62 million.


Cash flows from operating activities were lower than net income 
excluding the items noted above by $361 million. excluding cash 
outflows of $45 million associated with the gMDb equity hedge 
program (which did not affect shareholders’ net income), cash flows 
from operating activities were lower than net income by $316 million. 
This result primarily reflects domestic qualified pension contributions 
of $250 million as well as significant claim run-out from the Medicare 
ipffS business, that the Company exited in 2011.


Cash flows from operating activities decreased by $252 million in 2011 
compared with 2010. excluding the results of the gMDb equity hedge 
program (that did not affect net income), cash flows from operating 
activities decreased by $364 million. This decrease in 2011 primarily 
reflects higher management compensation, income tax and pension 
payments in 2011 compared with 2010 and unfavorable operating 


cash flows in the Medicare ipffS business in 2011 due to significant 
claim run-out compared to significant favorable operating cash flows 
from the growth of this business in 2010. operating cash flows were 
favorably affected in 2010 because paid claims on this business growth 
lagged premium collections.


Investing activities
Cash used in investing activities was $1.3 billion. This use of cash 
primarily consisted of net purchases of investments of $746 million, 
cash used to fund acquisitions (net of cash acquired) of $114 million, 
and net purchases of property and equipment of $422 million.


Financing activities
Cash provided from financing activities primarily consisted of net 
proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt of $2.7 billion and 
proceeds on issuances of common stock of $734 million, primarily used 
to fund the acquisition of healthspring, inc. See the Capital resources 
section for further information. financing activities also included net 
deposits to contractholder deposit funds of $145 million. These inflows 
were partially offset by scheduled payments of debt of $451 million 
and common stock repurchases of $225 million.


2010:


Operating activities
for the year ended December 31, 2010, cash flows from operating 
activities were greater than net income by $394 million. net income 
contains certain income and expense items that neither provide nor 
use operating cash flow, including:


•• gMib fair value loss of $ 55 million;
•• a pre-tax loss on the transfer of the workers’ compensation and 
personal accident business of $31 million;
•• tax benefits related to the resolution of a federal tax matter of 
$101 million;
•• depreciation and amortization charges of $ 292 million; and
•• realized investment gains of $ 75 million.


Cash flows from operating activities were greater than net income 
excluding the items noted above by $192 million. excluding cash 
outflows of $157 million associated with the gMDb equity hedge 
program, (that did not affect shareholders’ net income) cash flows from 
operating activities were higher than net income by $349 million. This 
result primarily reflects premium growth in the health Care segment’s 
risk businesses due to significant new business in 2010 and tax payments 
lower than expense due to favorable effects of benefit plans (primarily 
pension) and deferred foreign earnings, partially offset by pension 
contributions of $212 million.
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significantly change from the Company’s planned funding targets, since 
discount rates used for funding purposes are based on a 24-month moving 
average that is less susceptible to volatility than the rate required to be 
used to compute the liability for the financial statements.


Solvency II
Cigna’s businesses in the european union will be subject to the directive 
on insurance regulation and solvency requirements known as Solvency 


ii. This directive will impose economic risk-based solvency requirements 
and supervisory rules and is expected to become effective in January 2014, 
although certain regulators are requiring companies to demonstrate 
technical capability and comply with increased capital levels in advance of 
the effective date. Cigna’s european insurance companies are capitalized 
at levels consistent with projected Solvency ii requirements and in 
compliance with anticipated technical capability requirements.


Guarantees and Contractual Obligations
The Company is contingently liable for various contractual obligations entered into in the ordinary course of business. The maturities of the 
Company’s primary contractual cash obligations, as of December 31, 2011, are estimated to be as follows:


(In millions, on an undiscounted basis) total Less than 1 year 1‑3 years 4‑5 years after 5 years
on‑Balance Sheet:           
insurance liabilities:           


Contractholder deposit funds $ 7,251 $ 724 $ 943 $ 807 $ 4,777
future policy benefits  11,149  462  1,031  943  8,713
health Care medical claims payable  1,095  1,071  15  1  8
unpaid claims and claims expenses  4,617  1,466  869  598  1,684


Short-term debt  104  104  -  -  -
Long-term debt  9,202  247  555  1,125  7,275
other long-term liabilities  1,337  546  237  146  408
off‑Balance Sheet:          
purchase obligations  1,117  596  296  49  176
operating leases  547  108  180  119  140
totaL $ 36,419 $ 5,324 $ 4,126 $ 3,788 $ 23,181


On-Balance Sheet
•• Insurance liabilities. Contractual cash obligations for insurance 
liabilities, excluding unearned premiums and fees, represent estimated 
net benefit payments for health, life and disability insurance policies 
and annuity contracts. recorded contractholder deposit funds 
reflect current fund balances primarily from universal life customers. 
Contractual cash obligations for these universal life contracts are 
estimated by projecting future payments using assumptions for lapse, 
withdrawal and mortality. These projected future payments include 
estimated future interest crediting on current fund balances based on 
current investment yields less the estimated cost of insurance charges 
and mortality and administrative fees. actual obligations in any single 
year will vary based on actual morbidity, mortality, lapse, withdrawal, 
investment and premium experience. The sum of the obligations 
presented above exceeds the corresponding insurance and contractholder 
liabilities of $17 billion recorded on the balance sheet because the 
recorded insurance liabilities reflect discounting for interest and the 
recorded contractholder liabilities exclude future interest crediting, 
charges and fees. The Company manages its investment portfolios 
to generate cash flows needed to satisfy contractual obligations. any 
shortfall from expected investment yields could result in increases 
to recorded reserves and adversely impact results of operations. The 
amounts associated with the sold retirement benefits and individual 
life insurance and annuity businesses, as well as the reinsured workers’ 
compensation and personal accident businesses, are excluded from the 
table above as net cash flows associated with them are not expected 


to impact the Company. The total amount of these reinsured reserves 
excluded is approximately $6 billion.
•• Short-term debt represents commercial paper, current maturities of 
long-term debt, and current obligations under capital leases.
•• Long-term debt includes scheduled interest payments. Capital 
leases are included in long-term debt and represent obligations for 
software licenses.
•• Other long-term liabilities. These items are presented in accounts 
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities in the Company’s 
Consolidated balance Sheets. This table includes estimated payments for 
gMib contracts, pension and other postretirement and postemployment 
benefit obligations, supplemental and deferred compensation plans, 
interest rate and foreign currency swap contracts, and certain tax and 
reinsurance liabilities.
estimated payments of $94 million for deferred compensation, non-
qualified and international pension plans and other postretirement 
and postemployment benefit plans are expected to be paid in less than 
one year. The Company’s best estimate is that contributions to the 
qualified domestic pension plans during 2012 will be approximately 
$250 million. The Company expects to make payments subsequent to 
2012 for these obligations, however subsequent payments have been 
excluded from the table as their timing is based on plan assumptions 
which may materially differ from actual activities (see note 9 to the 
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Consolidated financial Statements for further information on pension 
and other postretirement benefit obligations).
The above table also does not contain $52 million of gross liabilities 
for uncertain tax positions because the Company cannot reasonably 


estimate the timing of their resolution with the respective taxing 
authorities. See note 19 to the Consolidated financial Statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2011 for further information.


Off-Balance Sheet:
•• Purchase obligations. as of December 31, 2011, purchase obligations consisted of estimated payments required under contractual arrangements 
for future services and investment commitments as follows:


(In millions)


fixed maturities $ 16
Commercial mortgage loans  162
real estate  9
Limited liability entities (other long-term investments)  407
total investment commitments  594
future service commitments  523
totaL PUrchaSe oBLigationS $ 1,117


The Company had commitments to invest in limited liability entities 
that hold real estate, loans to real estate entities or securities. See 
note 11(D) to the Consolidated financial Statements for additional 
information.
future service commitments include an agreement with ibM for 
various information technology (it) infrastructure services. The 
Company’s remaining commitment under this contract is approximately 
$162 million over the next 2 years. The Company has the ability to 
terminate this agreement with 90 days notice, subject to termination 
fees.
The Company’s remaining estimated future service commitments 
primarily represent contracts for certain outsourced business processes 
and it maintenance and support. The Company generally has the 


ability to terminate these agreements, but does not anticipate doing so 
at this time. purchase obligations exclude contracts that are cancelable 
without penalty and those that do not specify minimum levels of 
goods or services to be purchased.
•• Operating leases. for additional information, see note 21 to the 
Consolidated financial Statements.


Guarantees
The Company, through its subsidiaries, is contingently liable for 
various financial and other guarantees provided in the ordinary course 
of business. See note 23 to the Consolidated financial Statements for 
additional information on guarantees.


Investment Assets


The Company’s investment assets do not include separate account 
assets. additional information regarding the Company’s investment 
assets and related accounting policies is included in notes 2, 10, 11, 
12, 13, 14 and 17 to the Consolidated financial Statements.


Fixed Maturities
investments in fixed maturities include publicly traded and privately 
placed debt securities, mortgage and other asset-backed securities, 
preferred stocks redeemable by the investor, hybrid and trading securities. 
fair values are based on quoted market prices when available. When 
market prices are not available, fair value is generally estimated using 
discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating current market inputs for 
similar financial instruments with comparable terms and credit quality. 
in instances where there is little or no market activity for the same or 
similar instruments, the Company estimates fair value using methods, 
models and assumptions that the Company believes a hypothetical 
market participant would use to determine a current transaction price.


The prices the Company used to value investment assets are representative 
of prices that would be received to sell the assets at the measurement 
date (exit prices) and are classified appropriately in the fair value 
hierarchy. The Company performs ongoing analyses of prices used 
to value invested assets to determine that they represent appropriate 
estimates of fair value. This process involves quantitative and qualitative 
analysis that is overseen by the Company’s investment professionals, 
including reviews of pricing methodologies, judgments of valuation 
inputs, and assessments of the significance of any unobservable inputs, 
pricing statistics and trends. These reviews are also designed to ensure 
prices do not become stale, have reasonable explanations as to why 
they have changed from prior valuations, or require additional review 
of other anomalies. The Company also performs sample testing of sales 
values to confirm the accuracy of prior fair value estimates. exceptions 
identified during these processes indicate that adjustments to prices 
are infrequent and result in immaterial adjustments to the valuations.


The Company’s fixed maturity portfolio continues to be diversified by 
issuer and industry type, with no single industry constituting more 
than 10% of total invested assets as of December 31, 2011.
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(In millions) 2011 2010
federal government and agency $ 958 $ 687
State and local government  2,456  2,467
foreign government  1,274  1,154
Corporate  10,513  9,444
federal agency mortgage-backed  9  10
other mortgage-backed  80  88
other asset-backed  927  859
totaL $ 16,217 $ 14,709


as of December 31, 2011, $14.9 billion, or 92%, of the fixed maturities 
in the Company’s investment portfolio were investment grade (baa 
and above, or equivalent), and the remaining $1.3 billion were below 
investment grade. The majority of the bonds that are below investment 
grade are rated at the higher end of the non-investment grade spectrum. 
These quality characteristics have not materially changed during the year.


The net appreciation of the Company’s fixed maturity portfolio increased 
$696 million during 2011, driven by a decline in market yields. although 
asset values are well in excess of amortized cost, there are specific 
securities with amortized cost in excess of fair value by approximately 
$65 million as of December 31, 2011. See note 11 to the Consolidated 
financial Statements for further information.


Corporate fixed maturities includes private placement investments of 
$5.8 billion, which are generally less marketable than publicly-traded 
bonds, but yields on these investments tend to be higher than yields 
on publicly-traded bonds with comparable credit risk. The Company 
performs a credit analysis of each issuer, diversifies investments by 
industry and issuer and requires financial and other covenants that allow 
the Company to monitor issuers for deteriorating financial strength 
and pursue remedial actions, if warranted. also included in corporate 
fixed maturities are investments in companies that are domiciled or 
have significant business interests in european countries with the most 
significant political or economic concerns (portugal, italy, ireland, greece, 
and Spain). fixed maturity investments in these companies represent 
approximately $350 million at December 31, 2011, have an average 


quality rating of baa and are diversified by industry sector. financial 
institutions comprised less than 5% of investments in these companies.


The Company invests in high quality foreign government obligations, 
with an average quality rating of aa as of December 31, 2011. These 
investments are primarily concentrated in asia consistent with the 
geographic distribution of the international business operations, including 
government obligations of South Korea, indonesia, taiwan and hong 
Kong. foreign government obligations also include $136 million of 
investments in european sovereign debt, including $8 million in 
countries with the most significant political or economic concerns 
(portugal, italy, ireland, greece, and Spain).


The Company’s investment in state and local government securities is 
diversified by issuer and geography with no single exposure greater than 
$35 million. The Company assesses each issuer’s credit quality based on 
a fundamental analysis of underlying financial information and does 
not rely solely on statistical rating organizations or monoline insurer 
guarantees. as of December 31, 2011, 97% of the Company’s investments 
in these securities were rated a3 or better excluding guarantees by 
monoline bond insurers, consistent with December 31, 2010. as of 
December 31, 2011, approximately 64% or $1,564 million of the 
Company’s total investments in state and local government securities 
were guaranteed by monoline bond insurers, providing additional 
credit quality support. The quality ratings of these investments with 
and without this guaranteed support as of December 31, 2011 were 
as follows:


(In millions) Quality rating


as of december 31, 2011
Fair Value


with guarantee without guarantee
State and local governments aaa $ 129 $ 129
 aa1-aa3  1,157  1,101
 a1-a3  237  290
 baa1-baa3  41  21
 ba1-ba3  -  21
 not available  -  2
totaL State and LocaL goVernmentS $ 1,564 $ 1,564


as of December 31, 2011, the Company’s investments in other asset and mortgage-backed securities totaling $1,016 million included $520 million 
of investment grade private placement securities guaranteed by monoline bond insurers. Quality ratings without considering the guarantees for 
these other asset-backed securities were not available.
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as of December 31, 2011, the Company had no direct investments in monoline bond insurers. guarantees provided by various monoline bond 
insurers for certain of the Company’s investments in state and local governments and other asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2011 were:


guarantor
(In millions)


as of december 31, 2011
indirect exposure


national public finance guarantee $ 1,261
assured guaranty Municipal Corp  610
aMbaC  174
financial guaranty insurance Co.  39
totaL $ 2,084


Commercial Mortgage Loans
The Company’s commercial mortgage loans are fixed rate loans, 
diversified by property type, location and borrower to reduce exposure 
to potential losses. Loans are secured by high quality commercial 
properties and are generally made at less than 75% of the property’s 
value at origination of the loan. in addition to property value, debt 
service coverage, building tenancy and stability of cash flows are all 
important financial underwriting considerations. property type, location, 
quality, and borrower are all important underwriting considerations 
as well. The Company holds no direct residential mortgage loans and 
does not securitize or service mortgage loans.


The Company completed its annual in depth review of its commercial 
mortgage loan portfolio during the second quarter of 2011. This review 
included an analysis of each property’s year-end 2010 financial statements, 
rent rolls, operating plans and budgets for 2011, a physical inspection of 
the property and other pertinent factors. based on property values and 
cash flows estimated as part of this review, and considering updates for 
loans where material changes were subsequently identified, the overall 
health of the portfolio improved from 2010, consistent with recovery 
in many of the commercial real estate markets.


based on this review and subsequent portfolio activity, the average 
loan-to-value ratio improved to 70% and the debt service coverage ratio 


was estimated to be 1.40 at December 31, 2011. The average loan-to-
value ratio decreased from 74% as of December 31, 2010, and the debt 
service coverage ratio increased from 1.38 as of December 31, 2010. 
The decrease in average loan-to-value ratio generally reflects increased 
valuations for the majority of the underlying properties. Valuation 
changes varied by property type as apartments and hotels demonstrated 
the strongest recovery, retail and office properties showed modest 
improvement and industrial properties exhibited a slight decline. The 
slight increase in debt service coverage ratio reflects greater demand 
for apartments and hotels, partially offset by slower recovery in leasing 
rates on industrial properties and ongoing portfolio activity.


Commercial real estate capital markets remain most active for well 
leased, quality commercial real estate located in strong institutional 
investment markets. The vast majority of properties securing the 
mortgages in Cigna’s mortgage portfolio possess these characteristics. 
While commercial real estate fundamentals continued to improve in 
2011, the improvement has varied across geographies and property 
types. a broad recovery is dependent on continued improvement in 
the national economy.


The following table reflects the commercial mortgage loan portfolio as 
of December 31, 2011 summarized by loan-to-value ratio primarily 
based on the annual loan review completed during the second quarter 
of 2011.


LOAN-TO-vALUE DISTRIBUTION


Loan‑to‑Value ratios
amortized cost


% of mortgage LoansSenior Subordinated total
below 50% $ 299 $ 43 $ 342 10%
50% to 59%  537  33  570 17%
60% to 69%  854  51  905 28%
70% to 79%  517  44  561 17%
80% to 89%  397  5  402 12%
90% to 99%  275  -  275 8%
100% or above  246  -  246 8%
totaLS $ 3,125 $ 176 $ 3,301 100%


as summarized above, $176 million or 5% of the commercial mortgage 
loan portfolio is comprised of subordinated notes which were fully 
underwritten and originated by the Company using its standard 
underwriting procedures and are secured by first mortgage loans. Senior 
interests in these first mortgage loans were then sold to other institutional 
investors. This strategy allowed the Company to effectively utilize its 
origination capabilities to underwrite high quality loans with strong 
borrower sponsorship, limit individual loan exposures, and achieve 
attractive risk adjusted yields. in the event of a default, the Company 


would pursue remedies up to and including foreclosure jointly with 
the holders of the senior interests, but would receive repayment only 
after satisfaction of the senior interest.


in the table above, there are four loans in the “100% or above” category 
with an aggregate carrying value of $84 million that exceeds the value 
of their underlying properties by $6 million. all of these loans have a 
current debt service coverage of 1.0 or greater, along with significant 
borrower commitment.
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The commercial mortgage portfolio contains approximately 165 loans, 
including four impaired loans, totaling $195 million, that are classified 
as problem loans, resulting in an aggregate default rate of 5.9%. all 
of the remaining loans continue to perform under their contractual 
terms. The Company has $529 million of loans maturing in the next 
twelve months. given the quality and diversity of the underlying real 
estate, positive debt service coverage and significant borrower cash 
investment averaging nearly 30%, the Company remains confident 
that the vast majority of borrowers will continue to perform as expected 
under the contract terms.


Other Long-Term Investments
The Company’s other long-term investments include $963 million in 
security partnership and real estate funds as well as direct investments 
in real estate joint ventures. The funds typically invest in mezzanine 
debt or equity of privately held companies (securities partnerships) 
and equity real estate. given its subordinate position in the capital 
structure of these underlying entities, the Company assumes a higher 
level of risk for higher expected returns. to mitigate risk, investments 
are diversified across approximately 70 separate partnerships, and 
approximately 45 general partners who manage one or more of these 
partnerships. also, the funds’ underlying investments are diversified 
by industry sector or property type, and geographic region. no single 
partnership investment exceeds 8% of the Company’s securities and 
real estate partnership portfolio.


although the total fair values of investments exceeded their carrying 
values as of December 31, 2011, the fair value of the Company’s 
ownership interest in certain funds that are carried at cost was less 
than carrying value by $44 million. fund investment values continued 
to improve, but remained at depressed levels reflecting the impact of 
declines in value experienced predominantly during 2008 and 2009 
due to economic weakness and disruption in the capital markets, 
particularly in the commercial real estate market. The Company expects 
to recover its carrying value over the average remaining life of these 


investments of approximately 6 years. given the current economic 
environment, future impairments are possible; however, management 
does not expect those losses to have a material effect on the Company’s 
results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.


problem and potential problem Investments
“problem” bonds and commercial mortgage loans are either delinquent 
by 60 days or more or have been restructured as to terms, which could 
include concessions by the Company for modification of interest rate, 
principal payment or maturity date. “potential problem” bonds and 
commercial mortgage loans are considered current (no payment more 
than 59 days past due), but management believes they have certain 
characteristics that increase the likelihood that they may become 
problems. The characteristics management considers include, but are 
not limited to, the following:


•• request from the borrower for restructuring;
•• principal or interest payments past due by more than 30 but fewer 
than 60 days;
•• downgrade in credit rating;
•• collateral losses on asset-backed securities; and
•• for commercial mortgages, deterioration of debt service coverage 
below 1.0 or value declines resulting in estimated loan-to-value ratios 
increasing to 100% or more.


The Company recognizes interest income on problem bonds and 
commercial mortgage loans only when payment is actually received 
because of the risk profile of the underlying investment. The amount 
that would have been reflected in net income if interest on non-accrual 
investments had been recognized in accordance with the original terms 
was not significant for 2011 or 2010.


The following table shows problem and potential problem investments 
at amortized cost, net of valuation reserves and write-downs:


(In millions)


december 31, 2011 december 31, 2010
gross reserve net gross reserve net


problem bonds $ 40 $ (13) $ 27 $ 86 $ (39) $ 47
problem commercial mortgage loans (1)  224  (19)  205  90  (4)  86
foreclosed real estate  34  -  34  59  -  59
totaL ProBLem inVeStmentS $ 298 $ (32) $ 266 $ 235 $ (43) $ 192
potential problem bonds $ 36 $ (10) $ 26 $ 40 $ (10) $ 30
potential problem commercial mortgage loans  141  -  141  305  (8)  297
totaL PotentiaL ProBLem 
inVeStmentS $ 177 $ (10) $ 167 $ 345 $ (18) $ 327
(1) At December 31, 2011, includes a $10 million restructured loan classified in Other long-term investments that was previously reported in commercial mortgage loans.


net problem investments represent 1.3% of total investments excluding 
policy loans at December 31, 2011. net problem investments increased 
by $74 million during 2011 due primarily to deterioration of commercial 
mortgage loans previously considered in good standing or reclassified 
from potential problem loans, partially offset by the partial sale of a 
foreclosed real estate property.


net potential problem investments represent .8% of total investments 
excluding policy loans at December 31, 2011. net potential problem 
investments decreased by $160 million during 2011, reflecting results 


from the annual in-depth commercial mortgage loan portfolio review 
and  loan modification, payoff, and refinancing activity.


During the second quarter 2011, the Company restructured a $65 million 
potential problem mortgage loan into two loans, including a $55 million 
loan at current market terms and a $10 million loan at a below market 
interest rate. This restructure resulted in a $65 million reduction to 
potential problem mortgage loans and a $10 million increase to problem 
mortgage loans. See note 11 to the Consolidated financial Statements 
for further information.
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•• Use of derivatives. The Company generally uses derivative financial 
instruments to minimize certain market risks.


See notes 2(C) and 12 to the Consolidated financial Statements for 
additional information about financial instruments, including derivative 
financial instruments.


Effect of Market Fluctuations on the Company
The examples that follow illustrate the adverse effect of hypothetical 
changes in market rates or prices on the fair value of certain financial 
instruments including:


•• a hypothetical increase in market interest rates, primarily for fixed 
maturities and commercial mortgage loans, partially offset by liabilities 
for long-term debt and gMib contracts;
•• a hypothetical strengthening of the u.S. dollar to foreign currencies, 
primarily for the net assets of foreign subsidiaries denominated in a 
foreign currency; and
•• a hypothetical decrease in market prices for equity exposures, primarily 
for equity securities and gMib contracts.


in addition, the hypothetical adverse effects of an increase in equity 
indices and foreign exchange rates are presented separately for futures 
contracts used in the gMDb equity hedge program because their risk 
of loss occurs when equity markets rise.


Management believes that actual results could differ materially from 
these examples because:


•• these examples were developed using estimates and assumptions;
•• changes in the fair values of all insurance-related assets and liabilities 
have been excluded because their primary risks are insurance rather 
than market risk;
•• changes in the fair values of investments recorded using the 
equity method of accounting and liabilities for pension and other 
postretirement and postemployment benefit plans (and related assets) 
have been excluded, consistent with the disclosure guidance; and
•• changes in the fair values of other significant assets and liabilities 
such as goodwill, deferred policy acquisition costs, taxes, and various 
accrued liabilities have been excluded; because they are not financial 
instruments, their primary risks are other than market risk.


The effects of hypothetical changes in market rates or prices on the fair 
values of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, subject to 
the exclusions noted above (particularly insurance liabilities), would 
have been as follows as of December 31:


market scenario for certain non‑insurance financial instruments (in millions)
Loss in fair value


2011 2010
100 basis point increase in interest rates $ 575 $ 700
10% strengthening in u.S. dollar to foreign currencies $ 220 $ 190
10% decrease in market prices for equity exposures $ 40 $ 50


The effect of a hypothetical increase in interest rates was determined 
by estimating the present value of future cash flows using various 
models, primarily duration modeling and, for gMib contracts, 
stochastic modeling. The impact of a hypothetical increase to interest 
rates at December 31, 2011 was less than that at December 31, 2010 
reflecting an increase in the fair value of long-term debt, primarily 
due to $2.1 billion of new borrowings in november 2011, partially 
offset by an increase to the fair value of the Company’s fixed-income 
investments.


The effect of a hypothetical strengthening of the u.S. dollar relative 
to the foreign currencies held by the Company was estimated to be 
10% of the u.S. dollar equivalent fair value. The Company’s foreign 
operations hold investment assets, such as fixed maturities, that are 
generally invested in the currency of the related liabilities. Due to 
the increase in the fair value of these investments in 2011, which 
are primarily denominated in the South Korean won, the effect of a 
hypothetical 10% strengthening in u.S. dollar to foreign currencies at 
December 31, 2011 was greater than that effect at December 31, 2010.


The effect of a hypothetical decrease in the market prices of equity 
exposures was estimated based on a 10% decrease in the equity mutual 
fund values underlying gMib reinsured by the Company, in the equity 
futures contracts used to partially hedge the gMib equity exposures, 
and in the value of equity securities held by the Company. See note 10 
to the Consolidated financial Statements for additional information.


The Company uses futures contracts as part of a gMDb equity hedge 
program to substantially reduce the effect of equity market changes on 


certain reinsurance contracts that guarantee minimum death benefits 
based on unfavorable changes in underlying variable annuity account 
values. The hypothetical effect of a 10% increase in the S&p 500, 
S&p 400, russell 2000, naSDaQ, topiX (Japanese), euroStoXX 
and ftSe (british) equity indices and a 10% weakening in the u.S. 
dollar to the Japanese yen, british pound and euro would have been 
a decrease of approximately $90 million in the fair value of the futures 
contracts outstanding under this program as of December 31, 2011. 
a corresponding decrease in liabilities for gMDb contracts would 
result from the hypothetical 10% increase in these equity indices and 
10% weakening in the u.S. dollar. See note 6 to the Consolidated 
financial Statements for further discussion of this program and related 
gMDb contracts.


as noted above, the Company manages its exposures to market risk by 
matching investment characteristics to its obligations.


Stock Market performance
The performance of equity markets can have a significant effect on the 
Company’s businesses, including on:


•• risks and exposures associated with gMDb (see note 6 to the 
Consolidated financial Statements) and gMib contracts (see note 10 
to the Consolidated financial Statements); and
•• pension liabilities since equity securities comprise a significant portion 
of the assets of the Company’s employee pension plans.
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ITEM 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data


Cigna Corporation 
Consolidated Statements of Income


For the years ended december 31,
(In millions, except per share amounts) 2011 2010 2009
revenues       
premiums and fees $ 19,089 $ 18,393 $ 16,041
net investment income  1,146  1,105  1,014
Mail order pharmacy revenues  1,447  1,420  1,282
other revenues  254  260  120
realized investment gains (losses)       
other-than-temporary impairments on fixed maturities, net  (26)  (1)  (47)
other realized investment gains  88  76  4
total realized investment gains (losses)  62  75  (43)
totaL reVenUeS 21,998 21,253 18,414
Benefits and expenses       
health Care medical claims expense  8,182  8,570  6,927
other benefit expenses  4,308  3,663  3,407
Mail order pharmacy cost of goods sold  1,203  1,169  1,036
gMib fair value (gain) loss  234  55  (304)
other operating expenses  6,103  5,926  5,450
totaL BeneFitS and exPenSeS 20,030 19,383 16,516
income from continuing operations before income taxes  1,968  1,870  1,898
income taxes:       
Current  398  331  275
Deferred  242  190  319
totaL taxeS 640 521 594
income from continuing operations  1,328  1,349  1,304
income from discontinued operations, net of taxes  -  -  1
net income  1,328  1,349  1,305
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest  1  4  3
SharehoLderS’ net income $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,302
Basic earnings Per Share:       


Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 4.90 $ 4.93 $ 4.75
Shareholders’ income from discontinued operations  -  -  -


SharehoLderS’ net income $ 4.90 $ 4.93 $ 4.75
diluted earnings Per Share:       


Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 4.84 $ 4.89 $ 4.73
Shareholders’ income from discontinued operations  -  -  -


SharehoLderS’ net income $ 4.84 $ 4.89 $ 4.73
Dividends Declared per Share $ 0.04 $ 0.04 $ 0.04
amounts attributable to cigna:       


Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,301
Shareholders’ income from discontinued operations  -  -  1


SharehoLderS’ net income $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,302
The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Cigna Corporation 
Consolidated Balance Sheets


as of december 31,
(In millions, except per share amounts) 2011 2010
ASSETS     
investments:     


fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cost, $14,257; $13,445) $ 16,217 $ 14,709
equity securities, at fair value (cost, $124; $144)  100  127
Commercial mortgage loans  3,301  3,486
policy loans  1,502  1,581
real estate  87  112
other long-term investments  1,058  759
Short-term investments  225  174


total investments  22,490  20,948
Cash and cash equivalents  4,690  1,605
accrued investment income  252  235
premiums, accounts and notes receivable, net  1,358  1,318
reinsurance recoverables  6,256  6,495
Deferred policy acquisition costs  1,312  1,122
property and equipment  1,024  912
Deferred income taxes, net  632  782
goodwill  3,164  3,119
other assets, including other intangibles  1,776  1,238
Separate account assets  8,093  7,908
totaL aSSetS $ 51,047 $ 45,682
LIABILITIES     
Contractholder deposit funds $ 8,553 $ 8,509
future policy benefits  8,593  8,147
unpaid claims and claim expenses  4,146  4,017
health Care medical claims payable  1,095  1,246
unearned premiums and fees  502  416
total insurance and contractholder liabilities  22,889  22,335
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities  6,627  5,936
Short-term debt  104  552
Long-term debt  4,990  2,288
Separate account liabilities  8,093  7,908
totaL LiaBiLitieS 42,703 39,019
contingencies — note 23     
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITy     
Common stock (par value per share, $0.25; shares issued, 366; 351; authorized, 600)  92  88
additional paid-in capital  3,188  2,534
net unrealized appreciation, fixed maturities  739  529
net unrealized appreciation, equity securities  1  3
net unrealized depreciation, derivatives  (23)  (24)
net translation of foreign currencies  (3)  25
postretirement benefits liability adjustment  (1,507)  (1,147)
accumulated other comprehensive loss  (793)  (614)
retained earnings  11,143  9,879
Less: treasury stock, at cost  (5,286)  (5,242)
totaL SharehoLderS’ eQUitY 8,344 6,645
noncontrolling interest  -  18
totaL eQUitY 8,344 6,663
total liabilities and equity $ 51,047 $ 45,682
SharehoLderS’ eQUitY Per Share $ 29.22 $ 24.44
The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Cigna Corporation 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
and Changes in Total Equity


For the years ended december 31,
(In millions, except per share amounts)


2011 2010 2009
comprehensive 


income
total 


equity
comprehensive 


income
total 


equity
comprehensive 


income
total 


equity
common Stock, beginning of year   $  88   $  88   $  88
issuance of common stock     4     -      - 
common Stock, end of year     92     88     88
additional Paid‑in capital, beginning of year     2,534     2,514     2,502
effect of issuance of stock for employee benefit plans     27     20     12
effects of acquisition of noncontrolling interest     2     -      - 
issuance of common stock     625     -      - 
additional Paid‑in capital, end of year     3,188     2,534     2,514
accumulated other comprehensive Loss, beginning of year     (614)     (618)    (1,074)
implementation effect of updated guidance on other-than-temporary 
impairments (see note 2)     -      -      (18)
net unrealized appreciation, fixed maturities $  210   210 $  151   151 $  543   543
net unrealized depreciation, equity securities   (2)   (2)   (1)   (1)   (3)   (3)
net unrealized appreciation on securities   208     150     540   
net unrealized appreciation (depreciation), derivatives   1   1   6   6   (17)   (17)
net translation of foreign currencies   (28)   (28)   37   37   48   48
postretirement benefits liability adjustment   (360)   (360)   (189)   (189)   (97)   (97)
other comprehensive income (loss)   (179)     4     474   
accumulated other comprehensive Loss, end of year   (793)     (614)     (618)
retained earnings, beginning of year     9,879     8,625     7,374
implementation effect of updated guidance on other-than-temporary 
impairments (see note 2)     -      -      18
Shareholders’ net income   1,327   1,327   1,345   1,345   1,302   1,302
effect of issuance of stock for employee benefit plans     (53)     (80)     (58)
Common dividends declared (per share: $0.04; $0.04; $0.04)     (10)     (11)     (11)
retained earnings, end of year    11,143    9,879    8,625
treasury Stock, beginning of year   (5,242)    (5,192)    (5,298)
repurchase of common stock     (225)     (201)    -
other, primarily issuance of treasury stock for employee benefit plans     181     151     106
treasury Stock, end of year    (5,286)    (5,242)    (5,192)
Shareholders’ comprehensive income (Loss) and Shareholders’ equity   1,148   8,344   1,349   6,645   1,776   5,417
noncontrolling interest, beginning of year     18     12     6
net income attributable to noncontrolling interest   1   1   4   4   3   3
accumulated other comprehensive income attributable 
to noncontrolling interest   -    -    2   2   3   3
acquisition of noncontrolling interest     (19)         
noncontrolling interest, end of year   1   ‑    6   18   6   12
totaL comPrehenSiVe income and totaL eQUitY $  1,149 $  8,344 $  1,355 $  6,663 $  1,782 $  5,429
The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Cigna Corporation 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended december 31,
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
cash Flows from operating activities       
net income $  1,328 $  1,349 $  1,305
adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       


Depreciation and amortization   345   292   268
realized investment (gains) losses   (62)   (75)   43
Deferred income taxes   242   190   319
gains on sales of businesses (excluding discontinued operations)   (25)   (13)   (32)
(income) from discontinued operations   -    -    (1)


net changes in assets and liabilities, net of non-operating effects:       
premiums, accounts and notes receivable   (50)   62   49
reinsurance recoverables   19   37   30
Deferred policy acquisition costs   (211)   (156)   (109)
other assets   (317)   (3)   452
insurance liabilities   154   325   (357)
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities   344   (272)   (1,321)
Current income taxes   (246)   2   55
other, net   (30)   5   44


net caSh ProVided BY oPerating actiVitieS   1,491   1,743   745
cash Flows from investing activities       
proceeds from investments sold:       


fixed maturities   830   822   927
equity securities   46   4   22
Commercial mortgage loans   253   63   61
other (primarily short-term and other long-term investments)   1,915   1,102   910


investment maturities and repayments:       
fixed maturities   1,265   1,084   1,100
Commercial mortgage loans   385   70   94


investments purchased:       
fixed maturities   (2,877)   (2,587)   (2,916)
equity securities   (20)   (12)   (14)
Commercial mortgage loans   (487)   (239)   (175)
other (primarily short-term and other long-term investments)   (2,056)   (810)   (1,187)


property and equipment purchases   (422)   (300)   (307)
acquisitions and dispositions, net of cash acquired   (102)   (539)   - 
net caSh USed in inVeSting actiVitieS   (1,270)   (1,342)   (1,485)
cash Flows from Financing activities       
Deposits and interest credited to contractholder deposit funds   1,323   1,295   1,312
Withdrawals and benefit payments from contractholder deposit funds   (1,178)   (1,205)   (1,223)
Change in cash overdraft position   (1)   59   53
repayment of debt   (451)   (270)   (200)
net proceeds on issuance of long-term debt   2,676   543   346
repurchase of common stock   (225)   (201)   - 
issuance of common stock   734   64   30
Common dividends paid   (11)   (11)   (11)
net caSh ProVided BY Financing actiVitieS   2,867   274   307
effect of foreign currency rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (3)   6   15
net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   3,085   681   (418)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   1,605   924   1,342
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  4,690 $  1,605 $  924
Supplemental disclosure of cash information:       


income taxes paid, net of refunds $  633 $  326 $  220
interest paid $  185 $  180 $  158


The accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements


NOTE 1 Description of Business


Cigna Corporation is a holding company and is not an insurance 
company. its subsidiaries conduct various businesses, that are 
described in this annual report on form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2011 (“form 10-K”). as used in this document, 
“Cigna” and the “Company” may refer to Cigna Corporation itself, one 
or more of its subsidiaries, or Cigna Corporation and its consolidated 
subsidiaries.


The Company is a global health services organization with insurance 
subsidiaries that are major providers of medical, dental, disability, 


life and accident insurance and related products and services. in the 
u.S., the majority of these products and services are offered through 
employers and other groups (e.g. unions and associations) and, in 
selected international markets, Cigna offers supplemental health, life 
and accident insurance products and international health care coverage 
and services to businesses, governmental and non-governmental 
organizations and individuals. in addition to its ongoing operations 
described above, the Company also has certain run-off operations, 
including a run-off reinsurance segment.


NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Accounting policies


A. Basis of presentation
The Consolidated financial Statements include the accounts of Cigna 
Corporation and its significant subsidiaries. intercompany transactions 
and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.


These Consolidated financial Statements were prepared in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the united States of 
america (“gaap”). amounts recorded in the Consolidated financial 
Statements necessarily reflect management’s estimates and assumptions 
about medical costs, investment valuation, interest rates and other 
factors. Significant estimates are discussed throughout these notes; 
however, actual results could differ from those estimates. The impact 
of a change in estimate is generally included in earnings in the period 
of adjustment.


in preparing these Consolidated financial Statements, the Company 
has evaluated events that occurred between the balance sheet date and 
february 23, 2012 and determined that, with the exception of the 
January 31, 2012 acquisition of healthSpring, inc., that is disclosed 
in note 3, there were no other items to disclose.


Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to 
conform to the current presentation. in addition, certain amounts 
have been restated as a result of the adoption of new accounting 
pronouncements.


variable interest entities
as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 the Company determined it was 
not a primary beneficiary in any variable interest entities.


B. Changes in Accounting pronouncements


Deferred acquisition costs
in october 2010, the financial accounting Standards board (“faSb”) 
amended guidance (aSu 2010-26) for the accounting of costs to 
acquire or renew insurance contracts to require costs such as certain sales 
compensation or telemarketing costs that are related to unsuccessful 
efforts to acquire or retain business and any indirect costs to be expensed 
as incurred. This new guidance must be implemented on January 1, 2012 
and any changes to the Company’s Consolidated financial Statements 
may be recognized prospectively for acquisition costs incurred beginning 
in 2012 or through retrospective adjustment of comparative prior periods.


the Company expects to implement the new requirements on 
January 1, 2012 through retrospective adjustment of prior periods. 
The Company’s deferred acquisition costs arise from sales and renewal 
activities primarily in its international segment. because the new 
requirements further restrict the types of costs that are deferrable, 
more of the Company’s acquisition costs will be expensed as incurred. 
The Company expects the cumulative effect of implementing this 
new guidance to decrease shareholders’ equity as of January 1, 2011 
by a range of $250 million to $300 million. in addition, as certain 
acquisition costs will no longer be eligible for deferral under the new 
guidance, the Company expects that full-year 2011 shareholders’ net 
income on a retrospectively adjusted basis will decrease by approximately 
$70 million primarily in its international segment. The Company expects 
the effect of the new guidance on shareholders’ net income in 2012 to 
be generally comparable to that estimated for 2011. implementation 
of this new guidance will have no impact on the underlying economic 
value, revenues or cash flows of the Company’s businesses, nor will it 
impact the Company’s liquidity or the statutory surplus of its insurance 
subsidiaries.
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D. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of short-term investments with maturities of 
three months or less from the time of purchase that are classified as held 
to maturity and carried at amortized cost. The Company reclassifies 
cash overdraft positions to accounts payable, accrued expenses and 
other liabilities when the legal right of offset does not exist.


E. premiums, Accounts 
and Notes Receivable and Reinsurance 
Recoverables


premiums, accounts and notes receivable are reported net of an allowance 
for doubtful accounts of $45 million as of December 31, 2011 and 
$49 million as of December 31, 2010. reinsurance recoverables are 
estimates of amounts that the Company will receive from reinsurers 
and are recorded net of an allowance for unrecoverable reinsurance 
of $5 million as of December 31, 2011 and $10 million as of 
December 31, 2010. The Company estimates these allowances for 
doubtful accounts for premiums, accounts and notes receivable, as 
well as for reinsurance recoverables, using management’s best estimate 
of collectibility, taking into consideration the aging of these amounts, 
historical collection patterns and other economic factors.


F. Deferred policy Acquisition Costs
acquisition costs include sales compensation, commissions, direct 
response marketing, telemarketing, premium taxes and other costs that 
the Company incurs in connection with new and renewal business. 
Depending on the product line they relate to, the Company records 
acquisition costs in different ways. acquisition costs for:


•• Universal life products are deferred and amortized in proportion to 
the present value of total estimated gross profits over the expected 
lives of the contracts.
•• Supplemental health, life and accident insurance (primarily individual 
international products) and group health and accident insurance 
products are deferred and amortized, generally in proportion to the 
ratio of periodic revenue to the estimated total revenues over the 
contract periods.
•• Other products are expensed as incurred.


for universal life and other individual products, management estimates 
the present value of future revenues less expected payments. for group 
health and accident insurance products, management estimates the 
sum of unearned premiums and anticipated net investment income 
less future expected claims and related costs. if management’s estimates 
of these sums are less than the deferred costs, the Company reduces 
deferred policy acquisition costs and records an expense. The Company 
recorded amortization for policy acquisition costs of $334 million 
in 2011, $312 million in 2010 and $299 million in 2009 in other 
operating expenses. There are no deferred policy acquisition costs 
attributable to the sold individual life insurance and annuity and 
retirement businesses or the run-off reinsurance and settlement annuity 
operations. The accounting for acquisition costs will change in 2012. 
See recent accounting pronouncements for additional information.


G. property and Equipment
property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
When applicable, cost includes interest, real estate taxes and other costs 
incurred during construction. also included in this category is internal-use 
software that is acquired, developed or modified solely to meet the Company’s 
internal needs, with no plan to market externally. Costs directly related to 
acquiring, developing or modifying internal-use software are capitalized.


The Company calculates depreciation and amortization principally using 
the straight-line method generally based on the estimated useful life 
of each asset as follows: buildings and improvements, 10 to 40 years; 
purchased software, one to five years; internally developed software, 
three to seven years; and furniture and equipment (including computer 
equipment), three to 10 years. improvements to leased facilities are 
depreciated over the remaining lease term or the estimated life of the 
improvement. The Company considers events and circumstances that 
would indicate the carrying value of property, equipment or capitalized 
software might not be recoverable. if the Company determines the 
carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable, an impairment 
charge is recorded. See note 8 for additional information.


H. Goodwill
goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses acquired over 
the fair value of their net assets. goodwill primarily relates to the health 
Care segment ($2.9 billion) and, to a lesser extent, the international 
segment ($290 million). The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment 
at least annually during the third quarter at the reporting unit level, 
based on discounted cash flow analyses and writes it down through 
results of operations if impaired. Consistent with prior years, the 
Company’s evaluations of goodwill associated with the health Care and 
international segments used the best information available at the time, 
including reasonable assumptions and projections consistent with those 
used in its annual planning process. The discounted cash flow analyses 
used a range of discount rates that correspond with the Company’s, 
or, in the case of international, the reporting unit’s weighted average 
cost of capital, consistent with that used for investment decisions 
considering the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies 
within the segment or reporting unit. The resulting discounted cash 
flow analysis indicated an estimated fair value for the health Care 
segment and international’s reporting unit exceeding their carrying 
values, including goodwill and other intangibles. finally, the Company 
determined that no events or circumstances occurred subsequent to the 
annual evaluation of goodwill that would more likely than not reduce 
the fair value of the health Care segment or international’s reporting 
unit below their carrying values. See note 8 for additional information.


I. Other Assets, including Other Intangibles
other assets consist of various insurance-related assets and the gain position of 
certain derivatives, primarily gMib assets. The Company’s other intangible 
assets include purchased customer and producer relationships, provider 
networks, and trademarks. The Company amortizes other intangibles 
on an accelerated or straight-line basis over periods from 1 to 30 years. 
Management revises amortization periods if it believes there has been a 
change in the length of time that an intangible asset will continue to have 
value. Costs incurred to renew or extend the terms of these intangible assets 
are generally expensed as incurred. See note 8 for additional information.
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J. Separate Account Assets and Liabilities
Separate account assets and liabilities are contractholder funds maintained 
in accounts with specific investment objectives. The assets of these 
accounts are legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise 
out of any of the Company’s other businesses. These separate account 
assets are carried at fair value with equal amounts for related separate 
account liabilities. The investment income, gains and losses of these 
accounts generally accrue to the contractholders and, together with 
their deposits and withdrawals, are excluded from the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of income and Cash flows. fees earned for 
asset management services are reported in premiums and fees.


K. Contractholder Deposit Funds
Liabilities for contractholder deposit funds primarily include deposits 
received from customers for investment-related and universal life products 
and investment earnings on their fund balances. These liabilities are 
adjusted to reflect administrative charges and, for universal life fund 
balances, mortality charges. in addition, this caption includes premium 
stabilization reserves that are insurance experience refunds for group 
contracts that are left with the Company to pay future premiums, deposit 
administration funds that are used to fund nonpension retiree insurance 
programs, retained asset accounts and annuities or supplementary 
contracts without significant life contingencies. interest credited on 
these funds is accrued ratably over the contract period.


L. Future policy Benefits
future policy benefits are liabilities for the present value of estimated 
future obligations under long-term life and supplemental health insurance 
policies and annuity products currently in force. These obligations are 
estimated using actuarial methods and primarily consist of reserves for 
annuity contracts, life insurance benefits, guaranteed minimum death 
benefit (“gMDb”) contracts and certain life, accident and health 
insurance products in our international operations.


obligations for annuities represent specified periodic benefits to be 
paid to an individual or groups of individuals over their remaining 
lives. obligations for life insurance policies represent benefits to 
be paid to policyholders, net of future premiums to be received. 
Management estimates these obligations based on assumptions as to 
premiums, interest rates, mortality and surrenders, allowing for adverse 
deviation. Mortality, morbidity, and surrender assumptions are based 
on either the Company’s own experience or actuarial tables. interest 
rate assumptions are based on management’s judgment considering the 
Company’s experience and future expectations, and range from 1% to 
10%. obligations for the run-off settlement annuity business include 
adjustments for investment returns consistent with requirements of 
gaap when a premium deficiency exists.


Certain reinsurance contracts contain gMDb under variable annuities 
issued by other insurance companies. These obligations represent the 
guaranteed death benefit in excess of the contractholder’s account values 
(based on underlying equity and bond mutual fund investments). These 
obligations are estimated based on assumptions regarding lapse, partial 


surrenders, mortality, interest rates (mean investment performance 
and discount rate), market volatility as well as investment returns and 
premiums, consistent with the requirements of gaap when a premium 
deficiency exists. Lapse, partial surrenders, mortality, interest rates 
and volatility are based on management’s judgment considering the 
Company’s experience and future expectations. The results of futures 
and swap contracts used in the gMDb equity and growth interest rate 
hedge programs are reflected in the liability calculation as a component 
of investment returns. See also note 6 for additional information.


M. Unpaid Claims and Claims Expenses
Liabilities for unpaid claims and claim expenses are estimates of payments 
to be made under insurance coverages (primarily long-term disability, 
workers’ compensation and life and health) for reported claims and 
for losses incurred but not yet reported.


The Company develops these estimates for losses incurred but not yet 
reported using actuarial principles and assumptions based on historical 
and projected claim incidence patterns, claim size, subrogation recoveries 
and the length of time over which payments are expected to be made. 
The Company consistently applies these actuarial principles and 
assumptions each reporting period, with consideration given to the 
variability of these factors, and recognizes the actuarial best estimate 
of the ultimate liability within a level of confidence, as required by 
actuarial standards of practice, which require that the liabilities be 
adequate under moderately adverse conditions.


The Company’s estimate of the liability for disability claims reported 
but not yet paid is primarily calculated as the present value of expected 
benefit payments to be made over the estimated time period that a 
policyholder remains disabled. The Company estimates the expected 
time period that a policyholder may be disabled by analyzing the rate at 
which an open claim is expected to close (claim resolution rate). Claim 
resolution rates may vary based upon the length of time a policyholder 
is disabled, the covered benefit period, cause of disability, benefit design 
and the policyholder’s age, gender and income level. The Company uses 
historical resolution rates combined with an analysis of current trends 
and operational factors to develop current estimates of resolution rates. 
The reserve for the gross monthly disability benefits due to a policyholder 
is reduced (offset) by the income that the policyholder receives under 
other benefit programs, such as Social Security Disability income, 
workers’ compensation, statutory disability or other group disability 
benefit plans. for awards of such offsets that have not been finalized, 
the Company estimates the probability and amount of the offset based 
on the Company’s experience over the past three to five years.


The Company discounts certain claim liabilities related to group long-
term disability and workers’ compensation because benefit payments may 
be made over extended periods. Discount rate assumptions are based 
on projected investment returns for the asset portfolios that support 
these liabilities and range from 3.80% to 6.25%. When estimates 
change, the Company records the adjustment in benefits and expenses 
in the period in which the change in estimate is identified. Discounted 
liabilities associated with the long-term disability and certain workers’ 
compensation businesses were $3.2 billion at December 31, 2011 and 
$3.1 billion at December 31, 2010.
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N. Health Care Medical Claims payable
Medical claims payable for the health Care segment include both 
reported claims and estimates for losses incurred but not yet reported. 
The Company develops estimates for health Care medical claims 
payable using actuarial principles and assumptions consistently applied 
each reporting period, and recognizes the actuarial best estimate of the 
ultimate liability within a level of confidence, as required by actuarial 
standards of practice, which require that the liabilities be adequate 
under moderately adverse conditions.


The liability is primarily calculated using “completion factors” (a measure 
of the time to process claims), which are developed by comparing the 
date claims were incurred, generally the date services were provided, 
to the date claims were paid. The Company uses historical completion 
factors combined with an analysis of current trends and operational 
factors to develop current estimates of completion factors. The Company 
estimates the liability for claims incurred in each month by applying 
the current estimates of completion factors to the current paid claims 
data. This approach implicitly assumes that historical completion rates 
will be a useful indicator for the current period. it is possible that the 
actual completion rates for the current period will develop differently 
from historical patterns, which could have a material impact on the 
Company’s medical claims payable and shareholders’ net income.


Completion factors are impacted by several key items including changes 
in: 1) electronic (auto-adjudication) versus manual claim processing, 
2) provider claims submission rates, 3) membership and 4) the mix of 
products. as noted, the Company uses historical completion factors 
combined with an analysis of current trends and operational factors 
to develop current estimates of completion factors.


in addition, for the more recent months, the Company also relies on 
medical cost trend analysis, which reflects expected claim payment 
patterns and other relevant operational considerations. Medical cost 
trend is primarily impacted by medical service utilization and unit costs, 
which are affected by changes in the level and mix of medical benefits 
offered, including inpatient, outpatient and pharmacy, the impact of 
copays and deductibles, changes in provider practices and changes in 
consumer demographics and consumption behavior.


Despite reflecting both historical and emerging trends in setting reserves, 
it is possible that the actual medical trend for the current period will 
develop differently from expectations, which could have a material 
impact on the Company’s medical claims payable and shareholders’ 
net income.


for each reporting period, the Company evaluates key assumptions 
by comparing the assumptions used in establishing the medical claims 
payable to actual experience. When actual experience differs from the 
assumptions used in establishing the liability, medical claims payable are 
increased or decreased through current period shareholders’ net income. 
additionally, the Company evaluates expected future developments and 
emerging trends which may impact key assumptions. The estimation 
process involves considerable judgment, reflecting the variability inherent 
in forecasting future claim payments. These estimates are highly sensitive 
to changes in the Company’s key assumptions, specifically completion 
factors, and medical cost trends.


O. Unearned premiums and Fees
premiums for life, accident and health insurance are recognized as 
revenue on a pro rata basis over the contract period. fees for mortality 
and contract administration of universal life products are recognized 
ratably over the coverage period. The unrecognized portion of these 
amounts received is recorded as unearned premiums and fees.


p. Accounts payable, Accrued Expenses 
and Other Liabilities


accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities consist principally 
of liabilities for pension, other postretirement and postemployment 
benefits (see note 9), self-insured exposures, management compensation 
and various insurance-related items, including experience rated refunds, 
the minimum medical loss ratio rebate accrual under health Care 
reform, amounts related to reinsurance contracts and insurance-related 
assessments that management can reasonably estimate. accounts payable, 
accrued expenses and other liabilities also include certain overdraft 
positions and the loss position of certain derivatives, primarily for gMib 
contracts (see note 12). Legal costs to defend the Company’s litigation 
and arbitration matters are expensed when incurred in cases that the 
Company cannot reasonably estimate the ultimate cost to defend. in 
cases that the Company can reasonably estimate the cost to defend, 
these costs are recognized when the claim is reported.


Q. Translation of Foreign Currencies
The Company generally conducts its international business through foreign 
operating entities that maintain assets and liabilities in local currencies, 
which are generally their functional currencies. The Company uses 
exchange rates as of the balance sheet date to translate assets and liabilities 
into u.S. dollars. translation gains or losses on functional currencies, net 
of applicable taxes, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss). The Company uses average monthly exchange rates during 
the year to translate revenues and expenses into u.S. dollars.


R. premiums and Fees, Revenues 
and Related Expenses


premiums for group life, accident and health insurance and managed 
care coverages are recognized as revenue on a pro rata basis over the 
contract period. benefits and expenses are recognized when incurred. 
premiums and fees include revenue from experience-rated contracts 
that is based on the estimated ultimate claim, and in some cases, 
administrative cost experience of the contract. for these contracts, 
premium revenue includes an adjustment for experience-rated refunds 
which is calculated according to contract terms and using the customer’s 
experience (including estimates of incurred but not reported claims). 
beginning in 2011, premium revenue also includes an adjustment 
to reflect the estimated effect of rebates due to customers under the 
minimum medical loss ratio provisions of health Care reform.


premiums for individual life, accident and health insurance and annuity 
products, excluding universal life and investment-related products, are 
recognized as revenue when due. benefits and expenses are matched 
with premiums.


  Contents  Q








78 CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part ii 
ITEM 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data


premiums and fees received for the Company’s Medicare advantage 
plans and Medicare part D products from customers and the Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) are recognized as revenue 
ratably over the contract period. CMS provides risk adjusted premium 
payments for the Medicare advantage plans and Medicare part D 
products, based on the demographics and health severity of enrollees. 
The Company recognizes periodic changes to risk adjusted premiums 
as revenue when the amounts are determinable and collection is 
reasonably assured. additionally, Medicare part D includes payments 
from CMS for risk sharing adjustments. The risk sharing adjustments, 
that are estimated quarterly based on claim experience, compare actual 
incurred drug benefit costs to estimated costs submitted in original 
contracts and may result in more or less revenue from CMS. final 
revenue adjustments are determined through an annual settlement 
with CMS that occurs after the contract year.


revenue for investment-related products is recognized as follows:


•• net investment income on assets supporting investment-related 
products is recognized as earned.
•• Contract fees, which are based upon related administrative expenses, 
are recognized in premiums and fees as they are earned ratably over 
the contract period.


benefits and expenses for investment-related products consist primarily of 
income credited to policyholders in accordance with contract provisions.


revenue for universal life products is recognized as follows:


•• net investment income on assets supporting universal life products 
is recognized as earned.
•• fees for mortality and surrender charges are recognized as assessed, 
which is as earned.
•• administration fees are recognized as services are provided.


benefits and expenses for universal life products consist of benefit claims 
in excess of policyholder account balances. expenses are recognized 
when claims are submitted, and income is credited to policyholders 
in accordance with contract provisions.


Contract fees and expenses for administrative services only programs 
and pharmacy programs and services are recognized as services are 
provided. Mail order pharmacy revenues and cost of goods sold are 
recognized as each prescription is shipped.


S. Stock Compensation
The Company records compensation expense for stock awards and 
options over their vesting periods primarily based on the estimated fair 
value at the grant date. Compensation expense is recorded for stock 
options over their vesting period based on fair value at the grant date 
which is calculated using an option-pricing model. Compensation 
expense is recorded for restricted stock grants and units over their 
vesting periods based on fair value, which is equal to the market price 
of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Compensation 
expense for strategic performance shares is recorded over the performance 
period. for strategic performance shares with payment dependent on 
market condition, fair value is determined at the grant date using a 


Monte Carlo simulation model and not subsequently adjusted regardless 
of the final outcome. for strategic performance shares with payment 
dependent on performance conditions, expense is initially accrued based 
on the most likely outcome, but evaluated for adjustment each period 
for updates in the expected outcome. at the end of the performance 
period, expense is adjusted to the actual outcome (number of shares 
awarded times the share price at the grant date).


T. participating Business
The Company’s participating life insurance policies entitle policyholders 
to earn dividends that represent a portion of the earnings of the 
Company’s life insurance subsidiaries. participating insurance accounted 
for approximately 1% of the Company’s total life insurance in force at 
the end of 2011, 2010 and 2009.


U. Income Taxes
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries file a consolidated 
united States federal income tax return. The Company’s foreign 
subsidiaries file tax returns in accordance with foreign law. u.S. taxation 
of these foreign subsidiaries may differ in timing and amount from 
taxation under foreign laws. reportable amounts, including credits 
for foreign tax paid by these subsidiaries, are reflected in the u.S. tax 
return of the affiliates’ domestic parent.


The Company recognizes deferred income taxes when the financial 
statement and tax-based carrying values of assets and liabilities are 
different and recognizes deferred income tax liabilities on the unremitted 
earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are not permanently invested 
overseas. for subsidiaries whose earnings are considered permanently 
invested overseas, income taxes are accrued at the local foreign tax rate. 
The Company establishes valuation allowances against deferred tax 
assets if it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be 
realized. The need for a valuation allowance is determined based on the 
evaluation of various factors, including expectations of future earnings 
and management’s judgment. note 19 contains detailed information 
about the Company’s income taxes.


The Company recognizes interim period income taxes by estimating 
an annual effective tax rate and applying it to year-to-date results. The 
estimated annual effective tax rate is periodically updated throughout 
the year based on actual results to date and an updated projection of 
full year income. although the effective tax rate approach is generally 
used for interim periods, taxes on significant, unusual and infrequent 
items are recognized at the statutory tax rate entirely in the period the 
amounts are realized.


v. Earnings per Share
The Company computes basic earnings per share using the weighted-
average number of unrestricted common and deferred shares outstanding. 
Diluted earnings per share also includes the dilutive effect of outstanding 
employee stock options and unvested restricted stock granted after 
2009 using the treasury stock method and the effect of strategic 
performance shares.
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NOTE 3 Acquisitions and Dispositions


The Company may from time to time acquire or dispose of assets, 
subsidiaries or lines of business. Significant transactions are described below.


A. Acquisition of HealthSpring, Inc.
on January 31, 2012 the Company acquired all of the outstanding 
shares of healthSpring, inc. (“healthSpring”) for $55 per share in cash 
and Cigna stock awards, representing an estimated cost of approximately 
$3.8 billion. healthSpring provides Medicare advantage coverage in 
11 states and the District of Columbia, as well as a large, national 
stand-alone Medicare prescription drug business. The Company 
funded the acquisition with internal cash resources, including cash 
generated from the issuance of commercial paper in 2012, as well as 
$2.1 billion of additional debt and $650 million of new equity issued 
during the fourth quarter of 2011 ($629 million net of underwriting 
discount and fees).


B. Acquisition of FirstAssist
in november 2011, the Company acquired firstassist group holdings 
Limited (“firstassist”) for approximately $115 million, using available 
cash on hand. firstassist is based in the united Kingdom and provides 
travel and protection insurance services that the Company expects will 
enhance its individual business in the u.K. and around the world.


in accordance with gaap, the total purchase price has been allocated to 
the tangible and intangible net assets acquired based on management’s 
preliminary estimates of their fair values and may change when appraisals 
are finalized and as additional information becomes available over 
the next several months. accordingly, approximately $58 million was 
allocated to intangible assets, while $56 million has been allocated to 
goodwill and is reported in the international segment.


The results of firstassist are included in the Company’s Consolidated 
financial Statements from the date of acquisition. The pro forma effect 
on total revenues and net income assuming the acquisition had occurred 
as of January 1, 2010 were not material to the Company’s total revenues 
and shareholders’ net income for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010.


C. Reinsurance of Run-off Workers’ 
Compensation and personal Accident 
Business


on December 31, 2010, the Company essentially exited from its 
workers’ compensation and personal accident reinsurance business 
by purchasing retrocessional coverage from a bermuda subsidiary of 
enstar group Limited and transferring administration of this business 
to the reinsurer. under the reinsurance agreement, Cigna is indemnified 
for liabilities with respect to its workers’ compensation and personal 
accident reinsurance business to the extent that these liabilities do not 
exceed 190% of the December 31, 2010 net reserves. The Company 
believes that the risk of loss beyond this maximum aggregate is remote. 
The reinsurance arrangement is secured by assets held in trust. Cash 
consideration paid to the reinsurer was $190 million. The net effect 
of this transaction was an after-tax loss of $20 million ($31 million 
pre-tax), primarily reported in other operating expenses in the run-off 
reinsurance segment.


D. Sale of Workers’ Compensation and Case 
Management Business


on December 1, 2010 the Company completed the sale of its workers’ 
compensation and case management business to geneX holdings, inc. 
The Company recognized an after-tax gain on sale of $11 million 
($18 million pre-tax) which was reported in other revenues in the 
Disability and Life segment. proceeds of the sale were received in 
preferred stock of geneX holdings, inc., resulting in the Company 
becoming a minority shareholder in geneX holdings, inc. This 
investment is classified in other long-term investments and accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting.


E. Acquisition of vanbreda International
on august 31, 2010, the Company acquired 100% of the voting stock 
of Vanbreda international nV (Vanbreda international), based in 
antwerp, belgium for a cash purchase price of $412 million. Vanbreda 
international specializes in providing worldwide medical insurance 
and employee benefits to intergovernmental and non-governmental 
organizations, including international humanitarian operations, as well 
as corporate clients. Vanbreda international’s market leadership in the 
intergovernmental segment complements the Company’s position in 
providing global health benefits primarily to multinational companies 
and organizations and their globally mobile employees in north america, 
europe, the Middle east and asia.
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in accordance with gaap, the total purchase price has been allocated to the tangible and intangible net assets acquired based on management’s 
estimates of their fair values. accordingly, approximately $210 million was allocated to intangible assets, primarily customer relationships. The 
weighted average amortization period is 15 years. The condensed balance sheet at the acquisition date was as follows:


(In millions)


investments $ 39
Cash and cash equivalents  73
premiums, accounts and notes receivable  22
property and equipment  1
Deferred income taxes  (71)
goodwill  229
other assets, including other intangibles  220
total assets acquired  513
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities  101
total liabilities acquired  101
net assets acquired $ 412


goodwill was allocated to the international segment. for foreign tax 
purposes, the acquisition of Vanbreda international was treated as a 
stock purchase. accordingly, goodwill and other intangible assets will 
not be amortized for foreign tax purposes but may reduce the taxability 
of earnings repatriated to the u.S. by Vanbreda international.


The results of Vanbreda international are included in the Company’s 
Consolidated financial Statements from the date of acquisition. 
The pro forma effect on total revenues and net income assuming the 
acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2009 was not material to the 
Company’s total revenues and shareholders’ net income for the years 
ended December 31, 2010 or 2009.


NOTE 4 Earnings per Share


basic and diluted earnings per share were computed as follows:


(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) Basic effect of dilution diluted
2011       
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 1,327 $ - $ 1,327
Shares (in thousands):       
Weighted average  270,691  -  270,691
Common stock equivalents    3,558  3,558
total shares  270,691  3,558  274,249
epS $ 4.90 $ (0.06) $ 4.84
2010       
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 1,345 $ - $ 1,345
Shares (in thousands):       
Weighted average  272,866  -  272,866
Common stock equivalents    2,421  2,421
total shares  272,866  2,421  275,287
epS $ 4.93 $ (0.04) $ 4.89
2009       
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 1,301 $ - $ 1,301
Shares (in thousands):       
Weighted average  274,058  -  274,058
Common stock equivalents    1,299  1,299
total shares  274,058  1,299  275,357
epS $ 4.75 $ (0.02) $ 4.73


The following outstanding employee stock options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect would 
have increased diluted earnings per share (antidilutive) as their exercise price was greater than the average share price of the Company’s common 
stock for the period.


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
antidilutive options 3.7 6.3 8.8
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NOTE 5 Health Care Medical Claims payable


Medical claims payable for the health Care segment reflects estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported, 
those which have been reported but not yet paid (reported claims in process) and other medical expense payable, which primarily comprises 
accruals for provider incentives and other amounts payable to providers. incurred but not yet reported comprises the majority of the reserve 
balance as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010
incurred but not yet reported $ 952 $ 1,067
reported claims in process  129  164
other medical expense payable  14  15
medicaL cLaimS PaYaBLe $ 1,095 $ 1,246


activity in medical claims payable was as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
balance at January 1, $ 1,246 $ 921 $ 924
Less: reinsurance and other amounts recoverable  236  206  211
balance at January 1, net  1,010  715  713
incurred claims related to:       


Current year  8,308  8,663  6,970
prior years  (126)  (93)  (43)


total incurred  8,182  8,570  6,927
paid claims related to:       


Current year  7,450  7,682  6,278
prior years  841  593  647


total paid  8,291  8,275  6,925
balance at December 31, net  901  1,010  715
add: reinsurance and other amounts recoverable  194  236  206
balance at December 31, $ 1,095 $ 1,246 $ 921


reinsurance and other amounts recoverable reflect amounts due 
from reinsurers and policyholders to cover incurred but not reported 
and pending claims for minimum premium products and certain 
administrative services only business where the right of offset does 
not exist. See note 7 for additional information on reinsurance. for 
the year ended December 31, 2011, actual experience differed from 
the Company’s key assumptions resulting in favorable incurred claims 
related to prior years’ medical claims payable of $126 million, or 1.5% 
of the current year incurred claims as reported for the year ended 
December 31, 2010. actual completion factors resulted in a reduction 
in medical claims payable of $87 million, or 1.0% of the current year 
incurred claims as reported for the year ended December 31, 2010 
for the insured book of business. actual medical cost trend resulted 
in a reduction in medical claims payable of $39 million, or 0.5% 
of the current year incurred claims as reported for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 for the insured book of business.


for the year ended December 31, 2010, actual experience differed 
from the Company’s key assumptions, resulting in favorable incurred 
claims related to prior years’ medical claims payable of $93 million, or 
1.3% of the current year incurred claims as reported for the year ended 
December 31, 2009. actual completion factors resulted in a reduction 
of the medical claims payable of $51 million, or 0.7% of the current 
year incurred claims as reported for the year ended December 31, 2009 
for the insured book of business. actual medical cost trend resulted 
in a reduction of the medical claims payable of $42 million, or 0.6% 
of the current year incurred claims as reported for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 for the insured book of business.


The corresponding impact of prior year development on shareholders’ 
net income was $53 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 
compared with $26 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
The favorable effects of prior year development on net income in 2011 
and 2010 primarily reflect low medical services utilization trend. The 
change in the amount of the incurred claims related to prior years in 
the medical claims payable liability does not directly correspond to 
an increase or decrease in the Company’s shareholders’ net income 
recognized for the following reasons:


first, the Company consistently recognizes the actuarial best estimate 
of the ultimate liability within a level of confidence, as required by 
actuarial standards of practice, which require that the liabilities be 
adequate under moderately adverse conditions. as the Company 
establishes the liability for each incurral year, the Company ensures that 
its assumptions appropriately consider moderately adverse conditions. 
When a portion of the development related to the prior year incurred 
claims is offset by an increase determined appropriate to address 
moderately adverse conditions for the current year incurred claims, the 
Company does not consider that offset amount as having any impact 
on shareholders’ net income.


Second, while changes in reserves for the Company’s guaranteed 
cost products do directly affect shareholders’ net income, changes in 
reserves for the Company’s retrospectively experience-rated business 
do not always impact shareholders’ net income. for the Company’s 
retrospectively experience-rated business only adjustments to medical 
claims payable on accounts in deficit affect shareholders’ net income. 
an increase or decrease to medical claims payable on accounts in deficit, 
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in effect, accrues to the Company and directly impacts shareholders’ 
net income. an account is in deficit when the accumulated medical 
costs and administrative charges, including profit charges, exceed the 
accumulated premium received. adjustments to medical claims payable 


on accounts in surplus accrue directly to the policyholder with no impact 
on the Company’s shareholders’ net income. an account is in surplus 
when the accumulated premium received exceeds the accumulated 
medical costs and administrative charges, including profit charges.


NOTE 6 Guaranteed Minimum Death Benefit Contracts


The Company’s reinsurance operations, which were discontinued in 
2000 and are now an inactive business in run-off mode, reinsured a 
guaranteed minimum death benefit (“gMDb”), also known as variable 
annuity death benefits (“VaDbe”), under certain variable annuities 
issued by other insurance companies. These variable annuities are 
essentially investments in mutual funds combined with a death benefit. 
The Company has equity and other market exposures as a result of this 
product. in periods of declining equity markets and in periods of flat 
equity markets following a decline, the Company’s liabilities for these 
guaranteed minimum death benefits increase. Conversely, in periods 
of rising equity markets, the Company’s liabilities for these guaranteed 
minimum death benefits decrease.


in 2000, the Company determined that the gMDb reinsurance 
business was premium deficient because the recorded future policy 
benefit reserve was less than the expected present value of future claims 
and expenses less the expected present value of future premiums and 
investment income using revised assumptions based on actual and 
expected experience. The Company tests for premium deficiency by 
reviewing its reserve each quarter using current market conditions and 
its long-term assumptions. under premium deficiency accounting, 
if the recorded reserve is determined insufficient, an increase to the 
reserve is reflected as a charge to current period income. Consistent with 
gaap, the Company does not recognize gains on premium deficient 
long duration products.


See note 12 for further information on the Company’s dynamic 
hedge programs that are used to reduce certain equity and interest 
rate exposures associated with this business.


The Company had future policy benefit reserves for gMDb contracts 
of $1.2 billion as of December 31, 2011, and $1.1 billion as of 
December 31, 2010. The determination of liabilities for gMDb requires 
the Company to make critical accounting estimates. The Company 
estimates its liabilities for gMDb exposures using an internal model 
run using many scenarios and based on assumptions regarding lapse, 
future partial surrenders, claim mortality (deaths that result in claims), 
interest rates (mean investment performance and discount rate) and 
volatility. Lapse refers to the full surrender of an annuity prior to a 
contractholder’s death. future partial surrender refers to the fact that 
most contractholders have the ability to withdraw substantially all of 
their mutual fund investments while retaining the death benefit coverage 
in effect at the time of the withdrawal. Mean investment performance 
for underlying equity mutual funds refers to market rates expected 
to be earned on the hedging instruments over the life of the gMDb 
equity hedge program, and for underlying fixed income mutual funds 
refers to the expected market return over the life of the contracts. 
Market volatility refers to market fluctuation. These assumptions are 
based on the Company’s experience and future expectations over the 
long-term period, consistent with the long-term nature of this product. 
The Company regularly evaluates these assumptions and changes its 
estimates if actual experience or other evidence suggests that assumptions 
should be revised. if actual experience differs from the assumptions 


(including lapse, future partial surrenders, claim mortality, interest 
rates and volatility) used in estimating these liabilities, the result could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results 
of operations, and in certain situations, could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s financial condition.


The following provides information about the Company’s reserving 
methodology and assumptions for gMDb as of December 31, 2011:


•• The reserves represent estimates of the present value of net amounts 
expected to be paid, less the present value of net future premiums. 
included in net amounts expected to be paid is the excess of the 
guaranteed death benefits over the values of the contractholders’ accounts 
(based on underlying equity and bond mutual fund investments).
•• The reserves include an estimate for partial surrenders that essentially 
lock in the death benefit for a particular policy based on annual election 
rates that vary from 0% to 15% depending on the net amount at risk 
for each policy and whether surrender charges apply.
•• The assumed mean investment performance (“growth interest rate”) 
for the underlying equity mutual funds for the portion of the liability 
that is covered by the Company’s growth interest rate hedge program 
is based on the market-observable Libor swap curve. The assumed 
mean investment performance for the remainder of the underlying 
equity mutual funds considers the Company’s gMDb equity hedge 
program using futures contracts, and is based on the Company’s view 
that short-term interest rates will average 4.75% over future periods, 
but considers that current short-term rates are less than 4.75%. 
The mean investment performance assumption for the underlying 
fixed income mutual funds (bonds and money market) is 5% based 
on a review of historical returns. The investment performance for 
underlying equity and fixed income mutual funds is reduced by fund 
fees ranging from 1% to 3% across all funds.
•• The volatility assumption is based on a review of historical monthly 
returns for each key index (e.g. S&p 500) over a period of at least 
ten years. Volatility represents the dispersion of historical returns 
compared to the average historical return (standard deviation) for 
each index. The assumption is 16% to 25%, varying by equity fund 
type; 4% to 10%, varying by bond fund type; and 2% for money 
market funds. These volatility assumptions are used along with the 
mean investment performance assumption to project future return 
scenarios.
•• The discount rate is 5.75%, which is determined based on the 
underlying and projected yield of the portfolio of assets supporting 
the gMDb liability.
•• The claim mortality assumption is 65% to 89% of the 1994 group 
annuity Mortality table, with 1% annual improvement beginning 
January 1, 2000. The assumption reflects that for certain contracts, 
a spousal beneficiary is allowed to elect to continue a contract by 
becoming its new owner, thereby postponing the death claim rather 
than receiving the death benefit currently. for certain issuers of these 
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contracts, the claim mortality assumption depends on age, gender, 
and net amount at risk for the policy.
•• The lapse rate assumption is 0% to 24%, depending on contract type, 
policy duration and the ratio of the net amount at risk to account value.


During 2011, the Company completed its normal review of reserves 
(including assumptions) and recorded additional other benefit expenses 
of $70 million ($45 million after-tax) to strengthen gMDb reserves. 
The reserve strengthening was driven primarily by:


•• adverse impacts of $34 million ($22 million after-tax) due to volatile 
equity market conditions. Volatility risk is not covered by the hedging 
programs. also, the equity market volatility reduced the effectiveness 
of the hedging program for equity market exposures, in part because 
the market does not offer futures contracts that exactly match the 
diverse mix of equity fund investments held by contractholders.
•• adverse interest rate impacts of $23 million ($15 million after-tax) 
reflecting management’s consideration of the anticipated impact of 
continuing low current short-term interest rates. This evaluation 
also led management to lower the mean investment performance 
assumption for equity funds from 5% to 4.75% for those funds not 
subject to the growth interest rate hedge program.


•• adverse impacts of overall market declines in the third quarter of 
$13 million ($8 million after-tax), that include an increase in the 
provision for expected future partial surrenders and declines in the 
value of contractholders’ non-equity investments such as bond funds, 
neither of which are included in the hedge programs.


During 2010, the Company performed its periodic review of assumptions 
resulting in a charge of $52 million pre-tax ($34 million after-tax) to 
strengthen gMDb reserves. During 2010 current short-term interest 
rates had declined from the level anticipated at December 31, 2009, 
leading the Company to increase reserves. This interest rate risk was 
not even partially hedged at that time. The Company also updated 
the lapse assumption for policies that have already taken or may take 
a significant partial withdrawal, which had a lesser reserve impact.


During 2009, the Company reported a charge of $73 million pre-tax 
($47 million after-tax) to strengthen gMDb reserves. The reserve 
strengthening primarily reflected an increase in the provision for future 
partial surrenders due to market declines, adverse volatility-related impacts 
due to turbulent equity market conditions, and interest rate impacts.


activity in future policy benefit reserves for these gMDb contracts 
was as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
balance at January 1, $ 1,138 $ 1,285 $ 1,609
add: unpaid claims  37  36  34
Less: reinsurance and other amounts recoverable  51  53  83
balance at January 1, net  1,124  1,268  1,560
add: incurred benefits  138  (20)  (122)
Less: paid benefits  105  124  170
ending balance, net  1,157  1,124  1,268
Less: unpaid claims  40  37  36
add: reinsurance and other amounts recoverable  53  51  53
balance at December 31, $ 1,170 $ 1,138 $ 1,285


benefits paid and incurred are net of ceded amounts. incurred benefits 
reflect the (favorable) or unfavorable impact of a rising or falling equity 
market on the liability, and include the charges discussed above. Losses 
or gains have been recorded in other revenues as a result of the gMDb 
equity and growth interest rate hedge programs to reduce equity market 
and certain interest rate exposures.


The majority of the Company’s exposure arises under annuities that 
guarantee that the benefit received at death will be no less than the highest 
historical account value of the related mutual fund investments on a 
contractholder’s anniversary date. under this type of death benefit, the 
Company is liable to the extent the highest historical anniversary account 
value exceeds the fair value of the related mutual fund investments at 
the time of a contractholder’s death. other annuity designs that the 
Company reinsured guarantee that the benefit received at death will be:


•• the contractholder’s account value as of the last anniversary date 
(anniversary reset); or
•• no less than net deposits paid into the contract accumulated at a 
specified rate or net deposits paid into the contract.
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The table below presents the account value, net amount at risk and average attained age of underlying contractholders for guarantees in the event 
of death, by type of benefit as of December 31. The net amount at risk is the death benefit coverage in force or the amount that the Company 
would have to pay if all contractholders died as of the specified date, and represents the excess of the guaranteed benefit amount over the fair 
value of the underlying mutual fund investments.


(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010
highest anniversary annuity value     


account value $ 10,801 $ 13,336
net amount at risk $ 4,487 $ 4,372
average attained age of contractholders (weighted by exposure)  71  70


anniversary value reset     
account value $ 1,184 $ 1,396
net amount at risk $ 56 $ 52
average attained age of contractholders (weighted by exposure)  63  63


other     
account value $ 1,768 $ 1,864
net amount at risk $ 834 $ 755
average attained age of contractholders (weighted by exposure)  70  69


total     
account value $ 13,753 $ 16,596
net amount at risk $ 5,377 $ 5,179
average attained age of contractholders (weighted by exposure)  71  70
number of contractholders (approx.)  480,000  530,000


The Company has also written reinsurance contracts with issuers of variable annuity contracts that provide annuitants with certain guarantees 
related to minimum income benefits. all reinsured gMib policies also have a gMDb benefit reinsured by the Company. See note 10 for further 
information.


NOTE 7 Reinsurance


The Company’s insurance subsidiaries enter into agreements with other 
insurance companies to assume and cede reinsurance. reinsurance is 
ceded primarily to limit losses from large exposures and to permit recovery 
of a portion of direct losses. reinsurance is also used in acquisition 
and disposition transactions where the underwriting company is not 
being acquired. reinsurance does not relieve the originating insurer of 
liability. The Company regularly evaluates the financial condition of 
its reinsurers and monitors its concentrations of credit risk.


Retirement benefits business
The Company had reinsurance recoverables of $1.6 billion as of 
December 31, 2011, and $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2010 from 
prudential retirement insurance and annuity Company resulting 
from the 2004 sale of the retirement benefits business, which was 
primarily in the form of a reinsurance arrangement. The reinsurance 
recoverable, that is reduced as the Company’s reinsured liabilities are 
paid or directly assumed by the reinsurer, is secured primarily by fixed 
maturities equal to or greater than 100% of the reinsured liabilities. 
These fixed maturities are held in a trust established for the benefit of 
the Company. as of December 31, 2011, the fair value of trust assets 
exceeded the reinsurance recoverable.


Individual life and annuity reinsurance
The Company had reinsurance recoverables of $4.2 billion as of 
December 31, 2011 and $4.3 billion as of December 31, 2010 from 
The Lincoln national Life insurance Company and Lincoln Life & 


annuity of new York resulting from the 1998 sale of the Company’s 
individual life insurance and annuity business through indemnity 
reinsurance arrangements. The Lincoln national Life insurance Company 
and Lincoln Life & annuity of new York must maintain a specified 
minimum credit or claims paying rating or they will be required to fully 
secure the outstanding recoverable balance. as of December 31, 2011, 
both companies had ratings sufficient to avoid triggering a contractual 
obligation.


Other Ceded and Assumed Reinsurance


Ceded Reinsurance: Ongoing operations
The Company’s insurance subsidiaries have reinsurance recoverables 
from various reinsurance arrangements in the ordinary course of business 
for its health Care, Disability and Life, and international segments 
as well as the corporate-owned life insurance business. reinsurance 
recoverables of $277 million as of December 31, 2011 are expected 
to be collected from more than 70 reinsurers. The highest balance that 
a single reinsurer carried as of December 31, 2011 was $57 million. 
no other single reinsurer’s balance amounted to more than 12% of 
the total recoverable for ongoing operations.


The Company reviews its reinsurance arrangements and establishes 
reserves against the recoverables in the event that recovery is not 
considered probable. as of December 31, 2011, the Company’s 
recoverables related to these segments were net of a reserve of $4 million.
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Assumed and Ceded reinsurance: Run-off Reinsurance 
segment
The Company’s run-off reinsurance operations assumed risks related 
to gMDb contracts, gMib contracts, workers’ compensation, and 
personal accident business. The run-off reinsurance operations also 
purchased retrocessional coverage to reduce the risk of loss on these 
contracts. in December 2010, the Company entered into reinsurance 
arrangements to transfer the remaining liabilities and administration 
of the workers’ compensation and personal accident businesses to a 
subsidiary of enstar group Limited. under this arrangement, the new 
reinsurer also assumes the future risk of collection from prior reinsurers. 
See note 3 for further details regarding this arrangement.


Liabilities related to gMDb, workers’ compensation and personal 
accident are included in future policy benefits and unpaid claims. 
because the gMib contracts are treated as derivatives under gaap, 
the asset related to gMib is recorded in the other assets, including 
other intangibles caption and the liability related to gMib is recorded 
in accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities on the 
Company’s Consolidated balance Sheets (see notes 10 and 23 for 
additional discussion of the gMib assets and liabilities).


The reinsurance recoverables for gMDb, workers’ compensation, 
and personal accident total $252 million as of December 31, 2011. 
of this amount, approximately 93% are secured by assets in trust or 
letters of credit.


The Company reviews its reinsurance arrangements and establishes 
reserves against the recoverables in the event that recovery is not 


considered probable. as of December 31, 2011, the Company’s 
recoverables related to this segment were net of a reserve of $1 million.


The Company’s payment obligations for underlying reinsurance 
exposures assumed by the Company under these contracts are based on 
the ceding companies’ claim payments. for gMDb, claim payments 
vary because of changes in equity markets and interest rates, as well as 
mortality and contractholder behavior. any of these claim payments 
can extend many years into the future, and the amount of the ceding 
companies’ ultimate claims, and therefore, the amount of the Company’s 
ultimate payment obligations and corresponding ultimate collection 
from retrocessionaires, may not be known with certainty for some time.


Summary
The Company’s reserves for underlying reinsurance exposures assumed 
by the Company, as well as for amounts recoverable from reinsurers/
retrocessionaires for both ongoing operations and the run-off reinsurance 
operation, are considered appropriate as of December 31, 2011, based 
on current information. however, it is possible that future developments 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results 
of operations and, in certain situations, such as if actual experience differs 
from the assumptions used in estimating reserves for gMDb, could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition. The 
Company bears the risk of loss if its retrocessionaires do not meet or 
are unable to meet their reinsurance obligations to the Company.


in the Company’s Consolidated income Statements, premiums and fees 
were presented net of ceded premiums, and total benefits and expenses 
were presented net of reinsurance recoveries, in the following amounts:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Premiums and Fees       
Short-duration contracts:       
Direct $ 17,423 $ 16,611 $ 13,886
assumed  158  496  1,076
Ceded  (185)  (187)  (192)
  17,396  16,920  14,770
Long-duration contracts:       
Direct  1,919  1,687  1,499
assumed  36  36  33
Ceded:       
individual life insurance and annuity business sold  (203)  (195)  (209)
other  (59)  (55)  (52)
  1,693  1,473  1,271
totaL $ 19,089 $ 18,393 $ 16,041
reinsurance recoveries       
individual life insurance and annuity business sold $ 310 $ 321 $ 322
other  213  156  178
totaL $ 523 $ 477 $ 500


The decrease in assumed premiums in 2011 as compared to 2010 
primarily reflects the effect of the Company’s exit from a large, low-
margin assumed government life insurance program. The decrease in 
assumed premiums in 2010 as compared to 2009 primarily reflects 
the effect of the Company’s exit from two large, non-strategic assumed 
government life insurance programs as well as the transfer of policies 


assumed in the acquisition of great-West healthcare directly to one of 
the Company’s insurance subsidiaries in 2010. The effects of reinsurance 
on written premiums and fees for short-duration contracts were not 
materially different from the recognized premium and fee amounts 
shown in the table above.
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NOTE 8 Goodwill, Other Intangibles, and property and Equipment


goodwill primarily relates to the health Care segment ($2.9 billion) 
and, to a lesser extent, the international segment ($290 million) and 
increased by $45 million during 2011 primarily as a result of the 


acquisition of firstassist. The fair values of the Company’s health Care 
segment and international’s reporting unit are substantially in excess of 
their carrying values therefore the risk for future impairment is unlikely.


other intangible assets were comprised of the following at December 31:


(Dollars in millions) cost
accumulated 
amortization


net carrying 
Value


weighted 
average 


amortization 
Period (Years)


2011        
Customer relationships $ 583 $ 313 $ 270 13
other  127  27  100 12
total reported in other assets, including other intangibles  710  340  370  
internal-use software reported in property and equipment  1,600  1,054  546 5
totaL other intangiBLe aSSetS $ 2,310 $ 1,394 $ 916
2010        
Customer relationships $ 587 $ 277 $ 310 12
other  70  22  48 14
total reported in other assets, including other intangibles  657  299  358  
internal-use software reported in property and equipment  1,379  875  504 5
totaL other intangiBLe aSSetS $ 2,036 $ 1,174 $ 862


The increase in intangible assets in 2011 primarily relates to the acquisition of firstassist.


property and equipment was comprised of the following as of December 31:


(Dollars in millions) cost
accumulated 
amortization


net carrying 
Value


2011       
internal-use software $ 1,600 $ 1,054 $ 546
other property and equipment  1,285  807  478
totaL ProPertY and eQUiPment $ 2,885 $ 1,861 $ 1,024
2010       
internal-use software $ 1,379 $ 875 $ 504
other property and equipment  1,190  782  408
totaL ProPertY and eQUiPment $ 2,569 $ 1,657 $ 912


Depreciation and amortization was comprised of the following for the years ended December 31:


(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010 2009
internal-use software $ 187 $ 161 $ 147
other property and equipment  117  99  91
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment  304  260  238
other intangibles  41  32  30
totaL dePreciation and amortization $ 345 $ 292 $ 268


The Company estimates annual pre-tax amortization for intangible assets, including internal-use software, over the next five calendar years to be 
as follows: $231 million in 2012, $186 million in 2013, $139 million in 2014, $83 million in 2015, and $68 million in 2016.
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NOTE 9 pension and Other postretirement Benefit plans


A. pension and Other postretirement Benefit 
plans


The Company and certain of its subsidiaries provide pension, health 
care and life insurance defined benefits to eligible retired employees, 
spouses and other eligible dependents through various domestic and 
foreign plans. The effect of its foreign pension and other postretirement 
benefit plans is immaterial to the Company’s results of operations, 
liquidity and financial position. effective July 1, 2009, the Company 
froze its primary domestic defined benefit pension plans. a curtailment 


of benefits occurred as a result of this action since it eliminated the 
accrual of benefits for the future service of active employees enrolled in 
these domestic pension plans. accordingly, the Company recognized a 
pre-tax curtailment gain of $46 million ($30 million after-tax) in 2009.


The Company measures the assets and liabilities of its domestic pension 
and other postretirement benefit plans as of December 31. The following 
table summarizes the projected benefit obligations and assets related 
to the Company’s domestic and international pension and other 
postretirement benefit plans as of, and for the year ended, December 31:


(In millions)


Pension Benefits other Postretirement Benefits
2011 2010 2011 2010


change in benefit obligation         
benefit obligation, January 1 $ 4,691 $ 4,363 $ 444 $ 419
Service cost  2  2  2  1
interest cost  228  240  20  22
Loss from past experience  453  379  16  36
benefits paid from plan assets  (273)  (258)  (2)  (2)
benefits paid - other  (34)  (35)  (28)  (32)
benefit obligation, December 31  5,067  4,691  452  444
change in plan assets         
fair value of plan assets, January 1  3,163  2,850  23  24
actual return on plan assets  156  357  1  1
benefits paid  (273)  (258)  (2)  (2)
Contributions  252  214  -  -
fair value of plan assets, December 31  3,298  3,163  22  23
funded Status $ (1,769) $ (1,528) $ (430) $ (421)


The postretirement benefits liability adjustment included in accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of the following as of December 31:


(In millions)


Pension Benefits other Postretirement Benefits
2011 2010 2011 2010


unrecognized net gain (loss) $ (2,331) $ (1,805) $ (30) $ (14)
unrecognized prior service cost  (5)  (5)  35  51
PoStretirement BeneFitS LiaBiLitY adjUStment $ (2,336) $ (1,810) $ 5 $ 37


During 2011, the Company’s postretirement benefits liability adjustment increased by $558 million pre-tax ($360 million after-tax) resulting in 
a decrease to shareholders’ equity. The increase in the liability was primarily due to a decrease in the discount rate and actual investment returns 
significantly less than expected in 2011.


pension benefits
The Company’s pension plans were underfunded by $1.8 billion in 
2011 and $1.5 billion in 2010 and had related accumulated benefit 
obligations of $5.1 billion as of December 31, 2011 and $4.7 billion 
as of December 31, 2010.


The Company funds its qualified pension plans at least at the minimum 
amount required by the employee retirement income Security act of 
1974 and the pension protection act of 2006. for 2012, the Company 
expects to make minimum required and voluntary contributions totaling 
approximately $250 million. future years’ contributions will ultimately 
be based on a wide range of factors including but not limited to asset 
returns, discount rates, and funding targets.
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Components of net pension cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Service cost $ 2 $ 2 $ 43
interest cost  228  240  250
expected long-term return on plan assets  (267)  (253)  (239)
amortization of:       


net loss from past experience  38  28  34
prior service cost  -  -  (4)


Curtailment  -  -  (46)
net PenSion coSt $ 1 $ 17 $ 38


The Company expects to recognize pre-tax losses of $59 million in 
2012 from amortization of past experience. This estimate is based on a 
weighted average amortization period for the frozen and inactive plans 
of approximately 29 years, as this period is now based on the average 
expected remaining life of plan participants.


Other postretirement benefits
unfunded retiree health benefit plans had accumulated benefit 
obligations of $302 million at December 31, 2011, and $296 million 
at December 31, 2010. retiree life insurance plans had accumulated 
benefit obligations of $150 million as of December 31, 2011 and 
$148 million as of December 31, 2010.


Components of net other postretirement benefit cost for the years 
ended December 31 were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Service cost $ 2 $ 1 $ 1
interest cost  20  22  24
expected long-term return on plan assets  (1)  (1)  (1)
amortization of:       


net gain from past experience  -  -  (5)
prior service cost  (16)  (18)  (18)


net other PoStretirement BeneFit coSt $ 5 $ 4 $ 1


The Company expects to recognize in 2012 pre-tax gains of $12 million 
related to amortization of prior service cost and no pre-tax losses from 
amortization of past experience. The original amortization period is based 
on an average remaining service period of active employees associated 
with the other postretirement benefit plans of approximately 9 years. 
The weighted average remaining amortization period for prior service 
cost is approximately 2.5 years.


The estimated rate of future increases in the per capita cost of health 
care benefits is 8% in 2012, decreasing by 0.5% per year to 5% in 
2018 and beyond. This estimate reflects the Company’s current claim 
experience and management’s estimate that rates of growth will decline 
in the future. a 1% increase or decrease in the estimated rate would 
have changed 2011 reported amounts as follows:


(In millions) increase decrease
effect on total service and interest cost $ 1 $ (1)
effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 13 $ (11)


plan assets
The Company’s current target investment allocation percentages (37% 
equity securities, 30% fixed income, 15% securities partnerships, 10% 
hedge funds and 8% real estate) are developed by management as 
guidelines, although the fair values of each asset category are expected 
to vary as a result of changes in market conditions. The pension plan 
asset portfolio has been most heavily weighted towards equity securities, 
consisting of domestic and international investments, in an effort to 
earn a higher rate of return on pension plan investments over the long-
term payout period of the pension benefit obligations. During 2011, 
the Company modified its target investment allocations, reducing the 
target allocation to equity securities and increasing allocations to fixed 
income and other alternative investments, including hedge funds. The 
further diversification of the pension plan assets from equity securities 


into other investments is intended to mitigate the volatility in returns, 
while also providing adequate liquidity to fund benefit distributions.


as of December 31, 2011, pension plan assets included $3.0 billion 
invested in the separate accounts of Connecticut general Life insurance 
Company (“CgLiC”) and Life insurance Company of north america, 
which are subsidiaries of the Company, as well as an additional 
$0.4 billion invested directly in funds offered by the buyer of the 
retirement benefits business.


The fair values of plan assets by category and by the fair value hierarchy 
as defined by gaap are as follows. See note 10 for a description of 
how fair value is determined, including the level within the fair value 
hierarchy and the procedures the Company uses to validate fair value 
measurements.


  Contents  Q








89CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part ii 
ITEM 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data


december 31, 2011
(In millions)


Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 


identical assets
(Level 1)


Significant other 
observable inputs


(Level 2)


Significant 
Unobservable 


inputs
(Level 3) total


Plan assets at fair value:         
fixed maturities:         


federal government and agency $ - $ 5 $ - $ 5
Corporate  -  332  7  339
Mortgage and other asset-backed  -  8  2  10
fund investments and pooled separate accounts (1)  -  546  3  549


totaL Fixed matUritieS ‑ 891 12 903
equity securities:         


Domestic  1,153  1  14  1,168
international, including funds and pooled separate accounts (1)  141  137  -  278


totaL eQUitY SecUritieS 1,294 138 14 1,446
real estate and mortgage loans, including pooled separate accounts (1)  -  -  303  303
Securities partnerships  -  -  314  314
hedge funds  -  -  148  148
guaranteed deposit account contract  -  -  39  39
Cash equivalents  -  145  -  145
totaL PLan aSSetS at Fair VaLUe $ 1,294 $ 1,174 $ 830 $ 3,298
(1) A pooled separate account has several participating benefit plans and each owns a share of the total pool of investments.


december 31, 2010
(In millions)


Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 


identical assets
(Level 1)


Significant other 
observable inputs


(Level 2)


Significant 
Unobservable 


inputs
(Level 3) total


Plan assets at fair value:         
fixed maturities:         


federal government and agency $ - $ 8 $ - $ 8
Corporate  -  158  24  182
Mortgage and other asset-backed  -  4  -  4
fund investments and pooled separate accounts (1)  -  372  2  374


totaL Fixed matUritieS ‑ 542 26 568
equity securities:         


Domestic  1,445  -  20  1,465
international, including funds and pooled separate accounts (1)  208  218  -  426


totaL eQUitY SecUritieS 1,653 218 20 1,891
real estate and mortgage loans, including pooled separate accounts (1)  -  -  240  240
Securities partnerships  -  -  347  347
guaranteed deposit account contract  -  -  24  24
Cash equivalents  -  93  -  93
totaL PLan aSSetS at Fair VaLUe $ 1,653 $ 853 $ 657 $ 3,163
(1) A pooled separate account has several participating benefit plans and each owns a share of the total pool of investments.


plan assets in Level 1 include exchange-listed equity securities. Level 2 
assets primarily include:


•• fixed income and international equity funds priced using their daily 
net asset value which is the exit price; and
•• fixed maturities valued using recent trades of similar securities or 
pricing models as described below.


because many fixed maturities do not trade daily, fair values are often 
derived using recent trades of securities with similar features and 
characteristics. When recent trades are not available, pricing models 


are used to determine these prices. These models calculate fair values 
by discounting future cash flows at estimated market interest rates. 
Such market rates are derived by calculating the appropriate spreads 
over comparable u.S. treasury securities, based on the credit quality, 
industry and structure of the asset.


plan assets classified in Level 3 include securities partnerships, equity 
real estate and hedge funds generally valued based on the pension plan’s 
ownership share of the equity of the investee including changes in the 
fair values of its underlying investments.
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The following table summarizes the changes in pension plan assets classified in Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010. 
actual return on plan assets in this table may include changes in fair value that are attributable to both observable and unobservable inputs.


(In millions)


Fixed 
maturities 
& equity 
Securities


real estate 
& mortgage 


Loans
Securities 


Partnerships hedge Funds


guaranteed 
deposit 
account 


contract total
balance at January 1, 2011  $  46  $  240  $  347  $  -   $  24  $  657
actual return on plan assets:             


assets still held at the reporting date   1   44   66   (2)   3   112
assets sold during the period   18   -    -    -    -    18


totaL actUaL retUrn on PLan aSSetS   19   44   66   (2)   3  130
purchases, sales, settlements, net   (33)   21   (99)   150   12   51
transfers into/out of Level 3   (6)   (2)   -    -    -    (8)
balance at December 31, 2011 $  26 $  303 $  314 $  148 $  39 $  830


(In millions)


Fixed 
maturities & 


equity Securities
real estate & 


mortgage Loans
Securities 


Partnerships
guaranteed deposit 


account contract total
balance at January 1, 2010 $ 167 $ 160 $ 257 $ 29 $ 613
actual return on plan assets:           


assets still held at the reporting date  (15)  16  53  2  56
assets sold during the period  14  -  -  -  14


total actual return on plan assets  (1)  16  53  2  70
purchases, sales, settlements, net  (119)  64  37  (7)  (25)
transfers into/out of Level 3  (1)  -  -  -  (1)
balance at December 31, 2010 $ 46 $ 240 $ 347 $ 24 $ 657


The assets related to other postretirement benefit plans are invested in 
deposit funds with interest credited based on fixed income investments 
in the general account of CgLiC. as there are significant unobservable 
inputs used in determining the fair value of these assets, they are 
classified as Level 3. During 2011, these assets earned a return of 
$1 million, offset by a net withdrawal from the fund of $2 million, 
while during 2010, they earned a return of $1 million, offset by a net 
withdrawal of $2 million.


Assumptions for pension and other postretirement 
benefit plans
Management determined the present value of the projected benefit 
obligation and the accumulated other postretirement benefit obligation 
and related benefit costs based on the following weighted average 
assumptions as of and for the years ended December 31:


2011 2010
Discount rate:   


pension benefit obligation 4.00% 5.00%
other postretirement benefit obligation 3.75% 4.75%
pension benefit cost 5.00% 5.50%
other postretirement benefit cost 4.75% 5.25%


expected long-term return on plan assets:   
pension benefit cost 8.00% 8.00%
other postretirement benefit cost 5.00% 5.00%


expected rate of compensation increase:   
other postretirement benefit obligation 3.00% 3.00%
other postretirement benefit cost 3.00% 3.00%


Discount rates are set by applying actual annualized yields at various 
durations from the Citigroup pension Liability curve, without adjustment, 
to the expected cash flows of the postretirement benefits liabilities. The 
Company believes that the Citigroup pension Liability curve is the most 
representative curve to use because it is derived from a broad array of 
bonds in various industries throughout the domestic market for high 
quality bonds. further, Citigroup monitors the bond portfolio to ensure 


that only high quality issues are included. accordingly, the Company 
does not believe that any adjustment is required to the Citigroup curve.


expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were developed 
considering actual long-term historical returns, expected long-term 
market conditions, plan asset mix and management’s investment 
strategy, which includes a significant allocation to domestic and foreign 
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equity securities as well as real estate, securities partnerships and hedge 
funds. expected long-term market conditions take into consideration 
certain key macroeconomic trends including expected domestic and 
foreign gDp growth, employment levels and inflation. based on the 
Company’s current outlook, the expected return assumption is considered 
reasonable. The actual investment allocation at December 31, 2011 
is more heavily weighted towards equity securities than targeted. The 
Company expects the allocation of equity securities to move closer 
to target during 2012 as additional attractive alternative investments 
(securities partnerships and hedge funds) can be identified.


to measure pension costs, the Company uses a market-related asset 
valuation for domestic pension plan assets invested in non-fixed income 
investments. The market-related value of these pension assets recognizes 
the difference between actual and expected long-term returns in the 
portfolio over 5 years, a method that reduces the short-term impact 
of market fluctuations on pension cost. at December 31, 2011, the 
market-related asset value was approximately $3.4 billion compared 
with a market value of approximately $3.3 billion.


Benefit payments
The following benefit payments, including expected future services, are expected to be paid in:


(In millions) Pension Benefits


other Postretirement Benefits


gross
net of medicare 
Part d Subsidy


2012 $ 516 $ 43 $ 39
2013 $ 338 $ 41 $ 39
2014 $ 340 $ 40 $ 38
2015 $ 327 $ 39 $ 38
2016 $ 323 $ 38 $ 37
2017-2021 $ 1,577 $ 169 $ 162


B. 401(k) plans
The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan in which the Company matches 
a portion of employees’ pre-tax contributions. another 401(k) plan 
with an employer match was frozen in 1999. participants in the active 
plan may invest in various funds that invest in the Company’s common 
stock, several diversified stock funds, a bond fund or a fixed-income 
fund. in conjunction with the action to freeze the domestic defined 


benefit pension plans, effective January 1, 2010, the Company increased 
its matching contributions to 401(k) plan participants.


The Company may elect to increase its matching contributions if the 
Company’s annual performance meets certain targets. a substantial 
amount of the Company’s matching contributions are invested in the 
Company’s common stock. The Company’s expense for these plans was 
$72 million for 2011, $69 million for 2010 and $36 million for 2009.


NOTE 10 Fair value Measurements


The Company carries certain financial instruments at fair value in 
the financial statements including fixed maturities, equity securities, 
short-term investments and derivatives. other financial instruments are 
measured at fair value under certain conditions, such as when impaired.


fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the balance 
sheet date. a liability’s fair value is defined as the amount that would 
be paid to transfer the liability to a market participant, not the amount 
that would be paid to settle the liability with the creditor.


fair values are based on quoted market prices when available. When 
market prices are not available, fair value is generally estimated using 
discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating current market inputs 
for similar financial instruments with comparable terms and credit 
quality. in instances where there is little or no market activity for 
the same or similar instruments, the Company estimates fair value 
using methods, models and assumptions that the Company believes 
a hypothetical market participant would use to determine a current 
transaction price. These valuation techniques involve some level of 
estimation and judgment by the Company which becomes significant 
with increasingly complex instruments or pricing models.


The Company’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value have 
been classified based upon a hierarchy defined by gaap. The hierarchy 
gives the highest ranking to fair values determined using unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1) 
and the lowest ranking to fair values determined using methodologies 
and models with unobservable inputs (Level 3). an asset’s or a liability’s 
classification is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to 
its measurement. for example, a financial asset or liability carried at 
fair value would be classified in Level 3 if unobservable inputs were 
significant to the instrument’s fair value, even though the measurement 
may be derived using inputs that are both observable (Levels 1 and 2) 
and unobservable (Level 3).


The prices the Company uses to value its investment assets are 
representative of prices that would be received to sell the assets at the 
measurement date (exit prices) and are classified appropriately in the 
fair value hierarchy. The Company performs ongoing analyses of prices 
used to value invested assets to determine that they represent appropriate 
estimates of fair value. This process involves quantitative and qualitative 
analysis that is overseen by the Company’s investment professionals, 
including reviews of pricing methodologies, judgments of valuation 
inputs, and assessments of the significance of any unobservable inputs, 
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pricing statistics and trends. These reviews are also designed to ensure 
prices do not become stale, have reasonable explanations as to why 
they have changed from prior valuations, or require additional review 
of other anomalies. The Company also performs sample testing of sales 
values to confirm the accuracy of prior fair value estimates. exceptions 
identified during these processes indicate that adjustments to prices 
are infrequent and result in immaterial adjustments to valuations.


Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried 
at Fair value
The following tables provide information as of December 31, 2011 and 
December 31, 2010 about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 
carried at fair value. Similar disclosures for separate account assets, which 
are also recorded at fair value on the Company’s Consolidated balance 
Sheets, are provided separately as gains and losses related to these assets 
generally accrue directly to policyholders. in addition, note 9 contains 
similar disclosures for the Company’s pension plan assets.


december 31, 2011
(In millions)


Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 


identical assets
(Level 1)


Significant other 
observable inputs


(Level 2)


Significant 
Unobservable 


inputs
(Level 3) total


financial assets at fair value:         
fixed maturities:         


federal government and agency $ 217 $ 738 $ 3 $ 958
State and local government  -  2,456  -  2,456
foreign government  -  1,251  23  1,274
Corporate  -  10,132  381  10,513
federal agency mortgage-backed  -  9  -  9
other mortgage-backed  -  79  1  80
other asset-backed  -  363  564  927


total fixed maturities (1)  217  15,028  972  16,217
equity securities  3  67  30  100


Subtotal  220  15,095  1,002  16,317
Short-term investments  -  225  -  225
gMib assets (2)  -  -  712  712
other derivative assets (3)  -  45  -  45
totaL FinanciaL aSSetS at Fair VaLUe, excLUding 
SeParate accoUntS $ 220 $ 15,365 $ 1,714 $ 17,299
financial liabilities at fair value:         
gMib liabilities $ - $ - $ 1,333 $ 1,333
other derivative liabilities (3)  -  30  -  30
totaL FinanciaL LiaBiLitieS at Fair VaLUe $ ‑ $ 30 $ 1,333 $ 1,363
(1) Fixed maturities include $826 million of net appreciation required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-off settlement annuity business including $115 million of appreciation 


for securities classified in Level 3.
(2) The GMIB assets represent retrocessional contracts in place from two external reinsurers which cover 55% of the exposures on these contracts.
(3) Other derivative assets include $10 million of interest rate and foreign currency swaps qualifying as cash flow hedges and $35 million of interest rate swaps not designated as accounting 


hedges. Other derivative liabilities reflect foreign currency and interest rate swaps qualifying as cash flow hedges. See Note 12 for additional information.
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december 31, 2010
(In millions)


Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 


identical assets
(Level 1)


Significant other 
observable inputs


(Level 2)


Significant 
Unobservable 


inputs
(Level 3) total


financial assets at fair value:         
fixed maturities:         


federal government and agency $ 133 $ 550 $ 4 $ 687
State and local government  -  2,467  -  2,467
foreign government  -  1,137  17  1,154
Corporate  -  9,080  364  9,444
federal agency mortgage-backed  -  10  -  10
other mortgage-backed  -  85  3  88
other asset-backed  -  348  511  859


total fixed maturities (1)  133  13,677  899  14,709
equity securities  6  87  34  127


Subtotal  139  13,764  933  14,836
Short-term investments  -  174  -  174
gMib assets (2)  -  -  480  480
other derivative assets (3)  -  19  -  19
totaL FinanciaL aSSetS at Fair VaLUe, excLUding 
SeParate accoUntS $ 139 $ 13,957 $ 1,413 $ 15,509
financial liabilities at fair value:         
gMib liabilities $ - $ - $ 903 $ 903
other derivative liabilities (3)  -  32  -  32
totaL FinanciaL LiaBiLitieS at Fair VaLUe $ ‑ $ 32 $ 903 $ 935
(1) Fixed maturities include $443 million of net appreciation required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-off settlement annuity business including $74 million of appreciation 


for securities classified in Level 3.
(2) The GMIB assets represent retrocessional contracts in place from two external reinsurers which cover 55% of the exposures on these contracts.
(3) Other derivative assets include $16 million of interest rate and foreign currency swaps qualifying as cash flow hedges and $3 million of interest rate swaps not designated as accounting 


hedges. Other derivative liabilities reflect foreign currency and interest rate swaps qualifying as cash flow hedges. See Note 12 for additional information.


Level 1 Financial Assets
inputs for instruments classified in Level 1 include unadjusted quoted 
prices for identical assets in active markets accessible at the measurement 
date. active markets provide pricing data for trades occurring at least 
weekly and include exchanges and dealer markets.


assets in Level 1 include actively-traded u.S. government bonds and 
exchange-listed equity securities. given the narrow definition of Level 1 
and the Company’s investment asset strategy to maximize investment 
returns, a relatively small portion of the Company’s investment assets 
are classified in this category.


Level 2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
inputs for instruments classified in Level 2 include quoted prices 
for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices from 
those willing to trade in markets that are not active, or other inputs 
that are market observable or can be corroborated by market data 
for the term of the instrument. Such other inputs include market 
interest rates and volatilities, spreads and yield curves. an instrument 
is classified in Level 2 if the Company determines that unobservable 
inputs are insignificant.


Fixed maturities and equity securities. approximately 93% of the 
Company’s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities are 
classified in Level 2 including most public and private corporate debt and 
equity securities, federal agency and municipal bonds, non-government 


asset and mortgage-backed securities and preferred stocks. because many 
fixed maturities and preferred stocks do not trade daily, fair values are 
often derived using recent trades of securities with similar features and 
characteristics. When recent trades are not available, pricing models 
are used to determine these prices. These models calculate fair values 
by discounting future cash flows at estimated market interest rates. 
Such market rates are derived by calculating the appropriate spreads 
over comparable u.S. treasury securities, based on the credit quality, 
industry and structure of the asset. typical inputs and assumptions 
to pricing models include, but are not limited to, a combination of 
benchmark yields, reported trades, issuer spreads, liquidity, benchmark 
securities, bids, offers, reference data, and industry and economic events. 
for mortgage-backed securities, inputs and assumptions may also 
include characteristics of the issuer, collateral attributes, prepayment 
speeds and credit rating.


nearly all of these instruments are valued using recent trades or pricing 
models. Less than 1% of the fair value of investments classified in 
Level 2 represents foreign bonds that are valued, consistent with local 
market practice, using a single unadjusted market-observable input 
derived by averaging multiple broker-dealer quotes.


Short-term investments are carried at fair value, which approximates 
cost. on a regular basis the Company compares market prices for these 
securities to recorded amounts to validate that current carrying amounts 
approximate exit prices. The short-term nature of the investments and 
corroboration of the reported amounts over the holding period support 
their classification in Level 2.
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Other derivatives classified in Level 2 represent over-the-counter 
instruments such as interest rate and foreign currency swap contracts. 
fair values for these instruments are determined using market observable 
inputs including forward currency and interest rate curves and 
widely published market observable indices. Credit risk related to the 
counterparty and the Company is considered when estimating the fair 
values of these derivatives. however, the Company is largely protected 
by collateral arrangements with counterparties, and determined that 
no adjustment for credit risk was required as of December 31, 2011 
or December 31, 2010. The nature and use of these other derivatives 
are described in note 12.


Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Certain inputs for instruments classified in Level 3 are unobservable 
(supported by little or no market activity) and significant to their 
resulting fair value measurement. unobservable inputs reflect the 
Company’s best estimate of what hypothetical market participants 
would use to determine a transaction price for the asset or liability at 
the reporting date.


The Company classifies certain newly-issued, privately-placed, complex 
or illiquid securities, as well as assets and liabilities relating to gMib, 
in Level 3.


Fixed maturities and equity securities. approximately 6% of fixed 
maturities and equity securities are priced using significant unobservable 
inputs and classified in this category, including:


(In millions) december 31, 2011 december 31, 2010
other asset and mortgage-backed securities - valued using pricing models $ 565 $ 514
Corporate and government bonds - valued using pricing models  355  312
Corporate bonds - valued at transaction price  52  73
equity securities - valued at transaction price  30  34
totaL $ 1,002 $ 933


fair values of mortgage and asset-backed securities and corporate bonds 
are determined using pricing models that incorporate the specific 
characteristics of each asset and related assumptions including the 
investment type and structure, credit quality, industry and maturity 
date in comparison to current market indices, spreads and liquidity 
of assets with similar characteristics. for mortgage and asset-backed 
securities, inputs and assumptions to pricing may also include collateral 
attributes and prepayment speeds. recent trades in the subject security 
or similar securities are assessed when available, and the Company 
may also review published research, as well as the issuer’s financial 
statements, in its evaluation. Certain subordinated corporate bonds 
and private equity investments are valued at transaction price in the 
absence of market data indicating a change in the estimated fair values.


Guaranteed minimum income benefit contracts. because cash flows 
of the gMib liabilities and assets are affected by equity markets and 
interest rates but are without significant life insurance risk and are 
settled in lump sum payments, the Company reports these liabilities 
and assets as derivatives at fair value. The Company estimates the fair 
value of the assets and liabilities for gMib contracts using assumptions 
regarding capital markets (including market returns, interest rates and 
market volatilities of the underlying equity and bond mutual fund 
investments), future annuitant behavior (including mortality, lapse, 
and annuity election rates), and non-performance risk, as well as risk 
and profit charges. as certain assumptions used to estimate fair values 
for these contracts are largely unobservable (primarily related to future 
annuitant behavior), the Company classifies gMib assets and liabilities 
in Level 3. The Company considered the following in determining the 
view of a hypothetical market participant:


•• that the most likely transfer of these assets and liabilities would 
be through a reinsurance transaction with an independent insurer 
having a market capitalization and credit rating similar to that of 
the Company; and
•• that because this block of contracts is in run-off mode, an insurer 
looking to acquire these contracts would have similar existing contracts 
with related administrative and risk management capabilities.


These gMib assets and liabilities are calculated with a complex internal 
model using many scenarios to determine the fair value of net amounts 
estimated to be paid, less the fair value of net future premiums estimated 
to be received, adjusted for risk and profit charges that the Company 
anticipates a hypothetical market participant would require to assume 
this business. net amounts estimated to be paid represent the excess 
of the anticipated value of the income benefits over the values of the 
annuitants’ accounts at the time of annuitization. generally, market 
return, interest rate and volatility assumptions are based on market 
observable information. assumptions related to future annuitant behavior 
reflect the Company’s belief that a hypothetical market participant would 
consider the actual and expected experience of the Company as well as 
other relevant and available industry resources in setting policyholder 
behavior assumptions. The significant assumptions used to value the 
gMib assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2011 were as follows:


•• The market return and discount rate assumptions are based on the 
market-observable Libor swap curve.
•• The projected interest rate used to calculate the reinsured income 
benefits is indexed to the 7-year treasury rate at the time of 
annuitization (claim interest rate) based on contractual terms. That 
rate was 1.35% at December 31, 2011 and must be projected for 
future time periods. These projected rates vary by economic scenario 
and are determined by an interest rate model using current interest 
rate curves and the prices of instruments available in the market 
including various interest rate caps and zero-coupon bonds. for a 
subset of the business, there is a contractually guaranteed floor of 
3% for the claim interest rate.
•• The market volatility assumptions for annuitants’ underlying mutual 
fund investments that are modeled based on the S&p 500, russell 
2000 and naSDaQ Composite are based on the market-implied 
volatility for these indices for three to seven years grading to historical 
volatility levels thereafter. for the remaining 52% of underlying mutual 
fund investments modeled based on other indices (with insufficient 
market-observable data), volatility is based on the average historical 
level for each index over the past 10 years. using this approach, 
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volatility ranges from 16% to 36% for equity funds, 4% to 12% for 
bond funds, and 1% to 2% for money market funds.
•• The mortality assumption is 70% of the 1994 group annuity Mortality 
table, with 1% annual improvement beginning January 1, 2000.
•• The annual lapse rate assumption reflects experience that differs by 
the company issuing the underlying variable annuity contracts, ranges 
from 1% to 12% at December 31, 2011, and depends on the time 
since contract issue and the relative value of the guarantee.
•• The annual annuity election rate assumption reflects experience 
that differs by the company issuing the underlying variable annuity 
contracts and depends on the annuitant’s age, the relative value 
of the guarantee and whether a contractholder has had a previous 
opportunity to elect the benefit. immediately after the expiration 
of the waiting period, the assumed probability that an individual 
will annuitize their variable annuity contract is up to 80%. for the 
second and subsequent annual opportunities to elect the benefit, 
the assumed probability of election is up to 35%. actual data is still 
emerging for the Company as well as the industry and the estimates 
are based on this limited data.
•• The nonperformance risk adjustment is incorporated by adding an 
additional spread to the discount rate in the calculation of both (1) 
the gMib liability to reflect a hypothetical market participant’s 
view of the risk of the Company not fulfilling its gMib obligations, 
and (2) the gMib asset to reflect a hypothetical market participant’s 
view of the reinsurers’ credit risk, after considering collateral. The 
estimated market-implied spread is company-specific for each party 
involved to the extent that company-specific market data is available 
and is based on industry averages for similarly-rated companies when 
company-specific data is not available. The spread is impacted by 
the credit default swap spreads of the specific parent companies, 
adjusted to reflect subsidiaries’ credit ratings relative to their parent 
company and any available collateral. The additional spread over 
Libor incorporated into the discount rate ranged from 20 to 160 


basis points for the gMib liability and from 50 to 125 basis points 
for the gMib reinsurance asset for that portion of the interest rate 
curve most relevant to these policies.
•• The risk and profit charge assumption is based on the Company’s 
estimate of the capital and return on capital that would be required 
by a hypothetical market participant.


The Company regularly evaluates each of the assumptions used in 
establishing these assets and liabilities by considering how a hypothetical 
market participant would set assumptions at each valuation date. Capital 
markets assumptions are expected to change at each valuation date 
reflecting currently observable market conditions. other assumptions 
may also change based on a hypothetical market participant’s view of 
actual experience as it emerges over time or other factors that impact the 
net liability. if the emergence of future experience or future assumptions 
differs from the assumptions used in estimating these assets and liabilities, 
the resulting impact could be material to the Company’s consolidated 
results of operations, and in certain situations, could be material to 
the Company’s financial condition.


gMib liabilities are reported in the Company’s Consolidated balance 
Sheets in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities. 
gMib assets associated with these contracts represent net receivables 
in connection with reinsurance that the Company has purchased from 
two external reinsurers and are reported in the Company’s Consolidated 
balance Sheets in other assets, including other intangibles.


Changes in Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities Carried at Fair value
the following tables summarize the changes in financial assets 
and financial liabilities classified in Level 3 for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010. These tables exclude separate account assets 
as changes in fair values of these assets accrue directly to policyholders. 
gains and losses reported in this table may include changes in fair 
value that are attributable to both observable and unobservable inputs.


(In millions)


Fixed 
maturities & 


equity Securities gmiB assets gmiB Liabilities gmiB net
balance at January 1, 2011 $ 933 $ 480 $ (903) $ (423)
gains (losses) included in income:         


gMib fair value gain/(loss)  -  270  (504)  (234)
other  10  -  -  -


total gains (losses) included in shareholders’ net income  10  270  (504)  (234)
gains included in other comprehensive income  7  -  -  -
gains required to adjust future policy benefits for settlement annuities (1)  41  -  -  -
purchases, issuances, settlements:         


purchases  129  -  -  -
Sales  (20)  -  -  -
Settlements  (61)  (38)  74  36


total purchases, sales and settlements  48  (38)  74  36
transfers into/(out of ) Level 3:         


transfers into Level 3  81  -  -  -
transfers out of Level 3  (118)  -  -  -


total transfers into/(out of ) Level 3  (37)  -  -  -
balance at December 31, 2011 $ 1,002 $ 712 $ (1,333) $ (621)
total gains (losses) included in shareholders’ net income attributable 
to instruments held at the reporting date $ 6 $ 270 $ (504) $ (234)
(1) Amounts do not accrue to shareholders.
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(In millions)


Fixed 
maturities & 


equity Securities gmiB assets gmiB Liabilities gmiB net
balance at January 1, 2010 $ 845 $ 482 $ (903) $ (421)
gains (losses) included in income:         


gMib fair value gain/(loss)  -  57  (112)  (55)
other  27  -  -  -


total gains (losses) included in shareholders’ net income  27  57  (112)  (55)
gains included in other comprehensive income  10  -  -  -
gains required to adjust future policy benefits for settlement annuities (1)  34  -  -  -
purchases, issuances, settlements:         


purchases  39  -  -  -
Sales  (1)  -  -  -
Settlements  (112)  (59)  112  53


total purchases, sales, and settlements  (74)  (59)  112  53
transfers into/(out of ) Level 3:         


transfers into Level 3  155  -  -  -
transfers out of Level 3  (64)  -  -  -


total transfers into/(out of ) Level 3  91  -  -  -
balance at December 31, 2010 $ 933 $ 480 $ (903) $ (423)
total gains (losses) included in shareholders’ net income attributable 
to instruments held at the reporting date $ 18 $ 57 $ (112) $ (55)
(1) Amounts do not accrue to shareholders.


as noted in the tables above, total gains and losses included in net 
income are reflected in the following captions in the Consolidated 
Statements of income:


•• realized investment gains (losses) and net investment income for 
amounts related to fixed maturities and equity securities; and
•• gMib fair value (gain) loss for amounts related to gMib assets 
and liabilities.


reclassifications impacting Level 3 financial instruments are reported 
as transfers into or out of the Level 3 category as of the beginning of 
the quarter in which the transfer occurs. Therefore gains and losses 
in income only reflect activity for the quarters the instrument was 
classified in Level 3.


transfers into or out of the Level 3 category occur when unobservable 
inputs, such as the Company’s best estimate of what a market participant 
would use to determine a current transaction price, become more or 
less significant to the fair value measurement. for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, transfer activity between Level 3 and 
Level 2 primarily reflects changes in the level of unobservable inputs 
used to value certain private corporate bonds, principally related to 
credit risk of the issuers.


The Company provided reinsurance for other insurance companies that 
offer a guaranteed minimum income benefit, and then retroceded a 


portion of the risk to other insurance companies. These arrangements 
with third-party insurers are the instruments still held at the reporting 
date for gMib assets and liabilities in the table above. because these 
reinsurance arrangements remain in effect at the reporting date, the 
Company has reflected the total gain or loss for the period as the total 
gain or loss included in income attributable to instruments still held at 
the reporting date. however, the Company reduces the gMib assets 
and liabilities resulting from these reinsurance arrangements when 
annuitants lapse, die, elect their benefit, or reach the age after which 
the right to elect their benefit expires.


under faSb’s guidance for fair value measurements, the Company’s 
gMib assets and liabilities are expected to be volatile in future periods 
because the underlying capital markets assumptions will be based largely 
on market-observable inputs at the close of each reporting period 
including interest rates and market-implied volatilities.


gMib fair value losses of $234 million for 2011 were primarily due to 
a decline in both the interest rate used for projecting claim exposure 
(7-year treasury rates) and the rate used for projecting market returns 
and discounting (Libor swap curve).


gMib fair value losses of $55 million for 2010, were primarily due 
to declining interest rates, partially offset by increases in underlying 
account values resulting from favorable equity and bond fund returns, 
which resulted in decreased exposures.
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Separate account assets
fair values and changes in the fair values of separate account assets generally accrue directly to the policyholders and are excluded from the 
Company’s revenues and expenses. at December 31, separate account assets were as follows:


2011
(In millions)


Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 


identical assets
(Level 1)


Significant other 
observable inputs


(Level 2)


Significant 
Unobservable 


inputs
(Level 3) total


guaranteed separate accounts (See note 23) $ 249 $ 1,439 $ - $ 1,688
non-guaranteed separate accounts (1)  1,804  3,851  750  6,405
totaL SeParate accoUnt aSSetS $ 2,053 $ 5,290 $ 750 $ 8,093
(1) Non-guaranteed separate accounts include $3.0 billion in assets supporting the Company’s pension plan, including $702 million classified in Level 3.


2010
(In millions)


Quoted Prices in 
active markets for 


identical assets
(Level 1)


Significant other 
observable inputs


(Level 2)


Significant 
Unobservable 


inputs
(Level 3) total


guaranteed separate accounts (See note 23) $ 286 $ 1,418 $ - $ 1,704
non-guaranteed separate accounts (1)  1,947  3,663  594  6,204
totaL SeParate accoUnt aSSetS $ 2,233 $ 5,081 $ 594 $ 7,908
(1) Non-guaranteed separate accounts include $2.8 billion in assets supporting the Company’s pension plan, including $557 million classified in Level 3.


Separate account assets in Level 1 include exchange-listed equity 
securities. Level 2 assets primarily include:


•• corporate and structured bonds valued using recent trades of similar 
securities or pricing models that discount future cash flows at estimated 
market interest rates as described above; and
•• actively-traded institutional and retail mutual fund investments and separate 
accounts priced using the daily net asset value which is the exit price.


Separate account assets classified in Level 3 include investments primarily 
in securities partnerships, real estate and hedge funds generally valued 
based on the separate account’s ownership share of the equity of the 
investee including changes in the fair values of its underlying investments.


The following tables summarize the change in separate account assets 
reported in Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.


(In millions)


balance at January 1, 2011 $ 594
policyholder gains (1)  114
purchases, issuances, settlements:   
purchases  257
Sales  (51)
Settlements  (152)
total purchases, sales and settlements  54
transfers into/(out of ) Level 3:   


transfers into Level 3  4
transfers out of Level 3  (16)


total transfers into/(out of ) Level 3:  (12)
balance at December 31, 2011 $ 750
(1) Included in this amount are gains of $96 million attributable to instruments still held at the reporting date.
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(In millions)


balance at January 1, 2010 $ 550
policyholder gains (1)  71
purchases, issuances, settlements:   
purchases  211
Sales  (145)
Settlements  (76)
total purchases, sales and settlements  (10)
transfers into/(out of ) Level 3:   


transfers into Level 3  9
transfers out of Level 3  (26)


total transfers into/(out of ) Level 3:  (17)
balance at December 31, 2010 $ 594
(1) Included in this amount are gains of $53 million attributable to instruments still held at the reporting date.


Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair value under 
Certain Conditions
Some financial assets and liabilities are not carried at fair value each 
reporting period, but may be measured using fair value only under certain 
conditions, such as investments in commercial mortgage loans and real 
estate entities when they become impaired. During 2011, impaired 
commercial mortgage loans and real estate entities representing less 
than 1% of total investments were written down to their fair values, 
resulting in after-tax realized investment losses of $15 million.


During 2010, impaired commercial mortgage loans and real estate 
entities representing less than 1% of total investments were written 
down to their fair values, resulting in after-tax realized investment 
losses of $25 million.


These fair values were calculated by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at estimated market interest rates. Such market rates were 


derived by calculating the appropriate spread over comparable u.S. 
treasury rates, based on the characteristics of the underlying real estate, 
including its type, quality and location. The fair value measurements 
were classified in Level 3 because these cash flow models incorporate 
significant unobservable inputs.


Fair value Disclosures for Financial Instruments 
Not Carried at Fair value
Most financial instruments that are subject to fair value disclosure 
requirements are carried in the Company’s Consolidated financial 
Statements at amounts that approximate fair value. The following table 
provides the fair values and carrying values of the Company’s financial 
instruments not recorded at fair value that are subject to fair value 
disclosure requirements at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.


(In millions)


december 31, 2011 december 31, 2010
Fair Value carrying Value Fair Value carrying Value


Commercial mortgage loans $ 3,380 $ 3,301 $ 3,470 $ 3,486
Contractholder deposit funds, excluding universal life products $ 1,056 $ 1,035 $ 1,001 $ 989
Long-term debt, including current maturities, excluding capital leases $ 5,281 $ 4,946 $ 2,926 $ 2,709


The fair values presented in the table above have been estimated using 
market information when available. The following is a description 
of the valuation methodologies and inputs used by the Company to 
determine fair value.


Commercial mortgage loans. The Company estimates the fair value of 
commercial mortgage loans generally by discounting the contractual 
cash flows at estimated market interest rates that reflect the Company’s 
assessment of the credit quality of the loans. Market interest rates are 
derived by calculating the appropriate spread over comparable u.S. 
treasury rates, based on the property type, quality rating and average 
life of the loan. The quality ratings reflect the relative risk of the 
loan, considering debt service coverage, the loan-to-value ratio and 
other factors. fair values of impaired mortgage loans are based on the 
estimated fair value of the underlying collateral generally determined 
using an internal discounted cash flow model.


Contractholder deposit funds, excluding universal life products. 
generally, these funds do not have stated maturities. approximately 
50% of these balances can be withdrawn by the customer at any time 


without prior notice or penalty. The fair value for these contracts 
is the amount estimated to be payable to the customer as of the 
reporting date, which is generally the carrying value. Most of the 
remaining contractholder deposit funds are reinsured by the buyers 
of the individual life insurance and annuity and retirement benefits 
businesses. The fair value for these contracts is determined using the 
fair value of these buyers’ assets supporting these reinsured contracts. 
The Company had a reinsurance recoverable equal to the carrying value 
of these reinsured contracts.


Long-term debt, including current maturities, excluding capital 
leases. The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market 
prices for recent trades. When quoted market prices are not available, 
fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis and the 
Company’s estimated current borrowing rate for debt of similar terms 
and remaining maturities.


fair values of off-balance sheet financial instruments were not material.
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NOTE 11 Investments


A. Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities
Securities in the following table are included in fixed maturities and equity securities on the Company’s Consolidated balance Sheets. These 
securities are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reported in other realized investment gains (losses) and interest and dividends reported 
in net investment income. The Company’s hybrid investments include certain preferred stock or debt securities with call or conversion features.


(In millions) 2011 2010
included in fixed maturities:     


trading securities (amortized cost: $2; $3) $ 2 $ 3
hybrid securities (amortized cost: $26; $45)  28  52


totaL $ 30 $ 55
included in equity securities:     


hybrid securities (amortized cost: $90; $108) $ 65 $ 86


fixed maturities included $79 million at December 31, 2011 and 
$98 million at December 31, 2010, which were pledged as collateral to 
brokers as required under certain futures contracts. These fixed maturities 
were primarily federal government securities at December 31, 2011 
and primarily corporate securities at December 31, 2010.


The following information about fixed maturities excludes trading and 
hybrid securities. The amortized cost and fair value by contractual maturity 
periods for fixed maturities were as follows at December 31, 2011:


(In millions) amortized cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 955 $ 967
Due after one year through five years  4,719  5,060
Due after five years through ten years  4,997  5,581
Due after ten years  2,699  3,565
Mortgage and other asset-backed securities  859  1,014
totaL $ 14,229 $ 16,187


actual maturities could differ from contractual maturities because 
issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations, with or without 
penalties. also, in some cases the Company may extend maturity dates.


gross unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturities by 
type of issuer is shown below (excluding trading securities and hybrid 
securities with a fair value of $30 million at December 31, 2011 and 
$55 million at December 31, 2010).


(In millions) amortized cost


december 31, 2011
Unrealized 


appreciation
Unrealized 


depreciation Fair Value
federal government and agency $ 552 $ 406 $ - $ 958
State and local government  2,185  274  (3)  2,456
foreign government  1,173  103  (2)  1,274
Corporate  9,460  1,070  (45)  10,485
federal agency mortgage-backed  9  -  -  9
other mortgage-backed  73  10  (4)  79
other asset-backed  777  160  (11)  926
totaL $ 14,229 $ 2,023 $ (65) $ 16,187


(In millions) amortized cost


december 31, 2010
Unrealized 


appreciation
Unrealized 


depreciation Fair Value
federal government and agency $ 459 $ 229 $ (1) $ 687
State and local government  2,305  172  (10)  2,467
foreign government  1,095  63  (4)  1,154
Corporate  8,697  744  (49)  9,392
federal agency mortgage-backed  9  1  -  10
other mortgage-backed  80  10  (3)  87
other asset-backed  752  117  (12)  857
totaL $ 13,397 $ 1,336 $ (79) $ 14,654
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The above table includes investments with a fair value of $3 billion supporting the Company’s run-off settlement annuity business, with gross unrealized 
appreciation of $851 million and gross unrealized depreciation of $25 million at December 31, 2011. Such unrealized amounts are required to support future 
policy benefit liabilities of this business and, as such, are not included in accumulated other comprehensive income. at December 31, 2010, investments 
supporting this business had a fair value of $2.5 billion, gross unrealized appreciation of $476 million and gross unrealized depreciation of $33 million.


as of December 31, 2011, the Company had commitments to purchase $16 million of fixed maturities bearing interest at a fixed market rate.


Review of declines in fair value
Management reviews fixed maturities with a decline in fair value from cost for impairment based on criteria that include:


•• length of time and severity of decline;
•• financial health and specific near term prospects of the issuer;
•• changes in the regulatory, economic or general market environment of the issuer’s industry or geographic region; and
•• the Company’s intent to sell or the likelihood of a required sale prior to recovery.


excluding trading and hybrid securities, as of December 31, 2011, fixed maturities with a decline in fair value from amortized cost (which were 
primarily investment grade corporate bonds) were as follows, including the length of time of such decline:


(Dollars in millions)


december 31, 2011


Fair Value amortized cost
Unrealized 


depreciation
number of 


issues
fixed maturities:        
one year or less:        


investment grade $ 572 $ 591 $ (19) 167
below investment grade $ 75 $ 80 $ (5) 52


More than one year:        
investment grade $ 268 $ 300 $ (32) 62
below investment grade $ 28 $ 37 $ (9) 13


as of December 31, 2011, the unrealized depreciation of investment grade fixed maturities is primarily due to increases in market yields since 
purchase. excluding trading and hybrid securities, equity securities with a fair value lower than cost were not material at December 31, 2011.


B. Commercial Mortgage Loans
Mortgage loans held by the Company are made exclusively to commercial borrowers and are diversified by property type, location and borrower. 
Loans are secured by high quality, primarily completed and substantially leased operating properties, generally carried at unpaid principal balances 
and issued at a fixed rate of interest.


at December 31, commercial mortgage loans were distributed among the following property types and geographic regions:


(In millions) 2011 2010
Property type     
office buildings $ 1,014 $ 1,043
apartment buildings  705  835
industrial  670  619
hotels  542  533
retail facilities  297  418
other  73  38
totaL $ 3,301 $ 3,486
geographic region     
pacific $ 893 $ 931
South atlantic  870  752
new england  450  585
Central  511  519
Middle atlantic  391  385
Mountain  186  314
totaL $ 3,301 $ 3,486
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at December 31, 2011, scheduled commercial mortgage loan maturities 
were as follows (in millions): $529 in 2012, $525 in 2013, $329 in 
2014, $372 in 2015 and $1,546 thereafter. actual maturities could differ 
from contractual maturities for several reasons: borrowers may have the 
right to prepay obligations, with or without prepayment penalties; the 
maturity date may be extended; and loans may be refinanced.


as of December 31, 2011, the Company had commitments to extend 
credit under commercial mortgage loan agreements of $162 million 
that were diversified by property type and geographic region.


Credit quality
The Company applies a consistent and disciplined approach to evaluating 
and monitoring credit risk, beginning with the initial underwriting of a 
mortgage loan and continuing throughout the investment holding period. 
Mortgage origination professionals employ an internal rating system 
developed from the Company’s experience in real estate investing and 
mortgage lending. a quality rating, designed to evaluate the relative risk 
of the transaction, is assigned at each loan’s origination and is updated 


each year as part of the annual portfolio loan review. The Company 
monitors credit quality on an ongoing basis, classifying each loan as 
a loan in good standing, potential problem loan or problem loan.


Quality ratings are based on internal evaluations of each loan’s specific 
characteristics considering a number of key inputs, including real 
estate market-related factors such as rental rates and vacancies, and 
property-specific inputs such as growth rate assumptions and lease 
rollover statistics. however, the two most significant contributors to 
the credit quality rating are the debt service coverage and loan-to-value 
ratios. The debt service coverage ratio measures the amount of property 
cash flow available to meet annual interest and principal payments on 
debt. a debt service coverage ratio below 1.0 indicates that there is not 
enough cash flow to cover the loan payments. The loan-to-value ratio, 
commonly expressed as a percentage, compares the amount of the loan 
to the fair value of the underlying property collateralizing the loan.


The following tables summarize the credit risk profile of the Company’s 
commercial mortgage loan portfolio using carrying values classified 
based on loan-to-value and debt service coverage ratios, as of 
December 31, 2011 and 2010:


Loan‑to‑Value ratios
(In millions)


december 31, 2011
debt Service coverage ratio


total1.30x or greater 1.20x to 1.29x 1.10x to 1.19x 1.00x to 1.09x Less than 1.00x
below 50% $ 225 $ 55 $ 3 $ 50 $ 9 $ 342
50% to 59%  444  47  26  -  53  570
60% to 69%  646  140  42  -  77  905
70% to 79%  117  132  120  159  33  561
80% to 89%  99  81  79  72  71  402
90% to 99%  36  35  30  58  116  275
100% or above  -  10  50  51  135  246
totaL $ 1,567 $ 500 $ 350 $ 390 $ 494 $ 3,301


Loan‑to‑Value ratios
(In millions)


december 31, 2010
debt Service coverage ratio


total1.30x or greater 1.20x to 1.29x 1.10x to 1.19x 1.00x to 1.09x Less than 1.00x
below 50% $ 324 $ - $ - $ - $ 29 $ 353
50% to 59%  409  54  56  -  -  519
60% to 69%  533  73  5  28  25  664
70% to 79%  138  79  57  55  11  340
80% to 89%  267  186  165  151  69  838
90% to 99%  15  54  181  185  135  570
100% or above  -  -  47  43  112  202
totaL $ 1,686 $ 446 $ 511 $ 462 $ 381 $ 3,486


The Company’s annual in-depth review of its commercial mortgage 
loan investments is the primary mechanism for identifying emerging 
risks in the portfolio. The most recent review was completed by the 
Company’s investment professionals in the second quarter of 2011 
and included an analysis of each underlying property’s most recent 
annual financial statements, rent rolls, operating plans, budgets, 
a physical inspection of the property and other pertinent factors. 
based on historical results, current leases, lease expirations and rental 
conditions in each market, the Company estimates the current year 
and future stabilized property income and fair value, and categorizes 
the investments as loans in good standing, potential problem loans or 
problem loans. based on property valuations and cash flows estimated 


as part of this review, and considering updates for loans where material 
changes were subsequently identified, the portfolio’s average loan-to-
value ratio improved to 70% at December 31, 2011, decreasing from 
74% as of December 31, 2010. The portfolio’s average debt service 
coverage ratio was estimated to be 1.40 at December 31, 2011, a slight 
increase from 1.38 at December 31, 2010.


Quality ratings are adjusted between annual reviews if new property 
information is received or events such as delinquency or a borrower 
request for restructure cause management to believe that the Company’s 
estimate of financial performance, fair value or the risk profile of the 
underlying property has been impacted.
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During the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, the Company 
restructured a $65 million potential problem mortgage loan. The 
original loan was modified into two notes, including a $55 million 
loan at current market terms and a $10 million loan issued at a below 
market interest rate. This modification was considered a troubled debt 
restructuring because the borrower was experiencing financial difficulties 
and a concession was granted as the second loan was issued at a below 
market interest rate. no valuation reserve was required because the fair 
value of the underlying property exceeds the total outstanding loans. 
as a part of this restructuring, both the borrower and the Company 
have committed to fund additional capital for leasing and capital 
requirements.


other loans were modified during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011, but were not considered troubled debt restructures. 
The impact of modifications to these loans was not material to the 
Company’s results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.


potential problem mortgage loans are considered current (no payment 
more than 59 days past due), but exhibit certain characteristics that 
increase the likelihood of future default. The characteristics management 
considers include, but are not limited to, the deterioration of debt 
service coverage below 1.0, estimated loan-to-value ratios increasing 
to 100% or more, downgrade in quality rating and request from the 
borrower for restructuring. in addition, loans are considered potential 
problems if principal or interest payments are past due by more than 
30 but less than 60 days. problem mortgage loans are either in default 
by 60 days or more or have been restructured as to terms, which could 
include concessions on interest rate, principal payment or maturity 


date. The Company monitors each problem and potential problem 
mortgage loan on an ongoing basis, and updates the loan categorization 
and quality rating when warranted.


problem and potential problem mortgage loans, net of valuation 
reserves, totaled $336 million at December 31, 2011 and $383 million 
at December 31, 2010. at December 31, 2011, mortgage loans 
collateralized by industrial properties represent the most significant 
component of problem and potential problem mortgage loans, with 
no significant concentration by geographic region. There were no 
significant concentrations by property type or geographic region at 
December 31, 2010.


Impaired commercial mortgage loans
a commercial mortgage loan is considered impaired when it is probable 
that the Company will not collect all amounts due (principal and 
interest) according to the terms of the original loan agreement. The 
Company assesses each loan individually for impairment, utilizing the 
information obtained from the quality review process discussed above. 
impaired loans are carried at the lower of unpaid principal balance or 
the fair value of the underlying real estate. Certain commercial mortgage 
loans without valuation reserves are considered impaired because the 
Company will not collect all interest due according to the terms of 
the original agreements; however, the Company does expect to recover 
their remaining carrying value primarily because it is less than the fair 
value of the underlying real estate.


The carrying value of the Company’s impaired commercial mortgage 
loans and related valuation reserves were as follows:


(In millions)


2011 2010
gross reserves net gross reserves net


impaired commercial mortgage 
loans with valuation reserves $ 154 $ (19) $ 135 $ 47 $ (12) $ 35
impaired commercial mortgage 
loans with no valuation reserves  60  -  60  60  -  60
totaL $ 214 $ (19) $ 195 $ 107 $ (12) $ 95


The average recorded investment in impaired loans was $176 million 
during 2011 and $169 million during 2010. The Company recognizes 
interest income on problem mortgage loans only when payment is 
actually received because of the risk profile of the underlying investment. 
interest income that would have been reflected in net income if interest 
on non-accrual commercial mortgage loans had been received in 


accordance with the original terms was not significant for 2011 or 
2010. interest income on impaired commercial mortgage loans was 
not significant for 2011 or 2010.


The following table summarizes the changes in valuation reserves for 
commercial mortgage loans:


(In millions) 2011 2010
reserve balance, January 1, $ 12 $ 17
increase in valuation reserves  16  24
Charge-offs upon sales and repayments, net of recoveries  (1)  (12)
transfers to foreclosed real estate  (8)  (17)
reSerVe BaLance, decemBer 31, $ 19 $ 12
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C. Real Estate
as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, real estate investments consisted primarily of office and industrial buildings in California. investments 
with a carrying value of $49 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 were non-income producing during the preceding twelve months. as 
of December 31, 2011, the Company had commitments to contribute additional equity of $9 million to real estate investments.


D. Other Long-Term Investments
as of December 31, other long-term investments consisted of the following:


(In millions) 2011 2010
real estate entities $ 665 $ 394
Securities partnerships  298  288
interest rate and foreign currency swaps  12  19
Mezzanine loans  31  13
other  52  45
totaL $ 1,058 $ 759


investments in real estate entities and securities partnerships with a 
carrying value of $171 million at December 31, 2011 and $169 million 
at December 31, 2010 were non-income producing during the preceding 
twelve months.


as of December 31, 2011, the Company had commitments to contribute:


•• $165 million to limited liability entities that hold either real estate 
or loans to real estate entities that are diversified by property type 
and geographic region; and
•• $242 million to entities that hold securities diversified by issuer and 
maturity date.


The Company expects to disburse approximately 50% of the committed 
amounts in 2012.


E. Short-Term Investments and Cash 
Equivalents


Short-term investments and cash equivalents included corporate 
securities of $4.1 billion, federal government securities of $164 million 
and money market funds of $40 million as of December 31, 2011. 
The Company’s short-term investments and cash equivalents as of 
December 31, 2010 included corporate securities of $1.1 billion, 
federal government securities of $137 million and money market 
funds of $40 million. The increase during 2011 is primarily due to 
proceeds from the Company’s debt and equity issuances that were 
used to partially fund the healthSpring acquisition. See note 3 for 
further information.


F. Concentration of Risk
as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company did not have a concentration of investments in a single issuer or borrower exceeding 10% 
of shareholders’ equity.


NOTE 12 Derivative Financial Instruments


The Company has written and purchased reinsurance contracts under 
its run-off reinsurance segment that are accounted for as free standing 
derivatives. The Company also uses derivative financial instruments 
to manage the equity, foreign currency, and certain interest rate risk 
exposures of its run-off reinsurance segment. in addition, the Company 
uses derivative financial instruments to manage the characteristics of 
investment assets to meet the varying demands of the related insurance 
and contractholder liabilities. See note 2 for information on the 
Company’s accounting policy for derivative financial instruments. 
Derivatives in the Company’s separate accounts are excluded from 
the following discussion because associated gains and losses generally 
accrue directly to separate account policyholders.


Collateral and termination features. The Company routinely monitors 
exposure to credit risk associated with derivatives and diversifies the 
portfolio among approved dealers of high credit quality to minimize this 
risk. Certain of the Company’s over-the-counter derivative instruments 
contain provisions requiring either the Company or the counterparty 


to post collateral or demand immediate payment depending on the 
amount of the net liability position and predefined financial strength 
or credit rating thresholds. Collateral posting requirements vary by 
counterparty. The net liability positions of these derivatives were not 
material as of December 31, 2011 or 2010.


Derivative instruments associated with the Company’s 
run-off reinsurance segment


Guaranteed Minimum Income Benefits (GMIB)
purpose. The Company has written reinsurance contracts with issuers 
of variable annuity contracts that provide annuitants with certain 
guarantees of minimum income benefits resulting from the level of 
variable annuity account values compared with a contractually guaranteed 
amount (“gMib liabilities”). according to the contractual terms of the 
written reinsurance contracts, payment by the Company depends on 
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the actual account value in the underlying mutual funds and the level 
of interest rates when the contractholders elect to receive minimum 
income payments. The Company has purchased retrocessional coverage 
for a portion of these contracts to reduce a portion of the risks assumed 
(“gMib assets”).


Accounting policy. because cash flows are affected by equity markets 
and interest rates, but are without significant life insurance risk and are 
settled in lump sum payments, the Company accounts for these gMib 
liabilities and assets as written and purchased options at fair value. 
These derivatives are not designated as hedges and their fair values are 
reported in other liabilities (gMib liability) and other assets (gMib 
asset), with changes in fair value reported in gMib fair value (gain) loss. 


Cash flows. under the terms of these written and purchased contracts, 
the Company periodically receives and pays fees based on either 


contractholders’ account values or deposits increased at a contractual 
rate. The Company will also pay and receive cash depending on changes 
in account values and interest rates when contractholders first elect 
to receive minimum income payments. These cash flows are reported 
in operating activities.


Volume of activity. The potential undiscounted future payments for 
the written options (gMib liability, as defined in note 23) was 
$1,244 million as of December 31, 2011 and $1,134 million as 
of December 31, 2010. The potential undiscounted future receipts 
for the purchased options (gMib asset) was $684 million as of 
December 31, 2011 and $624 million as of December 31, 2010.


The following table provides the effect of these derivative instruments 
on the financial statements for the indicated periods:


Fair Value effect on the Financial Statements (In millions)


instrument


other assets, 
including other intangibles


accounts Payable, accrued expenses 
and other Liabilities gmiB Fair Value (gain) Loss


as of december 31, as of december 31, For the years ended december 31,
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010


Written options (gMib liability)     $ 1,333 $ 903 $ 504 $ 112
purchased options (gMib asset) $ 712 $ 480      (270)  (57)
totaL $ 712 $ 480 $ 1,333 $ 903 $ 234 $ 55


GMDB and GMIB Hedge Programs
Purpose. The Company also uses derivative financial instruments under 
a dynamic hedge program designed to substantially reduce domestic 
and international equity market exposures resulting from changes in 
variable annuity account values based on underlying mutual funds for 
certain reinsurance contracts that guarantee minimum death benefits 
(“gMDb”). During the first quarter of 2011, the Company expanded 
this hedge program to include a portion (approximately one-quarter) 
of the equity market exposures associated with its gMib business 
(“gMDb and gMib equity hedge program”). The Company also 
implemented a dynamic hedge program to reduce the exposure to changes 
in interest rate levels on the growth rate for approximately one-third 
of its gMDb and one-quarter of its gMib businesses (“gMDb and 
gMib growth interest rate hedge program”). These hedge programs 
are dynamic because the Company will regularly rebalance the hedging 
instruments within established parameters as equity and interest rate 
exposures of these businesses change.


The Company manages these hedge programs using exchange-traded 
equity, foreign currency, and interest rate futures contracts, as well as 
interest rate swap contracts. These contracts are generally expected to 
rise in value as equity markets and interest rates decline, and decline 
in value as equity markets and interest rates rise.


Accounting policy. These hedge programs are not designated as accounting 
hedges. although these hedge programs effectively reduce equity 
market, foreign currency, and interest rate exposures, changes in the 


fair values of these futures and swap contracts may not exactly offset 
changes in the portions of the gMDb and gMib liabilities covered by 
these hedges, in part because the market does not offer contracts that 
exactly match the targeted exposure profile. Changes in fair value of 
these futures contracts, as well as interest income and interest expense 
relating to the swap contracts are reported in other revenues. The fair 
values of the interest rate swaps are reported in other assets and other 
liabilities. amounts reflecting corresponding changes in liabilities for 
gMDb contracts are included in benefits and expenses.


Cash flows. The Company receives or pays cash daily in the amount 
of the change in fair value of the futures contracts. The Company 
periodically exchanges cash flows between variable and fixed interest 
rates under the interest rate swap contracts. Cash flows relating to these 
contracts are included in operating activities.


Volume of activity. The notional value of the equity and currency 
futures contracts used in the gMDb and gMib equity hedge program 
was $994 million as of December 31, 2011, and $878 million as of 
December 31, 2010. equity futures consist primarily of S&p 500, 
S&p 400, russell 2000, naSDaQ, topiX (Japanese), euroStoXX 
and ftSe (british) equity indices. Currency futures consist of euros, 
Japanese yen and british pounds. The notional value of the interest rate 
swaps used in the gMDb and gMib growth interest rate hedge program 
was $240 million as of December 31, 2011. The notional value was 
$29 million for u.S. treasury and $598 million for eurodollar interest 
rate futures contracts used by this program as of December 31, 2011.
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The following tables provide the effect of these derivative instruments on the financial statements for the indicated periods:


Fair Value effect on the Financial Statements (In millions)
other revenues


For the years ended december 31,
2011 2010


equity and currency futures for gMDb exposures $ (45) $ (157)
equity and currency futures for gMib exposures  4   
totaL eQUitY and cUrrencY FUtUreS $ (41) $ (157)


other assets, 
including other intangibles other revenues


as of december 31, 2011
For the year ended 


december 31, 2011
interest rate swaps $ 33 $ 39
interest rate futures (1)  -  (2)
totaL intereSt rate SwaPS and FUtUreS $ 33 $ 37
interest rate derivatives for gMDb exposures   $ 31
interest rate derivatives for gMib exposures    6
totaL intereSt rate SwaPS and FUtUreS $ 37
(1) Balance sheet presentation of amounts receivable or payable relating to futures daily variation margin are not fair values and are excluded from this table.


See notes 6 and 10 for further details regarding these businesses.


Derivative instruments used in the Company’s 
investment risk management
Derivative financial instruments are also used by the Company as 
a part of its investment strategy to manage the characteristics of 
investment assets (such as duration, yield, currency and liquidity) to 
meet the varying demands of the related insurance and contractholder 
liabilities (such as paying claims, investment returns and withdrawals). 
Derivatives are typically used in this strategy to minimize interest rate 
and foreign currency risks.


Investment Cash Flow Hedges
Purpose. The Company uses interest rate, foreign currency, and 
combination (interest rate and foreign currency) swap contracts to 


hedge the interest and/or foreign currency cash flows of its fixed 
maturity bonds to match associated insurance liabilities.


Accounting policy. using cash flow hedge accounting, fair values 
are reported in other long-term investments or other liabilities and 
accumulated other comprehensive income and amortized into net 
investment income or reported in other realized investment gains and 
losses as interest or principal payments are received. net interest cash 
flows are reported in operating activities.


Cash flows. under the terms of these various contracts, the Company 
periodically exchanges cash flows between variable and fixed interest 
rates and/or between two currencies for both principal and interest. 
foreign currency swaps are primarily euros, australian dollars, Canadian 
dollars, Japanese yen, and british pounds, and have terms for periods 
of up to 10 years.


Volume of activity. The following table provides the notional values of 
these derivative instruments for the indicated periods:


instrument


notional amount (In millions)
as of december 31,


2011 2010
interest rate swaps $ 134 $ 153
foreign currency swaps  134  159
Combination interest rate and foreign currency swaps  64  64
totaL $ 332 $ 376
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The following table provides the effect of these derivative instruments on the financial statements for the indicated periods:


Fair Value effect on the Financial Statements (In millions)


instrument


other Long‑term investments
accounts Payable, accrued expenses 


and other Liabilities
gain (Loss) recognized in other 


comprehensive income (1)


as of december 31, as of december 31, For the years ended december 31,
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010


interest rate swaps $ 7 $ 10 $ - $ - $ (3) $ 2
foreign currency swaps  3  6  19  20  (1)  10
Combination interest rate and 
foreign currency swaps  -  -  11  12  1  (7)
totaL $ 10 $ 16 $ 30 $ 32 $ (3) $ 5
(1) Other comprehensive income for foreign currency swaps excludes amounts required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-off settlement annuity business.


for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the amount of gains (losses) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into 
income was not material. no gains (losses) were recognized due to ineffectiveness and there were no amounts excluded from the assessment of 
hedge ineffectiveness.


NOTE 13 variable Interest Entities


When the Company becomes involved with a variable interest entity 
and when the nature of the Company’s involvement with the entity 
changes, in order to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary 
and must consolidate the entity, it evaluates:


•• the structure and purpose of the entity;
•• the risks and rewards created by and shared through the entity; and
•• the entity’s participants’ ability to direct its activities, receive its benefits 
and absorb its losses. participants include the entity’s sponsors, equity 
holders, guarantors, creditors and servicers.


in the normal course of its investing activities, the Company makes 
passive investments in securities that are issued by variable interest 
entities for which the Company is not the sponsor or manager. These 
investments are predominantly asset-backed securities primarily 
collateralized by foreign bank obligations or mortgage-backed securities. 
The asset-backed securities largely represent fixed-rate debt securities 
issued by trusts that hold perpetual floating-rate subordinated notes 
issued by foreign banks. The mortgage-backed securities represent senior 


interests in pools of commercial or residential mortgages created and 
held by special-purpose entities to provide investors with diversified 
exposure to these assets. The Company owns senior securities issued by 
several entities and receives fixed-rate cash flows from the underlying 
assets in the pools. The Company is not the primary beneficiary and 
does not consolidate any of these entities because either:


•• it had no power to direct the activities that most significantly impact 
the entities’ economic performance; or
•• it had neither the right to receive benefits nor the obligation to absorb 
losses that could be significant to these variable interest entities.


The Company has not provided, and does not intend to provide, 
financial support to these entities. The Company performs ongoing 
qualitative analyses of its involvement with these variable interest entities 
to determine if consolidation is required. The Company’s maximum 
potential exposure to loss related to these entities is limited to the 
carrying amount of its investment reported in fixed maturities and 
equity securities, and its aggregate ownership interest is insignificant 
relative to the total principal amount issued by these entities.
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Note 14 Investment Income and Gains and Losses


A. Net Investment Income
The components of pre-tax net investment income for the years ended December 31 were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
fixed maturities $ 817 $ 788 $ 748
equity securities  6  6  7
Commercial mortgage loans  218  221  223
policy loans  86  90  92
real estate  (2)  (2)  (1)
other long-term investments  48  29  (30)
Short-term investments and cash  10  11  10
  1,183  1,143  1,049
Less investment expenses  37  38  35
net inVeStment income $ 1,146 $ 1,105 $ 1,014


net investment income for separate accounts (which is not reflected in the Company’s revenues) was $207 million for 2011, $163 million for 
2010, and $22 million for 2009.


B. Realized Investment Gains and Losses
The following realized gains and losses on investments for the years ended December 31 exclude amounts required to adjust future policy benefits 
for the run-off settlement annuity business.


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
fixed maturities $ 50 $ 87 $ 2
equity securities  (1)  5  12
Commercial mortgage loans  (16)  (23)  (20)
real estate  (6)  3  -
other investments, including derivatives  35  3  (37)
realized investment gains (losses), before income taxes  62  75  (43)
Less income taxes (benefits)  21  25  (17)
net reaLized inVeStment gainS (LoSSeS) $ 41 $ 50 $ (26)


included in pre-tax realized investment gains (losses) above were asset write-downs and changes in valuation reserves as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Credit related (1) $ 28 $ 38 $ 93
other  25  1  13
totaL (2) $ 53 $ 39 $ 106
(1) Credit-related losses include other-than-temporary declines in fair value of fixed maturities and equity securities, and changes in valuation reserves and asset write-downs related to 


commercial mortgage loans and investments in real estate entities. The amount related to credit losses on fixed maturities for which a portion of the impairment was recognized in 
other comprehensive income were immaterial.


(2) Other-than-temporary impairments on fixed maturities of $26 million in 2011 and $47 million in 2009 are included in both the credit-related and other categories above. Other-
than-temporary impairments on fixed maturities in 2010 were immaterial.


The Company recognized pre-tax losses of $7 million in 2011, compared with pre-tax gains of $7 million in 2010 and $13 million in 2009 on 
hybrid securities.


realized investment gains in 2011 in other investments, including derivatives, primarily represent gains on sale of real estate properties held in joint 
ventures. realized investment losses in 2009 in other investments, including derivatives, primarily represent impairments of real estate entities.
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realized investment gains and (losses) that are not reflected in the Company’s revenues for the years ended December 31 were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Separate accounts $ 210 $ 191 $ (25)
investment gains required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-off settlement annuity business $ 8 $ 18 $ 51


Sales information for available-for-sale fixed maturities and equity securities, for the years ended December 31 were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
proceeds from sales $ 876 $ 826 $ 949
gross gains on sales $ 53 $ 46 $ 51
gross losses on sales $ (7) $ (3) $ (9)


NOTE 15 Debt


(In millions) 2011 2010
Short‑term:     
Commercial paper $ 100 $ 100
Current maturities of long-term debt  4  452
totaL Short‑term deBt $ 104 $ 552
Long‑term:     
uncollateralized debt:     
2.75% notes due 2016 $ 600 $ -
5.375% notes due 2017  250  250
6.35% notes due 2018  131  131
8.5% notes due 2019  251  251
4.375% notes due 2020  249  249
5.125% notes due 2020  299  299
6.37% notes due 2021  78  78
4.5% notes due 2021  298  -
4% notes due 2022  743  -
7.65% notes due 2023  100  100
8.3% notes due 2023  17  17
7.875% Debentures due 2027  300  300
8.3% Step Down notes due 2033  83  83
6.15% notes due 2036  500  500
5.875% notes due 2041  298  -
5.375% notes due 2042  750  -
other  43  30
totaL Long‑term deBt $ 4,990 $ 2,288


on november 10, 2011, the Company issued $2.1 billion of long-term 
debt as follows: $600 million of 5-Year notes due november 15, 2016 
at a stated interest rate of 2.75% ($600 million, net of discount, 
with an effective interest rate of 2.936% per year), $750 million of 
10-Year notes due february 15, 2022 at a stated interest rate of 4% 
($743 million, net of discount, with an effective interest rate of 4.346% 
per year) and $750 million of 30-Year notes due february 15, 2042 
at a stated interest rate of 5.375% ($750 million, net of discount, 
with an effective interest rate of 5.542% per year). interest is payable 
on May 15 and november 15 of each year beginning May 15, 2012 
for the 5-Year notes and february 15 and august 15 of each year 
beginning february 15, 2012 for the 10-Year and 30-Year notes. The 
proceeds of this debt were used to fund the healthSpring acquisition 
in January 2012.


The Company may redeem these notes, at any time, in whole or in 
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:


•• 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; or
•• the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments 
on the notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable treasury 
rate plus 30 basis points (5-Year 2.75% notes due 2016), 35 basis 
points (10-Year 4% notes due 2022), or 40 basis points (30-Year 
5.375% notes due 2042).


in June 2011, the Company entered into a new five-year revolving 
credit and letter of credit agreement for $1.5 billion, which permits 
up to $500 million to be used for letters of credit. This agreement is 
diversified among 16 banks, with 3 banks each having 12% of the 
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commitment and the remaining 13 banks with 64% of the commitment. 
The credit agreement includes options that are subject to consent 
by the administrative agent and the committing banks, to increase 
the commitment amount to $2 billion and to extend the term past 
June 2016. The credit agreement is available for general corporate 
purposes, including as a commercial paper backstop and for the 
issuance of letters of credit. This agreement includes certain covenants, 
including a financial covenant requiring the Company to maintain 
a total debt to adjusted capital ratio at or below 0.50 to 1.00. as of 
December 31, 2011, the Company had $4 billion of borrowing capacity 
within the maximum debt coverage covenant in the agreement in 
addition to the $5.1 billion of debt outstanding. There were letters of 
credit of $118 million issued as of December 31, 2011.


in March 2011, the Company issued $300 million of 10-Year notes due 
March 15, 2021 at a stated interest rate of 4.5% ($298 million, net 
of discount, with an effective interest rate of 4.683% per year) and 
$300 million of 30-Year notes due March 15, 2041 at a stated interest 
rate of 5.875% ($298 million, net of discount, with an effective 
interest rate of 6.008% per year). interest is payable on March 15 and 
September 15 of each year beginning September 15, 2011. The proceeds 
of this debt were used for general corporate purposes, including the 
repayment of debt maturing in 2011.


The Company may redeem these notes, at any time, in whole or in 
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:


•• 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; or
•• the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments 
on the notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable treasury 
rate plus 20 basis points (10-Year 4.5% notes due 2021) or 25 basis 
points (30-Year 5.875% notes due 2041).


During 2011, the Company repaid $449 million in maturing long-
term debt.


in the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company entered into the following 
transactions related to its long-term debt:


•• in December 2010 the Company offered to settle its 8.5% notes due 
2019, including accrued interest from november 1 through the 
settlement date. The tender price equaled the present value of the 
remaining principal and interest payments on the notes being 
redeemed, discounted at a rate equal to the 10-year treasury rate 
plus a fixed spread of 100 basis points. The tender offer priced at 
a yield of 4.128% and principal of $99 million was tendered, with 


$251 million remaining outstanding. The Company paid $130 million, 
including accrued interest and expenses, to settle the notes, resulting 
in an after-tax loss on early debt extinguishment of $21 million.
•• in December 2010 the Company offered to settle its 6.35% notes due 
2018, including accrued interest from September 16 through the 
settlement date. The tender price equaled the present value of the 
remaining principal and interest payments on the notes being 
redeemed, discounted at a rate equal to the 10-year treasury rate 
plus a fixed spread of 45 basis points. The tender offer priced at a 
yield of 3.923% and principal of $169 million was tendered, with 
$131 million remaining outstanding. The Company paid $198 million, 
including accrued interest and expenses, to settle the notes, resulting 
in an after-tax loss on early debt extinguishment of $18 million.
•• in December 2010, the Company issued $250 million of 4.375% 
notes ($249 million net of debt discount, with an effective interest 
rate of 5.1%). The difference between the stated and effective interest 
rates primarily reflects the effect of treasury locks. See note 12 to the 
Consolidated financial Statements for further information. interest 
is payable on June 15 and December 15 of each year beginning 
December 15, 2010. These notes will mature on December 15, 2020. 
The proceeds of this debt were used to fund the tender offer for the 
8.5% Senior notes due 2019 and the 6.35% Senior notes due 2018 
described above.


in May 2010, the Company issued $300 million of 5.125% 
notes ($299 million, net of debt discount, with an effective interest 
rate of 5.36% per year). interest is payable on June 15 and December 15 
of each year beginning December 15, 2010. These notes will mature 
on June 15, 2020. The proceeds of this debt were used for general 
corporate purposes.


The Company may redeem the notes issued in 2010 at any time, in 
whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:


•• 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; or
•• the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments 
on the notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable treasury 
rate plus 25 basis points.


Maturities of debt and capital leases are as follows (in millions): $4 
in 2012, $6 in 2013, $23 in 2014, none in 2015, $600 in 2016 and 
the remainder in years after 2016. interest expense on long-term 
debt, short-term debt and capital leases was $202 million in 2011, 
$182 million in 2010, and $166 million in 2009.


NOTE 16 Common and preferred Stock


as of December 31, the Company had issued the following shares:


(Shares in thousands) 2011 2010
Common: par value $0.25   


600,000 shares authorized   
outstanding - January 1 271,880 274,257
issuance of Common Stock 15,200 -
issued for stock option and other benefit plans 3,735 3,805
repurchase of common stock (5,282) (6,182)
outstanding - December 31 285,533 271,880
treasury stock 80,612 79,066


iSSUed ‑ decemBer 31 366,145 350,946
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on november 16, 2011, the Company issued 15.2 million shares 
of its common stock at $42.75 per share. proceeds of $650 million 
($629 million net of underwriting discount and fees) were used to 
fund the healthSpring acquisition in January 2012.


The Company maintains a share repurchase program, which was 
authorized by its board of Directors. The decision to repurchase shares 
depends on market conditions and alternative uses of capital. The 
Company has, and may continue from time to time, to repurchase 
shares on the open market through a rule 10b5-1 plan that permits 
a company to repurchase its shares at times when it otherwise might 


be precluded from doing so under insider trading laws or because of 
self-imposed trading blackout periods.


During 2011, and through february 23, 2012, the Company repurchased 
5.3 million shares for approximately $225 million. The total remaining 
share repurchase authorization as of february 23, 2012 was $522 million. 
The Company repurchased 6.2 million shares for $201 million during 2010.


The Company has authorized a total of 25 million shares of $1 par 
value preferred stock. no shares of preferred stock were outstanding 
at December 31, 2011 or 2010.


NOTE 17 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)


accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) excludes amounts required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-off settlement annuity 
business.


Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:


2011
(In millions) Pre‑tax


tax (expense) 
Benefit after‑tax


net unrealized appreciation, securities:       
net unrealized appreciation on securities arising during the year $ 366 $ (127) $ 239
reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) included in shareholders’ net income  (49)  18  (31)
net unrealized appreciation, securities $ 317 $ (109) $ 208
net unrealized appreciation, derivatives $ 1 $ ‑ $ 1
net translation of foreign currencies $ (30) $ 2 $ (28)


Postretirement benefits liability adjustment:
reclassification adjustment for amortization of net losses from past experience and prior 
service costs $ 22 $ (7) $ 15
net change arising from assumption and plan changes and experience  (580)  205  (375)
net postretirement benefits liability adjustment $ (558) $ 198 $ (360)


2010 
(In millions) Pre‑tax


tax (expense)
Benefit after‑tax


net unrealized appreciation, securities:       
net unrealized appreciation on securities arising during the year $ 319 $ (109) $ 210
reclassification adjustment for (gains) included in net income (92) 32 (60)
net unrealized appreciation, securities $ 227 $ (77) $ 150
net unrealized appreciation, derivatives $ 8 $ (2) $ 6
net translation of foreign currencies $ 48 $ (11) $ 37
Postretirement benefits liability adjustment:       
reclassification adjustment for amortization of net losses from past experience and prior 
service costs $ 10 $ (4) $ 6
net change arising from assumption and plan changes and experience (311) 116 (195)
net postretirement benefits liability adjustment $ (301) $ 112 $ (189)
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2009
(In millions) Pre‑tax


tax (expense) 
Benefit after‑tax


net unrealized appreciation, securities:       
net unrealized appreciation on securities arising during the year $ 843 $ (292) $ 551
reclassification adjustment for (gains) included in net income  (14)  3  (11)
net unrealized appreciation, securities $ 829 $ (289) $ 540
net unrealized depreciation, derivatives $ (30) $ 13 $ (17)
net translation of foreign currencies $ 76 $ (28) $ 48
Postretirement benefits liability adjustment:
reclassification adjustment for amortization of net losses from past experience and prior service costs $ 7 $ (3) $ 4
Curtailment gain  (46)  16  (30)
reclassification adjustment included in shareholders’ net income  (39)  13  (26)
net change arising from assumption and plan changes and experience  (107)  36  (71)
net postretirement benefits liability adjustment $ (146) $ 49 $ (97)


NOTE 18 Shareholders’ Equity and Dividend Restrictions


State insurance departments and foreign jurisdictions that regulate 
certain of the Company’s subsidiaries prescribe accounting practices 
(which differ in some respects from gaap) to determine statutory 
net income and surplus. The Company’s life insurance and hMo 


company subsidiaries are regulated by such statutory requirements. The 
statutory net income for the years ended, and statutory surplus as of, 
December 31 of the Company’s life insurance and hMo subsidiaries 
were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
net income $ 953 $ 1,697 $ 1,088
Surplus $ 5,286 $ 5,107 $ 4,728


as of December 31, 2011, statutory surplus for each of the Company’s 
life insurance and hMo subsidiaries is sufficient to meet the minimum 
required by regulators. as of December 31, 2011, the Company’s life 
insurance and hMo subsidiaries had investments on deposit with state 
departments of insurance with statutory carrying values of $306 million. 
The Company’s life insurance and hMo subsidiaries are also subject 
to regulatory restrictions that limit the amount of annual dividends or 
other distributions (such as loans or cash advances) insurance companies 


may extend to the parent company without prior approval of regulatory 
authorities. The maximum dividend distribution that the Company’s 
life insurance and hMo subsidiaries may make during 2012 without 
prior approval is approximately $0.9 billion. restricted net assets of the 
Company as of December 31, 2011, were approximately $7.2 billion. 
one of the Company’s life insurance subsidiaries is permitted to loan 
up to $600 million to the parent company without prior approval.


NOTE 19 Income Taxes


A. Income Tax Expense
The components of income taxes for the years ended December 31 were as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
current taxes       
u.S. income $ 320 $ 267 $ 211
foreign income  58  45  48
State income  20  19  16
  398  331  275
deferred taxes (benefits)       
u.S. income  198  182  279
foreign income  43  15  39
State income  1  (7)  1
  242  190  319
totaL income taxeS $ 640 $ 521 $ 594
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total income taxes for the years ended December 31 were different from the amount computed using the nominal federal income tax rate of 
35% for the following reasons:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
tax expense at nominal rate $ 689 $ 655 $ 664
tax-exempt interest income  (29)  (31)  (31)
effect of permanently invested foreign earnings  (23)  (31)  (23)
Dividends received deduction  (4)  (3)  (3)
resolution of federal tax matters  (30)  -  (27)
State income tax (net of federal income tax benefit)  14  9  12
Change in valuation allowance  4  (94)  (2)
other  19  16  4
totaL income taxeS $ 640 $ 521 $ 594


Effect of permanently Invested Foreign Earnings
The Company accrues income taxes on certain undistributed earnings 
of its South Korea and hong Kong subsidiaries using the foreign 
jurisdiction tax rates, as compared to the higher u.S. statutory tax 
rate. These undistributed earnings include those amounts which 
management has determined to be permanently invested overseas. The 
Company continues to evaluate this permanent investment strategy 
for additional foreign jurisdictions.


as a result, shareholders’ net income for the year ended 
December 31, 2011, increased by $23 million that included $19 million 
attributable to South Korea and $4 million for hong Kong. Shareholders’ 
net income increased by $31 million in 2010 and $23 million in 2009 
from using this method to record income taxes. The 2010 increase 
included $20 million attributable to South Korea and $11 million 
for hong Kong, while the 2009 increase was all attributable to South 
Korea. permanent investment of earnings from these foreign operations 
has resulted in cumulative unrecognized deferred tax liabilities of 
$77 million through December 31, 2011.


B. Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are shown below.


(In millions) 2011 2010
deferred tax assets     
employee and retiree benefit plans $ 829 $ 746
investments, net  108  100
other insurance and contractholder liabilities  443  391
Deferred gain on sale of businesses  46  58
policy acquisition expenses  140  143
Loss carryforwards  8  76
other accrued liabilities  109  107
bad debt expense  17  18
other  37  37
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance  1,737  1,676
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets  (42)  (23)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance  1,695  1,653
deferred tax liabilities     
Depreciation and amortization  377  314
foreign operations, net  289  267
unrealized appreciation on investments and foreign currency translation  397  290
total deferred tax liabilities  1,063  871
net deFerred income tax aSSetS $ 632 $ 782


Management believes consolidated taxable income expected to be 
generated in the future will be sufficient to support realization of the 
Company’s net deferred tax assets. This determination is based upon 
the Company’s consistent overall earnings history and future earnings 
expectations. other than deferred tax benefits attributable to operating 
loss carryforwards, a majority of which were recognized during 2011, 
there are no time constraints within which the Company’s deferred 
tax assets must be realized.


The Company’s deferred tax asset is net of a federal, state, and beginning 
in 2011, a foreign valuation allowance. The foreign valuation allowance 
of $15 million was recorded in connection with the Company’s 
acquisition of firstassist, though had minimal impact of shareholder’s 
net income. The valuation allowance reflects management’s assessment 
that certain deferred tax assets may not be realizable.
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C. Uncertain Tax positions
a reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 is as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
balance at January 1, $ 177 $ 214 $ 164
increase (decrease) due to prior year positions  (113)  (55)  5
increase due to current year positions  7  34  76
reduction related to settlements with taxing authorities  (17)  (13)  (28)
reduction related to lapse of applicable statute of limitations  (2)  (3)  (3)
BaLance at decemBer 31, $ 52 $ 177 $ 214


unrecognized tax benefits decreased during 2011 due primarily to 
completion of the 2007 and 2008 irS examination.


The December 31, 2011 unrecognized tax benefit balance included 
$21 million that would increase shareholders’ net income if recognized. 
The Company has determined it at least reasonably possible that within 
the next twelve months there could be a significant increase in the level 
of unrecognized tax benefits should there be adverse developments 
relative to certain irS specific matters. These changes are not expected 
to have a material impact on shareholders’ net income.


The Company classifies net interest expense on uncertain tax positions 
and any applicable penalties as a component of income tax expense, but 
excludes these amounts from the liability for uncertain tax positions. 
The Company’s liability for net interest and penalties was $2 million at 
December 31, 2011, $14 million at December 31, 2010 and $13 million 
at December 31, 2009. The 2011 decline included $11 million associated 
with the completion of the 2007 and 2008 irS examinations.


During the first quarter of 2011, the irS completed its examination of 
the Company’s 2007 and 2008 consolidated federal income tax returns, 
resulting in an increase to shareholders’ net income of $24 million 
($33 million reported in income tax expense, partially offset by a 
$9 million pre-tax charge). The increase in shareholders’ net income 
included a reduction in net unrecognized tax benefits of $11 million 
and a reduction of interest expense of $11 million (reported in income 
tax expense).


During the first quarter of 2009, the irS completed its examination of 
the Company’s 2005 and 2006 consolidated federal income tax returns, 
resulting in an increase to shareholders’ net income of $21 million 
($20 million in continuing operations and $1 million in discontinued 
operations). The increase reflected a reduction in net unrecognized tax 
benefits of $8 million, ($17 million reported in income tax expense, 
partially offset by a $9 million pre-tax charge) and a reduction of 
interest and penalties of $13 million (reported in income tax expense).


D. Federal Income Tax Examinations, 
Litigation and Other Matters


The Company has a continuing dispute with the irS for tax years 2004 
through 2006 concerning the appropriate reserve methodology for 
certain reinsurance contracts. trial was held before the united States tax 
Court for the 2004 tax year in September 2011; the Court’s decision 
is expected in 2012. prior to trial, the irS conceded the adjustments, 
but did not agree with the Company’s reserve methodology. Though 
the irS concession was a favorable development, that significantly 
limits exposure, the Company has continued to pursue the litigation 
in order to establish that its methodology is appropriate and can be 
applied prospectively. The irS raised the same issue in its audit of 
the Company’s 2005 and 2006 tax returns. as a result, the Company 
filed a petition with the united States tax Court for these years on 
September 19, 2011. The Company continues to believe that it will 
prevail in both the 2004 and 2005-2006 litigation.


During the fourth quarter of 2011, the irS issued a notice of deficiency 
relating to the 2007 and 2008 tax years. The Company disagrees with 
such irS action. on January 11, 2012 the Company filed a petition 
in the united States tax Court and believes that the ultimate outcome 
will not impact results of operations or liquidity.


The irS is expected to begin examination of the Company’s 2009 
and 2010 consolidated federal income tax returns in early 2012. The 
Company conducts business in numerous states and foreign jurisdictions, 
and may be engaged in multiple audit proceedings at any given time. 
generally, no further state or foreign audit activity for years prior to 
2004 is expected.


the patient protection & affordable Care act, including the 
reconciliation act of 2010, included provisions limiting the tax 
deductibility of certain future retiree benefit and compensation related 
payments. The effect of these provisions reduced shareholders’ net 
income in 2011 by $8 million. The Company will continue to evaluate 
the tax effect of these provisions.
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NOTE 20 Employee Incentive plans


The people resources Committee (“the Committee”) of the board of 
Directors awards stock options, restricted stock, deferred stock and, 
beginning in 2010, strategic performance shares to certain employees. 
to a very limited extent, the Committee has issued common stock 
instead of cash compensation and dividend equivalent rights as part 


of restricted and deferred stock units. The Company issues shares 
from treasury stock for option exercises, awards of restricted stock 
and payment of deferred and restricted stock units.


Compensation cost and related tax benefits for these awards were 
as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009


Compensation cost $ 61 $ 49 $ 42
tax benefits $ 14 $ 12 $ 15


The Company had the following number of shares of common stock available for award at December 31: 11.7 million in 2011, 7.5 million in 
2010 and 23.3 million in 2009.


Stock options. The Company awards options to purchase the Company’s common stock at the market price of the stock on the grant date. 
options vest over periods ranging from one to five years and expire no later than 10 years from grant date.


The table below shows the status of, and changes in, common stock options during the last three years:


(Options in thousands)


2011 2010 2009


options
weighted average 


exercise Price options
weighted average 


exercise Price options
weighted average 


exercise Price
outstanding - January 1 12,093 $ 31.10 13,751 $ 29.34 12,258 $ 35.48
granted 1,546 $ 42.36 1,846 $ 34.64 4,709 $ 14.15
exercised (3,480) $ 27.93 (2,565) $ 24.31 (1,167) $ 25.32
expired or canceled (578) $ 33.61 (939) $ 30.86 (2,049) $ 33.42
outstanding - December 31 9,581 $ 33.92 12,093 $ 31.10 13,751 $ 29.34
options exercisable at year-end 6,147 $ 34.94 7,656 $ 34.42 8,578 $ 33.53


Compensation expense of $18 million related to unvested stock options at December 31, 2011 will be recognized over the next two years 
(weighted average period).


The table below summarizes information for stock options exercised during the last three years:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
intrinsic value of options exercised $ 53 $ 30 $ 7
Cash received for options exercised $ 97 $ 62 $ 30
excess tax benefits realized from options exercised $ 10 $ 5 $ -


The following table summarizes information for outstanding common stock options at December 31, 2011:


(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
options 


outstanding
options 


exercisable
number (in thousands)  9,581  6,147
total intrinsic value $ 91 $ 56
Weighted average exercise price $ 33.92 $ 34.94
Weighted average remaining contractual life  6.1 years  4.9 years


The weighted average fair value of options granted under employee incentive plans was $13.96 for 2011, $11.56 for 2010 and $4.6 for 2009, 
using the black-Scholes option-pricing model and the following assumptions:


2011 2010 2009
Dividend yield 0.1% 0.1% 0.3%
expected volatility 40.0% 40.0% 40.0%
risk-free interest rate 1.7% 1.9% 1.6%
expected option life 4 years 4 years 4 years


The expected volatility reflects the Company’s past daily stock price 
volatility. The Company does not consider volatility implied in the 
market prices of traded options to be a good indicator of future volatility 
because remaining maturities of traded options are less than one year. 


The risk-free interest rate is derived using the four-year u.S. treasury 
bond yield rate as of the award date for the primary grant. expected 
option life reflects the Company’s historical experience.
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Restricted stock. The Company awards restricted stock to its employees 
or directors with vesting periods ranging from two to five years. These 
awards are generally in one of two forms: restricted stock grants or 
restricted stock units. restricted stock grants are the most widely used 
form of restricted stock awards and are used for substantially all u.S.-
based employees receiving such awards. recipients of restricted stock 
grants are entitled to earn dividends and to vote during the vesting 
period, but forfeit their awards if their employment terminates before 


the vesting date. awards of restricted stock units are generally limited 
to international employees. a restricted stock unit represents a right 
to receive a common share of stock when the unit vests. recipients 
of restricted stock units are entitled to receive hypothetical dividends, 
but cannot vote during the vesting period. They forfeit their units if 
their employment terminates before the vesting date.


The table below shows the status of, and changes in, restricted stock 
grants and units during the last three years:


(Awards in thousands)


2011 2010 2009


grants/Units


weighted average 
Fair Value at 
award date grants/Units


weighted average 
Fair Value at 
award date grants/Units


weighted average 
Fair Value at 
award date


outstanding - January 1 4,306 $ 27.70 4,113 $ 27.65 2,347 $ 40.53
awarded 945 $ 42.62 1,155 $ 34.63 2,678 $ 18.14
Vested (564) $ 42.79 (541) $ 40.87 (557) $ 32.00
forfeited (441) $ 28.99 (421) $ 29.28 (355) $ 33.79


oUtStanding ‑ decemBer 31 4,246 $ 28.88 4,306 $ 27.70 4,113 $ 27.65


The fair value of vested restricted stock was: $24 million in 2011, 
$18 million in 2010 and $10 million in 2009.


at the end of 2011, approximately 2,900 employees held 4.2 million 
restricted stock grants and units with $66 million of related compensation 
expense to be recognized over the next three years (weighted average 
period).


Strategic Performance Shares. The Company awards strategic 
performance shares to its executives generally with a performance 
period of three years. Strategic performance shares are divided into two 


broad groups: 50% are subject to a market condition (total shareholder 
return relative to industry peer companies) and 50% are subject to a 
performance conditions (revenue growth and cumulative adjusted net 
income). These targets are set by the Committee. at the end of the 
performance period, holders of strategic performance shares will be 
awarded anywhere from 0 to 200% of the original grant of strategic 
performance shares in Cigna common stock.


The table below shows the status of, and changes in, strategic performance 
shares during 2011 and 2010:


(Awards in thousands)


2011 2010


grants/Units


weighted average 
Fair Value at 
award date grants/Units


weighted average 
Fair Value at 
award date


outstanding - January 1 430 $ 34.73 - $ -
awarded 529 $ 42.92 480 $ 34.73
Vested - $ - - $ -
forfeited (125) $ 37.92 (50) $ 34.65


oUtStanding ‑ decemBer 31 834 $ 39.45 430 $ 34.73


at the end of 2011, 67 employees held approximately 830,000 strategic performance shares and $19 million of related compensation expense 
expected to be recognized over the next two years. for strategic performance shares subject to a performance condition, the amount of expense 
may vary based on actual performance in 2012 and 2013.


NOTE 21 Leases, Rentals and Outsourced Service Arrangements


rental expenses for operating leases, principally for office space, amounted 
to $115 million in 2011, $127 million in 2010 and $138 million in 
2009. as of December 31, 2011, future net minimum rental payments 
under non-cancelable operating leases were approximately $547 million, 
payable as follows (in millions): $108 in 2012, $97 in 2013, $83 in 
2014, $67 in 2015, $52 in 2016 and $140 thereafter.


The Company also has several outsourced service arrangements with 
third parties, primarily for human resource and information technology 
support services. The initial service periods under these arrangements 
range from seven to eight years and their related costs are reported 
consistent with operating leases over the service period based on the 
pattern of use. The Company recorded in other operating expense 
$116 million in 2011, $114 million in 2010 and $115 million in 
2009 for these arrangements.
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NOTE 22 Segment Information


The Company’s operating segments generally reflect groups of related 
products, except for the international segment which is generally based 
on geography. in accordance with gaap, operating segments that do not 
require separate disclosure were combined in “other operations”. The 
Company measures the financial results of its segments using “segment 
earnings (loss)”, which is defined as shareholders’ income (loss) from 
continuing operations before after-tax realized investment results.


Consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations is primarily 
attributable to domestic operations. Consolidated pre-tax income from 
continuing operations generated by the Company’s foreign operations 
was approximately 15% in 2011, 13% in 2010 and 9% in 2009.


The Company determines segment earnings (loss) consistent with 
accounting policies used in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, except that amounts included in Corporate are not allocated 
to segments. The Company allocates certain other operating expenses, 
such as systems and other key corporate overhead expenses, on systematic 
bases. income taxes are generally computed as if each segment were 
filing a separate income tax return. The Company does not report total 
assets by segment since this is not a metric used to allocate resources 
or evaluate segment performance.


The Company presents segment information as follows:


Health Care offers insured and self-insured medical, dental, behavioral 
health, vision, and prescription drug benefit plans, health advocacy 
programs and other products and services that may be integrated to 
provide comprehensive health care benefit programs. Cigna healthCare 
companies offer these products and services in all 50 states, the District 
of Columbia and the u.S. Virgin islands. These products and services 
are offered through a variety of funding arrangements such as guaranteed 
cost, retrospectively experience-rated and administrative services only 
arrangements.


Disability and Life includes group disability, life, accident and specialty 
insurance.


International includes supplemental health, life and accident 
insurance products; and international health care products and services 
including those offered to individuals and globally mobile employees 
of multinational companies and organizations.


Run-off Reinsurance is predominantly comprised of gMDb, gMib, 
workers’ compensation and personal accident reinsurance products. 
on December 31, 2010, the Company essentially exited from its 
workers’ compensation and personal accident reinsurance business 
by purchasing retrocessional coverage from a bermuda subsidiary of 
enstar group Limited and transferring the ongoing administration of 
this business to the reinsurer.


The Company also reports results in two other categories.


Other Operations consist of:


•• corporate-owned life insurance (“CoLi”);
•• deferred gains recognized from the 1998 sale of the individual life 
insurance and annuity business and the 2004 sale of the retirement 
benefits business; and
•• run-off settlement annuity business.


Corporate reflects amounts not allocated to other segments, such as net 
interest expense (defined as interest on corporate debt less net investment 
income on investments not supporting segment operations), interest 
on uncertain tax positions, certain litigation matters, intersegment 
eliminations, compensation cost for stock options and certain corporate 
overhead expenses such as directors’ expenses.


in 2010, the Company began reporting the expense associated with 
its frozen pension plans in Corporate. prior periods were not restated 
as the effect on prior periods was not material.
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Summarized segment financial information for the years ended December 31 was as follows:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
health care       
premiums and fees:       
Medical:       


guaranteed cost (1) (2) $ 4,176 $ 3,929 $ 3,380
experience-rated (2) (3)  1,934  1,823  1,699
Stop loss  1,451  1,287  1,274
Dental  894  804  731
Medicare  489  1,470  595
Medicare part D  624  558  342
other (4)  600  543  515


total medical  10,168  10,414  8,536
Life and other non-medical  77  103  179


total premiums  10,245  10,517  8,715
fees (2) (5)  2,936  2,802  2,669


total premiums and fees  13,181  13,319  11,384
Mail order pharmacy revenues  1,447  1,420  1,282
other revenues  234  266  262
net investment income  274  243  181
Segment revenues $ 15,136 $ 15,248 $ 13,109
income taxes $ 556 $ 476 $ 399
Segment earnings $ 991 $ 861 $ 731
(1) Includes guaranteed cost premiums primarily associated with open access and commercial HMO, as well as other risk-related products.
(2) Premiums and/or fees associated with certain specialty products are also included.
(3) Includes minimum premium arrangements with a risk profile similar to experience-rated funding arrangements. The risk portion of minimum revenue is reported in experience-rated 


medical premium whereas the self funding portion of minimum premium revenue is recorded in fees. Also includes certain non-participating cases for which special customer level 
reporting of experience is required.


(4) Other medical premiums include risk revenue for specialty products.
(5) Represents administrative service fees for medical members and related specialty product fees for non-medical members as well as fees related to Medicare Part D of $61 million in 


2011, $57 million in 2010 and $41 million in 2009.
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(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
disability and Life       
premiums and fees:       


Life $ 1,256 $ 1,238 $ 1,301
Disability  1,268  1,167  1,057
other  256  262  276


total  2,780  2,667  2,634
other revenues  -  123  113
net investment income  267  261  244
Segment revenues $ 3,047 $ 3,051 $ 2,991
income taxes $ 109 $ 120 $ 109
Segment earnings $ 287 $ 291 $ 284
international       
premiums and fees:       


health Care $ 1,464 $ 1,037 $ 884
Supplemental health, Life, and accident  1,526  1,231  998


total  2,990  2,268  1,882
other revenues  27  31  22
net investment income  96  82  69
Segment revenues $ 3,113 $ 2,381 $ 1,973
income taxes $ 125 $ 95 $ 70
equity in income of investees $ 14 $ 14 $ 11
Segment earnings $ 286 $ 243 $ 183
run‑off reinsurance       
premiums and fees and other revenues $ 20 $ (133) $ (254)
net investment income  103  114  113
Segment revenues $ 123 $ (19) $ (141)
income taxes (benefits) $ (99) $ (136) $ 93
Segment earnings (loss) $ (183) $ 26 $ 185
other operations       
premiums and fees and other revenues $ 169 $ 174 $ 176
net investment income  400  404  407
Segment revenues $ 569 $ 578 $ 583
income taxes $ 29 $ 39 $ 31
Segment earnings $ 89 $ 85 $ 86
corporate       


other revenues and eliminations $ (58) $ (62) $ (58)
net investment income  6  1  -
Segment revenues $ (52) $ (61) $ (58)
income tax benefits $ (101) $ (98) $ (91)
Segment loss $ (184) $ (211) $ (142)
realized investment gains (losses)       
realized investment gains (losses) $ 62 $ 75 $ (43)
income taxes (benefits)  21  25  (17)
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes and noncontrolling interest $ 41 $ 50 $ (26)
total       
premiums and fees and other revenues $ 19,343 $ 18,653 $ 16,161
Mail order pharmacy revenues  1,447  1,420  1,282
net investment income  1,146  1,105  1,014
realized investment gains (losses)  62  75  (43)
total revenues $ 21,998 $ 21,253 $ 18,414
income taxes $ 640 $ 521 $ 594
Segment earnings $ 1,286 $ 1,295 $ 1,327
realized investment gains (losses), net of taxes and noncontrolling interest $ 41 $ 50 $ (26)
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,301
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premiums and fees, mail order pharmacy revenues and other revenues by product type were as follows for the years ended December 31:


(In millions) 2011 2010 2009
Medical $ 14,568 $ 14,253 $ 12,089
Disability  1,280  1,162  1,063
Supplemental health, Life, and accident  3,103  2,839  2,748
Mail order pharmacy  1,447  1,420  1,282
other  392  399  261
totaL $ 20,790 $ 20,073 $ 17,443


Concentration of risk. for the Company’s international segment, South 
Korea is the single largest geographic market. South Korea generated 
31% of the segment’s revenues and 51% of the segment’s earnings 
in 2011. South Korea generated 32% of the segment’s revenues and 
49% of the segment’s earnings in 2010. Due to the concentration 


of business in South Korea, the international segment is exposed to 
potential losses resulting from economic and geopolitical developments 
in that country, as well as foreign currency movements affecting the 
South Korean currency, which could have a significant impact on the 
segment’s results and the Company’s consolidated financial results.


NOTE 23 Contingencies and Other Matters


The Company, through its subsidiaries, is contingently liable for various 
guarantees provided in the ordinary course of business.


A. Financial Guarantees primarily Associated 
with the Sold Retirement Benefits 
Business


Separate account assets are contractholder funds maintained in accounts 
with specific investment objectives. The Company records separate 
account liabilities equal to separate account assets. in certain cases, 
primarily associated with the sold retirement benefits business (which 
was sold in april 2004), the Company guarantees a minimum level 
of benefits for retirement and insurance contracts, written in separate 
accounts. The Company establishes an additional liability if management 
believes that the Company will be required to make a payment under 
these guarantees.


The Company guarantees that separate account assets will be sufficient 
to pay certain retiree or life benefits. The sponsoring employers are 
primarily responsible for ensuring that assets are sufficient to pay 
these benefits and are required to maintain assets that exceed a certain 
percentage of benefit obligations. This percentage varies depending on 
the asset class within a sponsoring employer’s portfolio (for example, 
a bond fund would require a lower percentage than a riskier equity 
fund) and thus will vary as the composition of the portfolio changes. 
if employers do not maintain the required levels of separate account 
assets, the Company or an affiliate of the buyer has the right to redirect 
the management of the related assets to provide for benefit payments. 
as of December 31, 2011, employers maintained assets that exceeded 
the benefit obligations. benefit obligations under these arrangements 
were $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2011. as of December 31, 2011, 
approximately 75% of these guarantees are reinsured by an affiliate of the 
buyer of the retirement benefits business. The remaining guarantees are 
provided by the Company with minimal reinsurance from third parties. 
There were no additional liabilities required for these guarantees as of 
December 31, 2011. Separate account assets supporting these guarantees 
are classified in Levels 1 and 2 of the gaap fair value hierarchy. See 
note 10 for further information on the fair value hierarchy.


The Company does not expect that these financial guarantees will have 
a material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, 
liquidity or financial condition.


B. Guaranteed Minimum Income Benefit 
Contracts


The Company’s reinsurance operations, which were discontinued in 
2000 and are now an inactive business in run-off mode, reinsured 
minimum income benefits under certain variable annuity contracts 
issued by other insurance companies. a contractholder can elect the 
guaranteed minimum income benefit (“gMib”) within 30 days of any 
eligible policy anniversary after a specified contractual waiting period. 
The Company’s exposure arises when the guaranteed annuitization 
benefit exceeds the annuitization benefit based on the policy’s current 
account value. at the time of annuitization, the Company pays the 
excess (if any) of the minimum benefit guaranteed under the contract 
over the benefit based on the current account value in a lump sum to 
the direct writing insurance company.


in periods of declining equity markets or declining interest rates, the 
Company’s gMib liabilities increase. Conversely, in periods of rising 
equity markets and rising interest rates, the Company’s liabilities for 
these benefits decrease.


The Company estimates the fair value of the gMib assets and liabilities 
using assumptions for market returns and interest rates, volatility of 
the underlying equity and bond mutual fund investments, mortality, 
lapse, annuity election rates, non-performance risk, and risk and profit 
charges. See note 10 for additional information on how fair values 
for these liabilities and related receivables for retrocessional coverage 
are determined.


the Company is required to disclose the maximum potential 
undiscounted future payments for gMib contracts. under these 
guarantees, the future payment amounts are dependent on equity 
and bond fund market and interest rate levels prior to and at the 
date of annuitization election, which must occur within 30 days of a 
policy anniversary, after the appropriate waiting period. Therefore, the 
future payments are not fixed and determinable under the terms of 
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the contract. accordingly, the Company has estimated the maximum 
potential undiscounted future payments using hypothetical adverse 
assumptions, defined as follows:


•• no annuitants surrendered their accounts;
•• all annuitants lived to elect their benefit;
•• all annuitants elected to receive their benefit on the next available 
date (2012 through 2018); and
•• all underlying mutual fund investment values remained at the 
December 31, 2011 value of $1.1 billion with no future returns.


The maximum potential undiscounted payments that the Company 
would make under those assumptions would aggregate $1.2 billion 
before reinsurance recoveries. The Company expects the amount 
of actual payments to be significantly less than this hypothetical 
undiscounted aggregate amount. The Company has retrocessional 
coverage in place from two external reinsurers which covers 55% of the 
exposures on these contracts. The Company bears the risk of loss if its 
retrocessionaires do not meet or are unable to meet their reinsurance 
obligations to the Company.


C. Certain Other Guarantees
The Company had indemnification obligations to lenders of up to 
$292 million as of December 31, 2011, related to borrowings by 
certain real estate joint ventures which the Company either records as 
an investment or consolidates. These borrowings, that are nonrecourse 
to the Company, are secured by the joint ventures’ real estate properties 
with fair values in excess of the loan amounts and mature at various 
dates beginning in 2012 through 2021. The Company’s indemnification 
obligations would require payment to lenders for any actual damages 
resulting from certain acts such as unauthorized ownership transfers, 
misappropriation of rental payments by others or environmental 
damages. based on initial and ongoing reviews of property management 
and operations, the Company does not expect that payments will be 
required under these indemnification obligations. any payments that 
might be required could be recovered through a refinancing or sale of 
the assets. in some cases, the Company also has recourse to partners 
for their proportionate share of amounts paid. There were no liabilities 
required for these indemnification obligations as of December 31, 2011.


as of December 31, 2011, the Company guaranteed that it would 
compensate the lessors for a shortfall of up to $44 million in the market 
value of certain leased equipment at the end of the lease. guarantees 
of $28 million expire in 2012 and $16 million expire in 2016. The 
Company had liabilities for these guarantees of $14 million as of 
December 31, 2011.


the Company has agreements with certain banks that provide 
banking services to settle claim checks processed by the Company 
for administrative Services only (“aSo”) and certain minimum 
premium customers. The customers are responsible for adequately 
funding their accounts as claim checks are presented for payment. 
under these agreements, the Company guarantees that the banks will 
not incur a loss if a customer fails to properly fund its account. The 
amount of the guarantee fluctuates daily. as of December 31, 2011, the 
aggregate maximum exposure under these guarantees was approximately 
$390 million and there were no liabilities required. There were no 
material charges related to these guarantees for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2011 and there were $3 million in after-tax charges for 


the same period in 2010. Through february 13, 2012, the exposure 
that existed at December 31, 2011 has been reduced by approximately 
94% through customers’ funding of claim checks when presented for 
payment. in addition, the Company can limit its exposure under these 
guarantees by suspending claim payments for any customer who has 
not adequately funded their bank account.


The Company contracts on an aSo basis with customers who fund their 
own claims. The Company charges these customers administrative fees 
based on the expected cost of administering their self-funded programs. 
in some cases, the Company provides performance guarantees associated 
with meeting certain service-related and other performance standards. 
if these standards are not met, the Company may be financially at 
risk up to a stated percentage of the contracted fee or a stated dollar 
amount. The Company establishes liabilities for estimated payouts 
associated with these performance guarantees. approximately 14% of 
aSo fees reported for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 
were at risk, with reimbursements estimated to be approximately 1%.


The Company had indemnification obligations as of December 31, 2011 
in connection with acquisition and disposition transactions. These 
indemnification obligations are triggered by the breach of representations 
or covenants provided by the Company, such as representations for the 
presentation of financial statements, the filing of tax returns, compliance 
with law or the identification of outstanding litigation. These obligations 
are typically subject to various time limitations, defined by the contract 
or by operation of law, such as statutes of limitation. in some cases, the 
maximum potential amount due is subject to contractual limitations 
based on a percentage of the transaction purchase price, while in other 
cases limitations are not specified or applicable. The Company does not 
believe that it is possible to determine the maximum potential amount 
due under these obligations, since not all amounts due under these 
indemnification obligations are subject to limitation. There were no 
liabilities for these indemnification obligations as of December 31, 2011.


The Company does not expect that these guarantees will have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, 
financial condition or liquidity.


D. Regulatory and Industry Developments
Regulation. The health services industry is heavily regulated by federal 
and state laws and administrative agencies, such as state departments 
of insurance and the federal Departments of Labor, health and 
human Services, treasury and Justice, as well as the courts. regulation, 
legislation and judicial decisions have resulted in changes to industry 
and the Company’s business practices and will continue to do so 
in the future. in addition, the Company’s subsidiaries are routinely 
involved with various claims, lawsuits and regulatory and irS audits 
and investigations that could result in financial liability, changes in 
business practices, or both. health care regulation and legislation in its 
various forms, including the implementation of the patient protection 
and affordable Care act (including the reconciliation act) that was 
signed into law during the first quarter of 2010, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s health care operations if it inhibits 
the Company’s ability to respond to market demands, adversely affects 
the way the Company does business, or results in increased medical or 
administrative costs without improving the quality of care or services.


other possible regulatory and legislative changes or judicial decisions 
that could have an adverse effect on the Company’s businesses include:
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•• additional mandated benefits or services that increase costs;
•• legislation that would grant plan participants broader rights to sue 
their health plans;
•• changes in public policy and in the political environment, that 
could affect state and federal law, including legislative and regulatory 
proposals related to health care issues, that could increase cost and 
affect the market for the Company’s health care products and services;
•• changes in employee retirement income Security act of 1974 (“eriSa”) 
regulations resulting in increased administrative burdens and costs;
•• additional restrictions on the use of prescription drug formularies and 
rulings from pending purported class action litigation, that could result 
in adjustments to or the elimination of the average wholesale price of 
pharmaceutical products as a benchmark in establishing certain rates, 
charges, discounts, guarantees and fees for various prescription drugs;
•• additional privacy legislation and regulations that interfere with 
the proper use of medical information for research, coordination of 
medical care and disease and disability management;
•• additional variations among state laws mandating the time periods and 
administrative processes for payment of health care provider claims;
•• legislation that would exempt independent physicians from antitrust 
laws; and
•• changes in federal tax laws, such as amendments that could affect 
the taxation of employer provided benefits.


The health services industry remains under scrutiny by various state 
and federal government agencies and could be subject to government 
efforts to bring criminal actions in circumstances that could previously 
have given rise only to civil or administrative proceedings.


Guaranty fund assessments. The Company operates in a regulatory 
environment that may require the Company to participate in assessments 
under state insurance guaranty association laws. The Company’s exposure 
to assessments is based on its share of business it writes in the relevant 
jurisdictions for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to 
policyholders and claimants. for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, charges related to guaranty fund assessments were not 
material to the Company’s results of operations.


The Company is aware of an insurer that is in rehabilitation, an 
intermediate action before insolvency. as of December 31, 2011, 
the regulator had petitioned the state court for liquidation and the 
Company believes it is likely that the state court will rule on insolvency 
for this insurer in 2012. if the insurer is declared insolvent and placed 
in liquidation, the Company and other insurers may be required to pay 
a portion of policyholder claims through guaranty fund assessments 
from various states in which the Company’s insurance subsidiaries write 
premiums. based on current information available, that is subject to 
change, the Company has estimated that potential future assessments 
could decrease its future results of operations by up to $40 million 
after-tax. The ultimate amount and timing of any future charges for 
this potential insolvency will depend on several factors, including the 
declaration of insolvency and the amount of the potential insolvency, the 
basis, amount and timing of associated estimated future guaranty fund 
assessments and the availability and amount of any potential premium 
tax and other offsets. Cash payments, if any, by the Company’s insurance 
subsidiaries are likely to extend over several years. The Company will 
continue to monitor the outcome of the court’s deliberations and may 
record a liability and expense in a future reporting period.


E. Litigation and Other Legal Matters
The Company is routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, 
regulatory and irS audits, investigations and other legal matters arising, 
for the most part, in the ordinary course of managing a health services 
business, including payments to providers and benefit level disputes. 
Such legal matters include benefit claims, breach of contract claims, tort 
claims, disputes regarding reinsurance arrangements, employment related 
suits, employee benefit claims, wage and hour claims, and intellectual 
property and real estate related disputes. Litigation of income tax matters 
is accounted for under faSb’s accounting guidance for uncertainty 
in income taxes. further information can be found in note 19. The 
outcome of litigation and other legal matters is always uncertain, and 
unfavorable outcomes that are not justified by the evidence can occur. 
The Company believes that it has valid defenses to the legal matters 
pending against it and is defending itself vigorously.


When the Company (in the course of its regular review of pending 
litigation and legal matters) has determined that a material loss is 
reasonably possible, the matter is disclosed including an estimate or 
range of loss or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. 
in many proceedings, however, it is inherently difficult to determine 
whether any loss is probable or even possible or to estimate the amount 
or range of any loss. in accordance with applicable accounting guidance, 
when litigation and regulatory matters present loss contingencies 
that are both probable and estimable, the Company accrues the 
estimated loss by a charge to income. The amount accrued represents 
the Company’s best estimate of the probable loss. if only a range of 
estimated losses can be determined, the Company accrues an amount 
within the range that, in the Company’s judgment, reflects the most 
likely outcome; if none of the estimates within that range is a better 
estimate than any other amount, the Company accrues at the low end 
of the range. in cases that the Company has accrued an estimated loss, 
the accrued amount may differ materially from the ultimate amount 
of the relevant costs. as a litigation or regulatory matter develops, the 
Company monitors the matter for further developments that could 
affect the amount previously accrued, if any, and updates such amount 
accrued or disclosures previously provided as appropriate.


except as otherwise noted, the Company believes that the legal actions, 
proceedings and investigations currently pending against it should not 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operation, 
financial condition or liquidity based upon current knowledge and 
taking into consideration current accruals. however, in light of the 
uncertainties involved in these matters, there is no assurance that their 
ultimate resolution will not exceed the amounts currently accrued by 
the Company and that an adverse outcome in one or more of these 
matters could be material to the Company’s results of operation, 
financial condition or liquidity for any particular period.


Amara cash balance pension plan litigation. on December 18, 2001, 
Janice amara filed a class action lawsuit, captioned Janice C. Amara, 
Gisela R. Broderick, Annette S. Glanz, individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated v. Cigna Corporation and Cigna Pension Plan, 
in the united States District Court for the District of Connecticut 
against Cigna Corporation and the Cigna pension plan on behalf of 
herself and other similarly situated participants in the Cigna pension 
plan affected by the 1998 conversion to a cash balance formula. The 
plaintiffs allege various eriSa violations including, among other 
things, that the plan’s cash balance formula discriminates against older 
employees; the conversion resulted in a wear away period (when the 
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pre-conversion accrued benefit exceeded the post-conversion benefit); 
and these conditions are not adequately disclosed in the plan.


in 2008, the court issued a decision finding in favor of Cigna Corporation 
and the Cigna pension plan on the age discrimination and wear away 
claims. however, the court found in favor of the plaintiffs on many 
aspects of the disclosure claims and ordered an enhanced level of 
benefits from the existing cash balance formula for the majority of the 
class, requiring class members to receive their frozen benefits under 
the pre-conversion Cigna pension plan and their post-1997 accrued 
benefits under the post-conversion Cigna pension plan. The court also 
ordered, among other things, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest. 


both parties appealed the court’s decisions to the united States 
Court of appeals for the Second Circuit which issued a decision on 
october 6, 2009 affirming the District Court’s judgment and order 
on all issues. on January 4, 2010, both parties filed separate petitions 
for a writ of certiorari to the united States Supreme Court. Cigna’s 
petition was granted, and on May 16, 2011, the Supreme Court issued 
its opinion in which it reversed the lower courts’ decisions and remanded 
the case to the trial judge for reconsideration of the remedy. The Court 
unanimously agreed with the Company’s position that the lower courts 
erred in granting a remedy for an inaccurate plan description under an 
eriSa provision that allows only recovery of plan benefits. however, 
the decision identified possible avenues of “appropriate equitable relief ” 
that plaintiffs may pursue as an alternative remedy.


The case is now in the trial court following remand. briefs have 
been filed on the remedial issues and oral argument took place on 
December 9, 2011. The Company will continue to vigorously defend its 
position in this case. as of December 31, 2011, the Company continues 
to carry a liability of $82 million pre-tax ($53 million after-tax), that 
reflects the Company’s best estimate of the exposure.


Ingenix. on february 13, 2008, State of new York attorney general 
andrew M. Cuomo announced an industry-wide investigation into the 
use of data provided by ingenix, inc., a subsidiary of unitedhealthcare, 
used to calculate payments for services provided by out-of-network 
providers. The Company received four subpoenas from the new York 
attorney general’s office in connection with this investigation and 
responded appropriately. on february 17, 2009, the Company entered 
into an assurance of Discontinuance resolving the investigation. in 
connection with the industry-wide resolution, the Company contributed 
$10 million to the establishment of a new non-profit company that 
now compiles and provides the data formerly provided by ingenix.


The Company was named as a defendant in a number of putative 
nationwide class actions asserting that due to the use of data from 
ingenix, inc., the Company improperly underpaid claims, an industry-
wide issue. all of the class actions were consolidated into Franco v. 
Connecticut General Life Insurance Company et al., which is pending 
in the united States District Court for the District of new Jersey. The 
consolidated amended complaint, filed on august 7, 2009, asserts 
claims under eriSa, the riCo statute, the Sherman antitrust act 
and new Jersey state law on behalf of subscribers, health care providers 


and various medical associations. Cigna filed a motion to dismiss the 
consolidated amended complaint on September 9, 2009. plaintiffs 
filed a motion for class certification on May 28, 2010. fact and expert 
discovery have been completed.


on September 23, 2011, the court granted in part and denied in part 
the motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. The court 
dismissed all claims by the health care provider and medical association 
plaintiffs for lack of standing to sue, and as a result the case will proceed 
only on behalf of subscribers. in addition, the court dismissed all of the 
antitrust claims, the eriSa claims based on disclosure and the new 
Jersey state law claims. The court did not dismiss the eriSa claims 
for benefits and claims under the riCo statute.


on June 9, 2009, Cigna filed motions in the united States District Court 
for the Southern District of florida to enforce a previous settlement, In 
re Managed Care Litigation, by enjoining the riCo and antitrust causes 
of action asserted by the provider and medical association plaintiffs 
in the Ingenix litigation on the ground that they arose previously and 
were released in the prior settlement. on november 30, 2009, the 
Court granted the motions and ordered the provider and association 
plaintiffs to withdraw their riCo and antitrust claims from the Ingenix 
litigation. plaintiffs appealed to the eleventh Circuit and the appeal 
is pending. The claims of these provider and association plaintiffs 
have now been dismissed by the Franco court for lack of standing as 
described above, and therefore Cigna moved to dismiss the eleventh 
Circuit appeal as moot.


it is reasonably possible that others could initiate additional litigation 
or additional regulatory action against the Company with respect to use 
of data provided by ingenix, inc. The Company denies the allegations 
asserted in the investigations and litigation and will vigorously defend 
itself in these matters.


Due to numerous uncertain and unpredictable factors presented in 
these cases, it is not possible to estimate a range of loss at this time 
and, accordingly, no accrual has been recorded in the Company’s 
financial statements.


Karp gender discrimination litigation. on March 3, 2011, bretta 
Karp filed a class action gender discrimination lawsuit against the 
Company in the united States District Court for the District of 
Massachusetts. The plaintiff alleges systemic discrimination against 
females in compensation, promotions, training, and performance 
evaluations in violation of title Vii of the Civil rights act of 1964, 
as amended, and Massachusetts law. plaintiff seeks monetary damages 
and various other forms of broad programmatic relief, including 
injunctive relief, backpay, lost benefits, and preferential rights to jobs. 
The Company filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit on May 16, 2011, 
which is fully briefed and pending. The Company denies the allegations 
asserted in the litigation and will vigorously defend itself in this case. 
Due to numerous uncertain and unpredictable factors presented in 
this case, it is not possible to estimate a range of loss (if any) at this 
time, and accordingly, no accrual has been recorded in the Company’s 
financial statements.
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Report of Independent Registered public Accounting Firm


To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cigna 
Corporation
in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income 
and changes in total equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Cigna Corporation and its subsidiaries 
(“the Company”) at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2011 in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the united States of america. also in 
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring organizations of the treadway 
Commission (CoSo). The Company’s management is responsible for 
these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s 
annual report on internal Control over financial reporting. our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and 
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 
the standards of the public Company accounting oversight board 
(united States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. our audits of the financial statements included examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal 


control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. our audits 
also included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinions.


a company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
a company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.


because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to 
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.


/s/ Pricewaterhousecoopers LLP
philadelphia, pennsylvania
february 23, 2012
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Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)


The following unaudited quarterly financial data is presented on a consolidated basis for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
December 31, 2010. Quarterly financial results necessarily rely heavily on estimates. This and certain other factors, such as the seasonal nature 
of portions of the insurance business, suggest the need to exercise caution in drawing specific conclusions from quarterly consolidated results.


(In millions, except per share amounts)


Three months ended
march 31 june 30 Sept. 30 dec. 31


Consolidated Results         
2011         
total revenues $ 5,413 $ 5,509 $ 5,613 $ 5,463
income from continuing operations before income taxes  600  616  297  455
Shareholders’ net income  429                (1) 408(2)  200(3)  290(4)


Shareholders’ net income per share:        


basic  1.59  1.52  0.74  1.05
Diluted  1.57  1.50  0.74  1.04


2010         
total revenues $ 5,205 $ 5,353 $ 5,266 $ 5,429
income from continuing operations before income taxes  422  439  464  545
Shareholders’ net income  283(5) 294(6)  307(7)  461(8)


Shareholders’ net income per share:         
basic  1.03  1.07  1.13  1.71
Diluted  1.02  1.06  1.13  1.69


Stock and Dividend Data         
2011         
price range of common 
stock — high $ 44.29 $ 51.81 $ 52.95 $ 47.61
 — low $ 36.76 $ 42.80 $ 40.24 $ 38.82
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.040 $ - $ - $ -
2010         
price range of common 
stock  — high $ 39.26 $ 37.61 $ 36.03 $ 38.53
 — low $ 32.00 $ 30.78 $ 29.12 $ 34.33
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.040 $ - $ - $ -
(1) The first quarter of 2011 includes an after-tax gain of $13 million for the GMIB business and a net tax benefit of $24 million related to the resolution of a Federal tax matter.
(2) The second quarter of 2011 includes an after-tax loss of $21 million for the GMIB business.
(3) The third quarter of 2011 includes an after-tax loss of $134 million for the GMIB business.
(4) The fourth quarter of 2011 includes an after-tax gain of $7 million for the GMIB business and, an after-tax charge of $31 million for costs associated with acquisitions.
(5) The first quarter of 2010 includes an after-tax gain of $5 million for the GMIB business.
(6) The second quarter of 2010 includes an after-tax loss of $104 million for the GMIB business.
(7) The third quarter of 2010 includes an after-tax loss of $10 million for the GMIB business.
(8) The fourth quarter of 2010 includes an after-tax gain of $85 million for the GMIB business, an after-tax charge of $20 million for the loss on a reinsurance transaction, a net tax 


benefit of $101 million related to the resolution of a Federal tax matter, and an after-tax charge of $39 million related to the early extinguishment of debt.
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Cigna


Five-Year Cumulative Total Shareholder Return*
December 29, 2006 - December 30, 2011 


* Assumes that the value of the investment in Cigna common stock and each index was $100 on December 29, 2006 and that all dividends were reinvested.
** Weighted average of S & P Managed Health Care (75%) and Life & Health Insurance (25%) Indexes.


12/29/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/08 12/31/10 12/30/11
Cigna $100 $123 $38 $81 $84 $96 
S&p 500 index $100 $105 $66 $84 $97 $99 
S&p Mgd. health Care, Life & health ins. indexes** $100 $114 $53 $66 $75 $89 
*Assumes that the value of the investment in Cigna common stock and each index was $100 on December 29, 2006 and that all dividends were reinvested.
**Weighted average of S&P Managed Health Care (75%) and Life & Health Insurance (25%) Indexes.
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ITEM 9 Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants 
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure


none.


ITEM 9A Controls and procedures


A. Disclosure Controls and procedures


based on an evaluation of the effectiveness of Cigna’s disclosure 
controls and procedures conducted under the supervision and with the 
participation of Cigna’s management, Cigna’s Chief executive officer 
and Chief financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report, Cigna’s disclosure controls and procedures are 


effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Cigna in 
the reports that it files or submits under the exchange act is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified 
in the SeC’s rules and forms.


B. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting


Management’s Annual Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management report on internal control over financial 
reporting under the caption “Management’s annual report on internal 
Control over financial reporting” on page 67 in this form 10-K.


Attestation Report of the Registered public 
Accounting Firm
The attestation report of Cigna’s independent registered public accounting 


firm, on the effectiveness of Cigna’s internal control over financial 
reporting appears under the caption “report of independent registered 
public accounting firm” on page 123 of this form 10-K.


Changes in Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting
There have been no changes in Cigna’s internal control over financial 
reporting identified in connection with the evaluation described in the 
above paragraph that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely 
to materially affect, Cigna’s internal control over financial reporting.


ITEM 9B Other Information
none.
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Part iii


ITEM 10 Directors, Executive Officers and 
Corporate Governance


A. Directors of the Registrant


The information under the captions “The board of Directors’ nominees for terms to expire in april 2015,” “Directors Who Will Continue 
in office,” “board of Directors and Committee Meetings, Membership, attendance and independence” (as it relates to audit Committee 
disclosure), and “Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting Compliance” in Cigna’s proxy statement to be dated on or about March 16, 2012 
is incorporated by reference.


B. Executive Officers of the Registrant


See part i – “executive officers of the registrant on page 31 in this form 10-K.”


C. Code of Ethics and Other Corporate Governance Disclosures


Cigna’s Code of ethics is the Company’s code of business conduct and 
ethics, and applies to Cigna’s directors, officers (including the chief 
executive officer, chief financial officer and chief accounting officer) and 
employees. The Code of ethics is posted on the Corporate governance 
section found on the “about Cigna” page of the Company’s website, 
www.cigna.com. in the event the Company substantively amends 
its Code of ethics or waives a provision of the Code, Cigna intends 
to disclose the amendment or waiver on the Corporate governance 
section of the Company’s website.


in addition, the Company’s corporate governance guidelines (board 
practices) and the charters of its board committees (audit, corporate 
governance, executive, finance and people resources) are available on 
the Corporate governance section of the Company’s website. These 
corporate governance documents, as well as the Code of ethics, are 
available in print to any shareholder who requests them.


ITEM 11 Executive Compensation
The information under the captions “Director Compensation,” “report of the people resources Committee,” “Compensation Discussion and 
analysis” and “executive Compensation” in Cigna’s proxy statement to be dated on or about March 16, 2012 is incorporated by reference.


  Contents  Q




http://www.cigna.com/aboutus/investor-relations







128 CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part iii 
ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters


ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 
and Management and Related Stockholder Matters


The following table presents information regarding Cigna’s equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2011:


Plan category


(a) (1)
Securities to Be issued 


Upon exercise of 
outstanding options, 
warrants and rights


(b) (2)
weighted average 


exercise Price Per Share 
of outstanding options, 


warrants and rights


(c) (3)
Securities remaining available 


For Future issuance Under equity 
compensation Plans (excluding 


Securities reflected in column (a))
equity Compensation plans approved by Security holders 11,480,832 $ 33.92 12,184,049
equity Compensation plans not approved by Security holders -  - -
totaL 11,480,832 $ 33.92 12,184,049
(1) In addition to outstanding options, includes 116,694 restricted stock units, 82,791 deferred shares, 32,315 director deferred share units that settle in shares, and 1,667,702 strategic 


performance shares which are reported at the maximum 200% payout rate.
(2) The weighted-average exercise price is based only on outstanding options.
(3) Includes 437,931 shares of common stock available as of the close of business December 31, 2011 for future issuance under the Cigna Directors Equity Plan; and 8,212,760 shares 


of common stock available as of the close of business on December 31, 2011 for future issuance under the Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan as shares of restricted stock, strategic 
performance shares, shares in payment of dividend equivalent rights, shares in lieu of cash payable under a Qualifying Plan, or shares in payment of strategic performance units.


The information under the captions “Stock held by Directors, nominees and executive officers” and “Largest Security holders” in Cigna’s proxy 
statement to be dated on or about March 16, 2012 is incorporated by reference.


ITEM 13 Certain Relationships, Related Transactions 
and Director Independence


The information under the caption “Certain transactions” in Cigna’s proxy statement to be dated on or about March 16, 2012 is incorporated 
by reference.


ITEM 14 principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information under the captions “policy for the pre-approval of audit and non-audit Services” and “fees to independent registered public 
accounting firm” in Cigna’s proxy statement to be dated on or about March 16, 2012 is incorporated by reference.
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Part iV


ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) (1) The following financial Statements appear on pages 68 


through 124:
 Consolidated Statements of income for the years ended 
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
 Consolidated balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 
2010.
 C o n s o l i d a t e d  S t a t e m e n t s  o f  C o m p r e h e n s i v e 
income and Changes in total equity for the years ended 
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.


 Consolidated Statements of Cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.
 notes to the Consolidated financial Statements.
 report of independent registered public accounting firm.
(2) The financial statement schedules are listed in the index to 
financial Statement Schedules on page fS-1.
(3) The exhibits are listed in the index to exhibits beginning on 
page e-1.
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Signatures


pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities exchange act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.


cigna corPoration
Date: february 23, 2012
by: /s/ ralph J. nicoletti
name: ralph j. nicoletti
title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)


pursuant to the requirements of the Securities exchange act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of february 23, 2012.


Signature title
/s/ David M. Cordani Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer) 
david m. cordani
/s/ ralph J. nicoletti  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
ralph j. nicoletti
/s/ Mary t. hoeltzel  Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
mary t. hoeltzel
/s/ eric J. foss Director 
eric j. Foss
/s/ isaiah harris, Jr.  Chairman of the Board
isaiah harris, jr.
/s/ Jane e. henney, M.D. Director
jane e. henney, m.d.
/s/ roman Martinez iV Director 
roman martinez iV
/s/ John M. partridge Director 
john m. Partridge
/s/ James e. rogers  Director
james e. rogers
/s/ Joseph p. Sullivan Director 
joseph P. Sullivan
/s/ eric C. Wiseman Director 
eric c. wiseman
/s/ Donna f. Zarcone  Director
donna F. zarcone
/s/ William D. Zollars  Director
william d. zollars
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index to FinanciaL Statement 
SchedULeS


Report of Independent Registered public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedules ......................................FS‑2


Schedules


I  — Summary of Investments-other than Investments in Related parties — December 31, 2011 .......................................................................................FS‑3
II  — Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation  — (Registrant) ..............................................................................................................................................FS‑4
III — Supplementary Insurance Information ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................FS‑10
Iv — Reinsurance ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................FS‑12
v — valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................FS‑13
Schedules other than those listed above are omitted because they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is shown in 
the financial statements or notes thereto.


ITEM 15 Exhibits and 
Financial 
Statement 
Schedules


ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
index to FinanciaL Statement SchedULeS 


  Contents  Q








FS-2 CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part iV
ITEM 15 Report of Independent Registered public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedules


Report of Independent Registered public Accounting Firm 
on Financial Statement Schedules


To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cigna Corporation
our audits of the consolidated financial statements and of the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting referred to in our report dated 
february 23, 2012 (which report and consolidated financial statements 
are included under item 8 in this annual report on form 10-K) also 
included an audit of the financial statement schedules listed in item 15(a)


(2) of this form 10-K. in our opinion, these financial statement 
schedules present fairly, in all material respects, the information set 
forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated 
financial statements.


/s/ Pricewaterhousecoopers LLP
philadelphia, pennsylvania
february 23, 2012
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ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Part iV


Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule I  — Summary of Investments-other than Investments in Related parties — 
December 31, 2011 (In millions)


type of investment cost Fair Value


amount at which shown 
in the consolidated 


Balance Sheet


fixed maturities:       


bonds:       


united States government and government agencies and authorities $ 552 $ 958 $ 958


States, municipalities and political subdivisions  2,185  2,456  2,456


foreign governments  1,173  1,274  1,274


public utilities  84  88  88


all other corporate bonds  9,378  10,401  10,401


asset backed securities:       


united States government agencies mortgage-backed  9  9  9


other mortgage-backed  74  80  80


other asset-backed  778  927  927


redeemable preferred stocks  24  24  24


totaL Fixed matUritieS 14,257 16,217 16,217


equity securities:       


Common stocks:       


industrial, miscellaneous and all other  25  27  27


non redeemable preferred stocks  99  73  73


totaL eQUitY SecUritieS 124 100 100


Commercial mortgage loans on real estate  3,301    3,301


policy loans  1,502    1,502


real estate investments  87    87


other long-term investments  1,014    1,058


Short-term investments  225    225
totaL inVeStmentS $ 20,510 $ 22,490
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule II  — Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation  — (Registrant)


Statements of Income


(In millions)


For the year ended december 31,
2011 2010 2009


operating expenses:       
interest $ 195 $ 176 $ 160
intercompany interest  19  26  80
other  92  129  68


totaL oPerating exPenSeS 306 331 308
Loss before income taxes  (306)  (331)  (308)
income tax benefit  (107)  (106)  (118)
Loss of parent company  (199)  (225)  (190)
equity in income of subsidiaries from continuing operations  1,526  1,570  1,491
Shareholders’ income from continuing operations  1,327  1,345  1,301
income from discontinued operations, net of taxes  -  -  1
SharehoLderS’ net income $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,302
See Notes to Financial Statements on pages FS-7 through FS-9.
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule II — Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)


Balance sheets


(In millions)


as of december 31,


2011 2010
ASSETS:         
investments in subsidiaries   $ 14,956   $ 14,384
other assets    793    568
totaL aSSetS $ 15,749 $ 14,952
LIABILITIES:         


intercompany   $ 460   $ 3,718
Short-term debt    100    548
Long-term debt    4,869    2,180
other liabilities    1,976    1,861


totaL LiaBiLitieS 7,405 8,307
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITy:         


Common stock (shares issued, 366; 351; authorized, 600)    92    88
additional paid-in capital    3,188    2,534
net unrealized appreciation — fixed maturities   739   529
net unrealized appreciation — equity securities   1   3
net unrealized depreciation — derivatives   (23)   (24)
net translation of foreign currencies   (3)   25
postretirement benefits liability adjustment   (1,507)   (1,147)
accumulated other comprehensive loss    (793)    (614)


retained earnings    11,143    9,879
Less treasury stock, at cost    (5,286)    (5,242)
totaL SharehoLderS’ eQUitY 8,344 6,645


totaL LiaBiLitieS and SharehoLderS’ eQUitY $ 15,749 $ 14,952


See Notes to Financial Statements on pages FS-7 through FS-9.


  Contents  Q








FS-6 CIGNA CORpORATION - 2011 Form 10-K


Part iV
ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules


Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule II — Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)


Statements of Cash Flows


(In millions) 


For the year ended december 31,
2011 2010 2009


Cash flows from operating activities:       
Shareholders’ net income $ 1,327 $ 1,345 $ 1,302
adjustments to reconcile shareholders’ net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       


equity in income of subsidiaries  (1,527)  (1,574)  (1,494)
(income) from discontinued operations  -  -  (1)
Dividends received from subsidiaries  1,135  1,050  650
other liabilities  (296)  (294)  (401)
other, net  (91)  162  356


net cash provided by operating activities  548  689  412
Cash flows from financing activities:       
net change in intercompany debt  (3,258)  (816)  (579)
repayment of debt  (449)  (268)  (199)
net proceeds on issuance of long-term debt  2,661  543  346
issuance of common stock  734  64  30
Common dividends paid  (11)  (11)  (11)
repurchase of common stock  (225)  (201)  -


net cash used in financing activities  (548)  (689)  (413)
net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -  -  (1)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  -  -  1
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ - $ - $ -
See Notes to Financial Statements on pages FS-7 through FS-9.
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule II — Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)


Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read 
in conjunction with the Consolidated financial Statements and the 
accompanying notes thereto in the annual report on form 10-K.


note 1—for purposes of these condensed financial statements, Cigna 


Corporation’s (the Company) wholly owned and majority owned 
subsidiaries are recorded using the equity basis of accounting. Certain 
reclassifications have been made to prior years’ amounts to conform 
to the 2011 presentation.


note 2—Short-term and long-term debt consisted of the following 
at December 31:


(In millions) december 31, 2011 december 31, 2010
Short‑term:     
Commercial paper $ 100 $ 100
Current maturities of long-term debt  -  448
totaL Short‑term deBt $ 100 $ 548
Long‑term:     
uncollateralized debt:     
2.75% notes due 2016 $ 600 $ -
5.375% notes due 2017  250  250
6.35% notes due 2018  131  131
8.5% notes due 2019  251  251
4.375% notes due 2020  249  249
5.125% notes due 2020  299  299
4.5% notes due 2021  298  -
4% notes due 2022  743  -
7.65% notes due 2023  100  100
8.3% notes due 2023  17  17
7.875% Debentures due 2027  300  300
8.3% Step Down notes due 2033  83  83
6.15% notes due 2036  500  500
5.875% notes due 2041  298  -
5.375% notes due 2042  750  -
totaL Long‑term deBt $ 4,869 $ 2,180


on november 10, 2011, the Company issued $2.1 billion of long-term 
debt as follows: $600 million of 5-Year notes due november 15, 2016 
at a stated interest rate of 2.75% ($600 million, net of discount, 
with an effective interest rate of 2.936% per year), $750 million of 
10-Year notes due february 15, 2022 at a stated interest rate of 4% 
($743 million, net of discount, with an effective interest rate of 4.346% 
per year) and $750 million of 30-Year notes due february 15, 2042 at 
a stated interest rate of 5.375% ($750 million, net of discount, with 


an effective interest rate of 5.542% per year). interest is payable on 
May 15 and november 15 of each year beginning May 15, 2012 for the 
5-Year notes and february 15 and august 15 of each year beginning 
february 15, 2012 for the 10-Year and 30-Year notes. The proceeds 
of this debt were used to reduce the intercompany payable balance 
with Cigna holdings and ultimately used to fund the healthSpring 
acquisition in 2012.
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The Company may redeem these notes, at any time, in whole or in 
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:


•• 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; or
•• the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments 
on the notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable treasury 
rate plus 30 basis points (5-Year 2.75% notes due 2016), 35 basis 
points (10-Year 4% notes due 2022), or 40 basis points (30-Year 
5.375% notes due 2042).


in June 2011, the Company entered into a new five-year revolving 
credit and letter of credit agreement for $1.5 billion, which permits 
up to $500 million to be used for letters of credit. This agreement is 
diversified among 16 banks, with 3 banks each having 12% of the 
commitment and the remaining 13 banks with 64% of the commitment. 
The credit agreement includes options that are subject to consent 
by the administrative agent and the committing banks, to increase 
the commitment amount to $2 billion and to extend the term past 
June 2016. The credit agreement is available for general corporate 
purposes, including as a commercial paper backstop and for the 
issuance of letters of credit. This agreement includes certain covenants, 
including a financial covenant requiring the Company to maintain 
a total debt to adjusted capital ratio at or below 0.50 to 1.00. as of 
December 31, 2011, the Company had $4 billion of borrowing capacity 
within the maximum debt coverage covenant in the agreement in 
addition to the $5.1 billion of debt outstanding. There were letters of 
credit of $118 million issued as of December 31, 2011.


in March 2011, the Company issued $300 million of 10-Year notes due 
March 15, 2021 at a stated interest rate of 4.5% ($298 million, net 
of discount, with an effective interest rate of 4.683% per year) and 
$300 million of 30-Year notes due March 15, 2041 at a stated interest 
rate of 5.875% ($298 million, net of discount, with an effective 
interest rate of 6.008% per year). interest is payable on March 15 and 
September 15 of each year beginning September 15, 2011. The proceeds 
of this debt were used for general corporate purposes, including the 
repayment of debt maturing in 2011.


The Company may redeem these notes, at any time, in whole or in 
part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:


•• 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; or
•• the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments 
on the notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable treasury 


rate plus 20 basis points (10-Year 4.5% notes due 2021) or 25 basis 
points (30-Year 5.875% notes due 2041).


During 2011, the Company repaid $449 million in maturing long-
term debt.


in the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company entered into the following 
transactions related to its long-term debt:


•• in December 2010 the Company offered to settle its 8.5% notes due 
2019, including accrued interest from november 1 through the 
settlement date. The tender price equaled the present value of the 
remaining principal and interest payments on the notes being 
redeemed, discounted at a rate equal to the 10-year treasury rate 
plus a fixed spread of 100 basis points. The tender offer priced at 
a yield of 4.128% and principal of $99 million was tendered, with 
$251 million remaining outstanding. The Company paid $130 million, 
including accrued interest and expenses, to settle the notes, resulting 
in an after-tax loss on early debt extinguishment of $21 million.
•• in December 2010 the Company offered to settle its 6.35% notes due 
2018, including accrued interest from September 16 through the 
settlement date. The tender price equaled the present value of the 
remaining principal and interest payments on the notes being 
redeemed, discounted at a rate equal to the 10-year treasury rate 
plus a fixed spread of 45 basis points. The tender offer priced at a 
yield of 3.923% and principal of $169 million was tendered, with 
$131 million remaining outstanding. The Company paid $198 million, 
including accrued interest and expenses, to settle the notes, resulting 
in an after-tax loss on early debt extinguishment of $18 million.
•• in December 2010, the Company issued $250 million of 4.375% 
notes ($249 million net of debt discount, with an effective interest 
rate of 5.1%). The difference between the stated and effective interest 
rates primarily reflects the effect of treasury locks. interest is payable on 
June 15 and December 15 of each year beginning December 15, 2010. 
These notes will mature on December 15, 2020. The proceeds of this 
debt were used to fund the tender offer for the 8.5% Senior notes due 
2019 and the 6.35% Senior notes due 2018 described above.


in May 2010, the Company issued $300 million of 5.125% 
notes ($299 million, net of debt discount, with an effective interest 
rate of 5.36% per year). interest is payable on June 15 and December 15 
of each year beginning December 15, 2010. These notes will mature 
on June 15, 2020. The proceeds of this debt were used for general 
corporate purposes.
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The Company may redeem the notes issued in 2010 at any time, in 
whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:


•• 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed; or
•• the present value of the remaining principal and interest payments 
on the notes being redeemed discounted at the applicable treasury 
rate plus 25 basis points.


Maturities of debt are as follows (in millions): none in 2012, 
2013, 2014, 2015, $600 in 2016 and the remainder in years after 2016. 
interest expense on long-term and short-term debt was $195 million 
in 2011, $176 million in 2010, and $160 million in 2009. interest 
paid on long-term and short-term debt was $179 million in 2011, 
$175 million in 2010, and $153 million in 2009.


note 3—intercompany liabilities consist primarily of loans payable to 
Cigna holdings, inc. of $460 million as of December 31, 2011 and 
$3.7 billion as of December 31, 2010. The proceeds of the debt issuance 
in november 2011 of $2.1 billion (see note 2) and the equity issuance 
of $629 million (see note 5) were used to reduce the intercompany loan 
payable balance with Cigna holdings and ultimately used to fund the 
healthSpring acquisition in 2012. interest was accrued at an average 
monthly rate of 0.63% for 2011 and 0.61% for 2010.


note 4—as of December 31, 2011, the Company had guarantees and 
similar agreements in place to secure payment obligations or solvency 
requirements of certain wholly owned subsidiaries as follows:


•• The Company has arranged for bank letters of credit in the amount 
of $36 million in support of its indirect wholly owned subsidiaries. 
as of December 31, 2011, approximately $33 million of the letters 
of credit were issued to support Cigna global reinsurance Company, 
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary domiciled in bermuda. These 
letters of credit primarily secure the payment of insureds’ claims 
from run-off reinsurance operations. as of December 31, 2011, 
approximately $3 million of the letters of credit were issued to 
provide collateral support for various other indirectly wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Company.


•• Various indirect, wholly owned subsidiaries have obtained surety bonds 
in the normal course of business. if there is a claim on a surety bond 
and the subsidiary is unable to pay, the Company guarantees payment 
to the company issuing the surety bond. The aggregate amount of 
such surety bonds as of December was $24 million.
•• The Company is obligated under a $27 million letter of credit required 
by the insurer of its high-deductible self-insurance programs to 
indemnify the insurer for claim liabilities that fall within deductible 
amounts for policy years dating back to 1994.
•• The Company also provides solvency guarantees aggregating $34 million 
under state and federal regulations in support of its indirect wholly 
owned medical hMos in several states.
•• The Company has arranged a $55 million letter of credit in support 
of Cigna europe insurance Company, an indirect wholly owned 
subsidiary. The Company has agreed to indemnify the banks providing 
the letters of credit in the event of any draw. Cigna europe insurance 
Company is the holder of the letters of credit.
•• in addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify payment of 
losses included in Cigna europe insurance Company’s reserves 
on the assumed reinsurance business transferred from aCe. as of 
December 31, 2011, the reserve was $88 million.


in 2011, no payments have been made on these guarantees and none 
are pending. The Company provided other guarantees to subsidiaries 
that, in the aggregate, do not represent a material risk to the Company’s 
results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.


note 5 - on november 16, 2011, the Company issued 15.2 million shares 
of its common stock at $42.75 per share. proceeds were $650 million 
($629 million net of underwriting discount and fees). The proceeds 
were used to reduce the intercompany loan payable balance with Cigna 
holdings and ultimately used to fund the healthSpring acquisition 
in January 2012.
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule III — Supplementary Insurance Information


Segment
(In millions)


deferred policy 
acquisition costs


Future policy benefits 
and contractholder 


deposit funds


medical claims 
payable and 


unpaid claims


Unearned 
premiums and 


fees
Year ended December 31, 2011:         
health Care $ 51 $ 481 $ 1,229 $ 77
Disability and Life  1  1,178  3,208  16
international  1,192  1,338  411  381
run-off reinsurance  -  1,172  240  -
other operations  68  12,977  160  27
Corporate  -  -  (7)  -
totaL $ 1,312 $ 17,146 $ 5,241 $ 501
Year ended December 31, 2010:         
health Care $ 54 $ 488 $ 1,400 $ 80
Disability and Life  2  1,066  3,180  17
international  998  1,173  288  288
run-off reinsurance  -  1,139  244  -
other operations  68  12,790  159  31
Corporate  -  -  (8)  -
totaL $ 1,122 $ 16,656 $ 5,263 $ 416
Year ended December 31, 2009:         
health Care $ 60 $ 507 $ 1,098 $ 76
Disability and Life  6  1,023  3,122  32
international  808  1,003  228  282
run-off reinsurance  -  1,287  288  -
other operations  69  12,800  161  37
Corporate  -  -  (8)  -
totaL $ 943 $ 16,620 $ 4,889 $ 427
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Premiums and 
fees (1)


net investment 
income (2)


Benefit expenses 
(1)(3)


amortization of 
deferred policy 


acquisition 
expenses


other operating 
expenses (4)


 $ 13,181 $ 274 $ 8,265 $ 139 $ 5,185
  2,780  267  2,003  4  644
  2,990  96  1,697  185  819
  24  103  140  -  265
  114  400  385  6  60
  -  6  -  -  233
 $ 19,089 $ 1,146 $ 12,490 $ 334 $ 7,206


 $ 13,319 $ 243 $ 8,670 $ 155 $ 5,086
  2,667  261  1,935  6  699
  2,268  82  1,255  145  639
  25  114  (22)  -  113
  114  404  395  6  53
  -  1  -  -  248
 $ 18,393 $ 1,105 $ 12,233 $ 312 $ 6,838


 $ 11,384 $ 181 $ 7,096 $ 141 $ 4,742
  2,634  244  1,922  6  670
  1,882  69  1,080  146  491
  29  113  (146)  -  (273)
  112  407  398  6  62
  -  -  (16)  -  191
 $ 16,041 $ 1,014 $ 10,334 $ 299 $ 5,883
(1) Amounts presented are shown net of the effects of reinsurance. See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Cigna’s 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(2) The allocation of net investment income is based upon the investment year method, the identification of certain portfolios with specific segments, or a combination of both.
(3) Benefit expenses include Health Care medical claims expense and other benefit expenses.
(4) Other operating expenses include mail order pharmacy cost of goods sold, GMIB fair value (gain) loss and other operating expenses, and excludes amortization of deferred policy 


acquisition expenses.
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule Iv — Reinsurance


(In millions) gross amount
ceded to other 


companies
assumed from 


other companies net amount


Percentage 
of amount 


assumed to net
Year ended December 31, 2011:          


Life insurance in force $ 606,587 $ 53,088 $ 9,163 $ 562,662 1.6%
premiums and fees:          


Life insurance and annuities $ 1,990 $ 280 $ 40 $ 1,750 2.3%
accident and health insurance  17,352  167  154  17,339 0.9%


totaL $ 19,342 $ 447 $ 194 $ 19,089 1.0%
Year ended December 31, 2010:          


Life insurance in force $ 566,841 $ 44,335 $ 9,734 $ 532,240 1.8%
premiums and fees:          


Life insurance and annuities $ 2,026 $ 264 $ 107 $ 1,869 5.7%
accident and health insurance  16,272  173  425  16,524 2.6%


totaL $ 18,298 $ 437 $ 532 $ 18,393 2.9%
Year ended December 31, 2009:          


Life insurance in force $ 544,687 $ 50,011 $ 71,107 $ 565,783 12.6%
premiums and fees:          


Life insurance and annuities $ 1,909 $ 297 $ 305 $ 1,917 15.9%
accident and health insurance  13,476  156  804  14,124 5.7%


totaL $ 15,385 $ 453 $ 1,109 $ 16,041 6.9%
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Schedule v — valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves


description
(In millions)


Balance at 
beginning of 


period


charged 
(credited) to costs 


and expenses (1)


charged 
(credited) to 


other accounts (2)
other deductions 


‑ describe (3)
Balance at end of 


period
2011:           
investment asset valuation reserves:           


Commercial mortgage loans $ 12 $ 16 $ - $ (9) $ 19
allowance for doubtful accounts:           


premiums, accounts and notes receivable $ 49 $ 4 $ (1) $ (7) $ 45
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance $ 23 $ 4 $ 15 $ - $ 42
reinsurance recoverables $ 10 $ (5) $ - $ - $ 5
2010:           
investment asset valuation reserves:           


Commercial mortgage loans $ 17 $ 24 $ - $ (29) $ 12
allowance for doubtful accounts:           


premiums, accounts and notes receivable $ 43 $ 11 $ - $ (5) $ 49
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance $ 116 $ (93) $ - $ - $ 23
reinsurance recoverables $ 15 $ (5) $ - $ - $ 10
2009:           
investment asset valuation reserves:           


Commercial mortgage loans $ 3 $ 17 $ - $ (3) $ 17
allowance for doubtful accounts:           


premiums, accounts and notes receivable $ 50 $ (2) $ - $ (5) $ 43
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance $ 126 $ (2) $ - $ (8) $ 116
reinsurance recoverables $ 23 $ (7) $ - $ (1) $ 15
(1) 2010 amount for deferred tax asset valuation allowance primarily reflects the resolution of a federal tax matter. See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) 2011 increase to deferred tax asset valuation allowance reflects effects of the acquisition of First Assist in November 2011.
(3) 2011 and 2010 amounts for commercial mortgage loans primarily reflects charge-offs upon sales and repayments, as well as transfers to foreclosed real estate.
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2.1 agreement and plan of Merger dated as of october 24, 2011 


by and among Cigna Corporation, Cigna Magnolia Corp. and 
healthSpring, inc.*


filed as exhibit 2.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K on october 27, 2011 
and incorporated herein by reference.


2.2 Voting agreement dated as of october 24, 2011 among Cigna 
Corporation and herbert a. fritch


filed as exhibit 2.3 to the registrant’s form 8-K on october 26, 2011 
and incorporated herein by reference.


3.1 restated Certificate of incorporation of the registrant as last amended 
october 28, 2011


filed as exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended September 30, 2011 and incorporated herein by 
reference.


3.2 by-Laws of the registrant as last amended and restated 
october 20, 2010


filed as exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K on october 26, 2010 
and incorporated herein by reference.


4.1 (a) indenture dated august 16, 2006 between Cigna Corporation and 
u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s form S-3aSr on 
august 17, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.


(b) Supplemental indenture no. 1 dated March 7, 2008 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K on 
november 14, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.


(c) Supplemental indenture no. 2 dated March 7, 2008 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 4.1(c) to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended March 31, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference


(d) Supplemental indenture no. 3 dated March 7, 2008 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K on March 10, 2008 
and incorporated herein by reference.


(e) Supplemental indenture no. 4 dated March 7, 2008 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s form 8-K on May 12, 2009 
and incorporated herein by reference.


(f ) Supplemental indenture no. 5 dated March 7, 2008 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s form 8-K on May 28, 2010 
and incorporated herein by reference. 


(g) Supplemental indenture no. 6 dated March 7, 2008 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s form 8-K on 
December 9, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


(h) Supplemental indenture no. 7 dated March 7, 2011 between Cigna 
Corporation and u.S. bank national association


filed as exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K on March 8, 2011 
and incorporated herein by reference.


(i) Supplemental indenture no. 8 dated november 10, 2011 between 
Cigna Corporation and u.S. bank national associated


filed as exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K on 
november 14, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.


4.2 indenture dated January 1, 1994 between Cigna Corporation and 
Marine Midland bank


filed as exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


4.3 indenture dated June 30, 1988 between Cigna Corporation and 
bankers trust


filed as exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


exhibits 10.1 through 10.27 are identified as compensatory plans, management contracts or arrangements pursuant to item 15 of form 10-K.
10.1 Deferred Compensation plan for Directors of Cigna Corporation, as 


amended and restated January 1, 1997
filed herewith.


10.2 Deferred Compensation plan of 2005 for Directors of Cigna 
Corporation, amended and restated effective april 28, 2010


filed as exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.3 Cigna Corporation non-employee Director Compensation program 
amended and restated effective January 1, 2012


filed herewith.


10.4 Cigna restricted Share equivalent plan for non-employee Directors 
as amended and restated effective January 1, 2008


filed as exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.5 Cigna Corporation Director equity plan filed as exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended March 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.6 Cigna Corporation Compensation program for independent Vice 
Chairman/Chairman of the board of Directors


filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended September 30, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 


10.7 Cigna Corporation Stock plan, as amended and restated through 
July 2000


filed as exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.8 (a) Cigna Stock unit plan, as amended and restated effective 
July 22, 2008


filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended September 30, 2008 and incorporated herein by 
reference.


(b) amendment no. 1 to the Cigna Stock unit plan, as amended and 
restated effective July 22, 2008


filed as exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


* Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of any 
omitted schedule upon request.
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10.9 Cigna executive Severance benefits plan as amended and restated 


effective april 27, 2010
filed as exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.10 Description of Severance benefits for executives in non-Change of 
Control Circumstances


filed as exhibit 10.10 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.11 Description of Cigna Corporation Strategic performance Share 
program


filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended March 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.12 Cigna executive incentive plan amended and restated as of 
January 1, 2008


filed as exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.13 (a) Cigna Long-term incentive plan as amended and restated effective as 
of april 28, 2010


filed as exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended March 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


(b) amendment no. 1 to the Cigna Long-term incentive plan as 
amended and restated effective as of april 28, 2010


filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


(c) amendment no. 2 to the Cigna Long-term incentive plan as 
amended and restated effective as of april 28, 2010


filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended March 31, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.14 Cigna Deferred Compensation plan, as amended and restated 
october 24, 2001


filed herewith. 


10.15 Cigna Deferred Compensation plan of 2005 effective as of 
January 1, 2005


filed as exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.16 (a) Cigna Supplemental pension plan as amended and restated effective 
august 1, 1998


filed as exhibit 10.15(a) to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


(b) amendment no. 1 to the Cigna Supplemental pension plan, 
amended and restated effective as of September 1, 1999


filed as exhibit 10.15(b) to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


(c) amendment no. 2 dated December 6, 2000 to the Cigna 
Supplemental pension


filed herewith.


10.17 (a) Cigna Supplemental pension plan of 2005 effective as of 
January 1, 2005


filed as exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.


(b) amendment no. 1 to the Cigna Supplemental pension plan of 2005 filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended June 30, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.18 Cigna Supplemental 401(k) plan effective January 1, 2010 filed as exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.19 Description of Cigna Corporation financial Services program filed as exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.20 Schedule regarding amended Deferred Stock unit agreements 
effective December 31, 2008 with Mr. Murabito and form of 
amended Deferred Stock unit agreement


filed as exhibit 10.20 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.21 form of Cigna Long-term incentive plan: nonqualified Stock 
option and grant Letter


filed herewith.


10.22 form of Cigna Long-term incentive plan: restricted Stock grant 
and grant Letter


filed herewith. 


10.23 form of Cigna Long-term incentive plan: restricted Stock unit 
grant and grant Letter


filed as exhibit 10.27 to the registrant’s form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.24 bertram L. Scott’s offer of employment dated May 19, 2010 filed as exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarterly 
period ended March 31, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.25 agreement and release dated april 27, 2011 with Carol ann petren filed as exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K filed on 
May 3, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.26 ralph nicoletti’s offer of employment dated april 27, 2011 filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K filed on 
May 31, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.


10.27 agreement and release executed December 9, 2011 with bertram L. 
Scott


filed as exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s form 8-K filed on 
December 9, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.


12 Computation of ratios of earnings to fixed Charges filed herewith.
21 Subsidiaries of the registrant filed herewith.
23 Consent of independent registered public accounting firm filed herewith.
* Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of any 


omitted schedule upon request.


31.1 Certification of Chief executive officer of Cigna Corporation 
pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
exchange act of 1934


filed herewith.


31.2 Certification of Chief financial officer of Cigna Corporation 
pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
exchange act of 1934


filed herewith.
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32.1 Certification of Chief executive officer of Cigna Corporation 


pursuant to rule 13a-14(b) or rule 15d-14(b) and 18 u.S.C. 
Section 1350


furnished herewith.


32.2 Certification of Chief financial officer of Cigna Corporation 
pursuant to rule 13a-14(b) or rule 15d-14(b) and 18 u.S.C. 
Section 1350


furnished herewith.


* Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of any 
omitted schedule upon request.


The registrant will furnish to the Commission upon request of any other instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt.
Shareholders may obtain copies of exhibits by writing to Cigna Corporation, Shareholder Services Department, 1601 Chestnut Street, philadelphia, pa 19192.
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ExHIBIT 12 Cigna Corporation — Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges


Year ended december 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 1,968 $ 1,870 $ 1,898 $ 382 $ 1,634
adjustments:           


Loss (income) from equity investee  (22)  (21)  (17)  (12)  (5)
(income) attributable to noncontrolling interest  (1)  (4)  (3)  (2)  (3)


income before income taxes, as adjusted $ 1,945 $ 1,845 $ 1,878 $ 368 $ 1,626
fixed charges included in income:           


interest expense $ 202 $ 182 $ 166 $ 146 $ 122
interest portion of rental expense  38  45  47  45  34
interest credited to contractholders  5  5  3  6  7


 $ 245 $ 232 $ 216 $ 197 $ 163
income available for fixed charges $ 2,190 $ 2,077 $ 2,094 $ 565 $ 1,789
ratio oF earningS to Fixed chargeS:           


including interest credited to contractholders  8.9  9.0  9.7  2.9  11.0
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ExHIBIT 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant


Listed below are subsidiaries of Cigna Corporation as of December 31, 2011 with their jurisdictions of organization shown in parentheses. 
Those subsidiaries not listed would not, in the aggregate, constitute a “significant subsidiary” of Cigna Corporation, as that term is defined in 
rule 1-02(w) of regulation S-X.


Cigna holdings, inc. (Delaware)


i. Connecticut general Corporation (Connecticut)
 a. benefits Management Corporation (Montana)
  (1) allegiance Life & health insurance Company, inc. (Montana)
  (2) allegiance re, inc. (Montana)
 b. Cigna arbor Life insurance Company (Connecticut)
 C. Cigna behavioral health, inc. (Minnesota)
  (1) Cigna behavioral health of California, inc. (California)
  (2) Cigna behavioral health of texas, inc. (texas)
  (3) MCC independent practice association of new York, inc. (new York)
 D. Cigna Dental health, inc. (florida)
  (1) Cigna Dental health of California, inc. (California)
  (2) Cigna Dental health of Colorado, inc. (Colorado)
  (3) Cigna Dental health of Delaware, inc. (Delaware)
  (4) Cigna Dental health of florida, inc. (florida)
  (5) Cigna Dental health of illinois, inc. (illinois)
  (6) Cigna Dental health of Kansas, inc. (Kansas)
  (7) Cigna Dental health of Kentucky, inc. (Kentucky)
  (8) Cigna Dental health of Maryland, inc. (Maryland)
  (9) Cigna Dental health of Missouri, inc. (Missouri)
  (10) Cigna Dental health of new Jersey, inc. (new Jersey)
  (11) Cigna Dental health of north Carolina, inc. (north Carolina)
  (12) Cigna Dental health of ohio, inc. (ohio)
  (13) Cigna Dental health of pennsylvania, inc. (pennsylvania)
  (14) Cigna Dental health of texas, inc. (texas)
  (15) Cigna Dental health of Virginia, inc. (Virginia)
  (16) Cigna Dental health plan of arizona, inc. (arizona)
 e. Cigna health Corporation (Delaware)
  (1) healthsource, inc. (new hampshire)
   (a) Cigna healthCare of arizona, inc. (arizona)
   (b) Cigna healthCare of California, inc. (California)
   (c) Cigna healthCare of Colorado, inc. (Colorado)
   (d) Cigna healthCare of Connecticut, inc. (Connecticut)
   (e) Cigna healthCare of florida, inc. (florida)
   (f ) Cigna healthCare of georgia, inc. (georgia)
   (g) Cigna healthCare of illinois, inc. (illinois)
   (h) Cigna healthCare of indiana, inc. (indiana)
   (i) Cigna healthCare of Maine, inc. (Maine)
   (j) Cigna healthCare of Massachusetts, inc. (Massachusetts)
   (k) Cigna healthCare Mid-atlantic, inc. (Maryland)
   (l) Cigna healthCare of new hampshire, inc. (new hampshire)
   (m) Cigna healthCare of new Jersey, inc. (new Jersey)
   (n) Cigna healthCare of new York, inc. (new York)
   (o) Cigna healthCare of north Carolina, inc. (north Carolina)
   (p) Cigna healthCare of pennsylvania, inc. (pennsylvania)
   (q) Cigna healthCare of South Carolina, inc. (South Carolina)
   (r) Cigna healthCare of St. Louis, inc. (Missouri)
   (s) Cigna healthCare of tennessee, inc. (tennessee)
   (t) Cigna healthCare of texas, inc. (texas)
   (u) Cigna healthCare of utah, inc. (utah)
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   (v) Cigna insurance Services Company (South Carolina)
   (w) temple insurance Company Limited (bermuda)
 f. Cigna healthCare holdings, inc. (Colorado)
  (1) Cigna healthCare — pacific (California)
  (2) Cigna healthCare — Centennial State (Colorado)
  (3) great-West healthCare — illinois (illinois)
 g. Cigna health Management, inc. (Delaware)
 h. Cigna Life insurance Company of Canada (Canada)
 i. Cigna Life insurance Company of new York (new York)
 J Connecticut general Life insurance Company (Connecticut)
  (1) Cigna health & Life insurance Company (Connecticut)
  (2) tel Drug of pennsylvania, LLC (pennsylvania)
 K. Life insurance Company of north america (pennsylvania)
  (1) Cigna & CMC Life insurance Company Limited (China)
  (2) Lina Life insurance Company of Korea (Korea)
 L. tel Drug, inc. (South Dakota)
 M. Vielife holdings Limited (united Kingdom)
  (1) Vielife Limited (united Kingdom)
ii. Cigna investment group, inc. (Delaware)
 a. Cigna investments, inc. (Delaware)
  (1) Cigna benefits financing, inc. (Delaware)
iii. Cigna global holdings, inc. (Delaware)
 a. Cigna international Corporation, inc. (Delaware)
 b. Cigna global reinsurance Company, Ltd. (bermuda)
  (1) Cigna holdings overseas, inc. (Delaware)
   (a) Cigna apac holdings Limited (new Zealand)
    (i) Cigna hong Kong holdings Company Limited (hong Kong)
     (a) Cigna Data Services (Shanghai) Company Limited (China)
     (b) Cigna Worldwide general insurance Company Limited (hong Kong)
     (c) Cigna Worldwide Life insurance Company Limited (hong Kong)


(ii) Cigna taiwan Life assurance Company Limited (taiwan)
(b) Cigna europe insurance Company S.a.-n.V. (belgium)
(c) Cigna european Services (uK) Limited (united Kingdom)
(d) Cigna global insurance Company Limited (guernsey, C.i.)
(e) Cigna hayat Sigorta a.S. (turkey)
(f ) Cigna health Solutions india pvt. Ltd. (india)
(g) Cigna international Services australia pty Ltd. (australia)
(h) Cigna Life insurance Company of europe S.a.- n.V. (belgium)
(h) firstassist group holdings Limited (united Kingdom)


(i) firstassist group Limited (united Kingdom)
 (a) firstassist Legal protection Limited (united Kingdom)


(ii) firstassist insurance Services Limited (united Kingdom)
(j) rhp ThailandLimited (Thailand)
(i) Cigna brokerage Services (Thailand) Limited (Thailand)


(ii) Cigna non-Life insurance brokerage (Thailand)
(iii) KDM Thailand Limited (Thailand)


(a) Cigna insurance public Company Limited (Thailand)
(k) Vanbreda international n.V. (belgium)


(i) Vanbreda international SDn.bhD (Malaysia)
(ii) Vanbreda international (Dubai) Limited (united arab emirates)


(2) Cigna Worldwide insurance Company (Delaware)
(a) pt. asuransi Cigna (indonesia)
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